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C\hairiman’s Statement
FTERES

"EcoGreen is the leading fine
chemicals company in the PRC
Further advanced towards

to be one of the most influential global
flavour-and fragrance suppliers

52 E B TRV AL T )
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Review
The Group is pleased to report the financial results for the year ended 31
December 2008.

During the year, the Group has encountered unprecedented challenges after
going through the tightening currency policy under the implementation
of macroeconomic austerity measures by the PRC government to suppress
overheated economic growth in the early 2008 and the disastrous financial
turmoil induced by the U.S. sub-prime mortgage crisis in mid-2008. However,
bolstered by the steady growth in the sales of our mainstream products as
well as the launch of new products, the Group’s overall sales and operating
profits remained a moderate growth for the whole year. During the period,
the Group recorded a turnover of RMB740 million, representing an increase
of 21% compared with that of last year; EBITDA for the corresponding
period was RMB179 million, which slightly increased from RMB158 million
in 2007; profit attributable to shareholders decreased by 12% to RMB114
million. The earnings per share amounted to RMB0.24 in 2008, while it was
RMBO.28 per share in 2007. As a token of our gratitude to the shareholders
for their enduring support, the Board proposed to declare a final dividend
of HK2.9 cents per share for the year.

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
hiakEEE TEEAR A

9.

5] B8
FREIMEE -

ZEE)\FHEREERSITSEMS * BER
MERN—F - HFEYPEBITEE TN
EEBERRMENBMEENESBEE  REF
AR ZEB IR R A AR ER— ISR
CHMEAR  AEETEEERHEMNCERIBIN
KB AEBEFEEMRBSEBERENNE
BHEETENSEEHT @ 2FMNAEHEE REER
FINARERSBMEEEIE R - BIREE T 7.400E
TARBREERE RCZTEFEM21%
FEHRNARFFE - 1\ ERBHENZETF
(EBITDA) B1.79B TARE - R-_TT+FH
1. 58BIL AR EEMIEE ; AR EMS TR
FP12%EANRE1141BT - —ETEN\FEEKE
MAEARE 24T - —E2HFHAAREER
0287t > BTREMEBARRE BEFSEFZTRA
FERREGARAEE2. 90 -



C;hairiman’s Statement
T ERES

Review (continued)

As the Group had anticipated in the Interim Report, the operating
environment would remain challenging in the second half of 2008 and
the downward trend might sustain in the global economy. Furthermore,
the Group was prudent and optimistic towards the result for the second
half of the year. Despite the fact that the lingering adverse effects from
the U.S. sub-prime mortgage crisis were then gradually revealed since the
fourth quarter, the Group was still able to secure steady income with its
brand recognition in the global market. One of the Group’s mainstream
products, Dihydromyrcenol, achieved a 9% global sales growth, reflecting
its product’s strong competitiveness in the global aroma chemicals market.

During the year, the Group’s operation has faced difficult challenges.
The Group used natural resources in China such as botanic essential oils
as its major raw materials. The price of one of the major raw materials,
turpentine, kept surging to a record high in the second half of 2008.
Resources management strategies adopted by the Group in the previous
stage have brought into critical effect during the year, which enabled
the Group to secure a steady raw material supply under the violent
fluctuation of raw materials markets. Yet, the rising costs of raw materials
have inevitably brought greater impact on the profitability of the Group’s
products. In respect of this, under the pressure of high material costs, the
Group then raised the product prices and launched sales portfolios with
higher margins. In order to minimize the adverse effect on the Group’s
profits, it also adopted cost-effective measures to optimize cost control
during the year. As a result, the gross profit margin decreased by just 4.3%
point from 34.2% in 2007 t0 29.9%.

Regarding the expansion of new products and production capacity, the
Group's Phase lll main expansion in Haicang, Xiamen completed during
the year and the trial run commenced in the second half of the year as
scheduled. This plant mainly produces new flavour chemicals and part of
aroma chemicals. The launch of the relevant new products has also become
new revenue source for the Group during the year, in particular the flavour
chemicals which already achieved an annual sales of RMB52.7 million,
while its gross profit margins was 46%. In addition, the factory, which is
located at Haicang Xinglin, Xiamen Province, and produces food additives,
also commenced trial run in the second quarter of 2008. The Xinglin Plant
uses seafood, meat and mushrooms as raw materials to produce unique,
quality natural extracts, which are used in food additives or seasonings for
functional food. Following trial production during the year, it has already
started to contribute to the Group’s sales and gross profit.

Against the backdrop of the economic downturn brought by the financial
turmoil, the global economy was filled with uncertainties. To withstand the
challenges, the Group has implemented a series of effective measures by
adopting a prudent investment strategy, reviewing its original investment
plan during the second half of 2008 and appropriately adjusting the
construction schedule for the plant in Changtai area of Fujian Province.
Apart from the fundamental civil engineering and the industry production
layout in progress, it is expected that the construction of the main project
will commence in stages from the second half of 2009 and will generate
revenue in late 2010. The Group will make further review properly
according to the change of the market and economic environment in
the implementation of such project in the future. Besides, with a view to
increasing the pace of its business growth, the Group has been proactively
and prudently on the lookout for any opportunities to acquire enterprises or
operations which may give synergistic effects.
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Qhairiman’s Statement
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Review (continued)

During the year, the Group accommodated itself well to the changes in
the global and PRC capital markets at the early stage. Thanks to the strong
support of overseas banks, the Group promptly completed the adjustments
in its overall loan structure in the first half of the year, increasing middle to
long term borrowings in foreign currencies, in particular, US dollars, and
reducing the proportion of loans in RMB, so as to better capitalise on the
significant decrease in costs from the difference in interest rates between
foreign currencies and RMB, and at the same time flexibly and effectively
hedge the exposure of the future appreciation of RMB. The gain was
reflected in the results for the first half of the year.

Outlook

The financial turmoil in 2008 has adversely influenced the global economy.
It is expected that global financial and economic environment will remain
uncertain and challenging. Both the confidence of various sectors and
consumers on consumption has been deeply dampened. Although the
PRC government launched a RMB4,000 billion domestic economy stimulus
plan to tackle the rapidly deteriorating global economy, it is estimated
that the effectiveness of such economy stimulus plan takes time to show.
Accordingly, taking the several possible unfavourable conditions into
account, the Group will adopt a more prudent operational strategy for the
upcoming year. Through cost-cutting and revenue generation, the Group
will try its utmost for improving business performance. Meanwhile, by
strengthening interaction with major customers and industry cooperation
for further expanding the market, launching new products for increasing
revenue on a timely basis, continually optimizing production techniques and
innovative technologies for enhancing production capacity and lowering
cost, introducing effective management of raw material resources for stable
supply and cost control, and cautiously maintaining sufficient working
capital to combat with the possible credit risk, the Group would try to turn
the “crisis” into “opportunity” so as to regain impetus for rapid growth
beyond several years from now and prosper further during the crisis.

Looking forward to 2009, supported by the effective measures of the PRC
Government, it is evident that mainland China’s economy is very likely to
recover from the financial turmoil faster than other countries and sustain
higher growth. Given that approximately 68% of the Group’s turnover
was derived from the mainland China market, the Group will be in an
advantageous position which enables it to enjoy benefits from the recovery
of the PRC’s economy.
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Outlook (continued)

Moreover, we award an emergence of unfavourable factors in the first half
of 2008, such as mounting raw material prices, appreciation of RMB and
the tightening of Chinese austerity measures, which has been are now
diminishing as a result of this financial turmoil. Driven by the economy
stimulus plans from all countries, consumers will progressively regain
confidence and stimulate market demand worldwide, especially China
and various developing countries. In addition, since the products of aroma
chemicals and food additives on which the Group is currently concentrating,
are the key components of consumers’ daily necessities, the impact of
the economic cycle is relatively low. Therefore, we are still confident and
optimistic about the development of the flavor and fragrance industry as
well as the Group's other relevant businesses in the foreseeable future.

We are confident of the Group’s existing business development in the
long run. Since the flavor and fragrance and the fine chemical industries
worldwide are still undergoing long-term growth, capitalizing on the
Group’s existing operating foundation, our outstanding reputation and
stable clientele as well as advanced production facilities in the PRC, we
believe that we can capture opportunities in this stormy weather, by
providing value-added products and services to customers, increasing
market share, and proactively seeking opportunities of co-operations and
acquisitions and mergers while speeding up expansion of the principal
business, through which we endeavor to strengthen our capabilities amidst
the challenging operating environment. Building on the unwavering effort
from everyone in the Group, we believe that in future our operations will be
able to triumph over adversity and grow even stronger.

Acknowledgement

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
sincere gratitude to our shareholders, customers, suppliers and staff. Their
continual trust and support to the Group are fundamentally essential to our
success in operation and growth.

At the same time, | would also like to thank all the Directors for their great
support and valuable advices during the period.

Under our continuous effort, | am confident that Ecogreen will sustain even
more robust business growth, and the Group will gradually accomplish as
a main supplier of terpenic aroma chemicals in the world, and one of the
world’s most influential technology suppliers of intermediates, as well as a
food safety service provider who meets international food safety standards,
with a view to maximizing shareholders’ values.

Yang Yirong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 15 April 2009
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ManagmeAnt Discussion and Analysis
B AT

EcoGreen specializes in natural chemical
and natural-identical chemical
production with focus in

providing building blocks

for flavour, fragrance

and pharmaceutical
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Final Dividend RKERE

In 2008, EcoGreen Fine Chemicals Group Limited (“the Company”) F/I4EM(ETEBBR AT (IAXT ) &KEHT
and its subsidiaries (collectively “Ecogreen” or “the Group”) recorded a B AR (HBIHG Ik AER | )R- N\F
stable business performance despite the tough operating environment. EREREBLEERE N @ EENARKRFEE A
In order to reward our shareholders for their continued support, the ZBBETE Y AATES([EE])E
directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have resolved to recommend  [A)ZN A B IR AL E. ©

a distribution of dividend.

The Directors will propose at the annual general meeting to be held on EEE=EBEW -_ZZAFRA - +THAETZERE
25 May 2009 payment of final dividend of HK2.9 cents per share for the MERAFAE  BER _ZZTAFA-1TN
year ended 31 December 2008 to be payable in cash on 29 June 2009 to HRENRZEZAFHEAZTHRHZN AR AR
shareholders whose names are listed on the register of members of the FEMrBREFEE—_EENE+_A=+—
Company on 25 May 2009. Together with the interim dividend of HK1.2 B IFFE RN KBRS 8T 951 o E[F
cent (2007: HK1.0 cents) per share, this will bring the total dividend HHEHRESGR1 2BII(ZFEZ+F : 1.051) -
distribution for the year to HK4.1 cents (2007: HK4.5 cents) per share. REEZREDREBAERANBIN(ZES
5 - 4.58l) -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B B R S AT

Closure of Registers of Members

The transfer books and register of members of the Company will be
closed from Thursday, 21 May 2009 to Monday, 25 May 2009, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In
order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfers documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Tengis Limited, at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:00 p.m. on Wednesday, 20
May 2009.

Business Review

In review of 2008, both the Group’s aroma chemicals business and
flavour chemicals business were able to sustain a stable growth. Turnover
for the year reached RMB740 million, an increase of 21% from the
previous year. Excluding contributions from the supplementary trading
and resource management business, core growth for our three major
products reached 16%. Profit attributable to shareholders decreased
by RMB16.2 million or 12% from the previous year to RMB114 million.
Earnings per share were approximately RMB24 cents.

During the year under review, the Group manufactured over 70 fine
chemical products. The analysis of turnover of the Group’s various
products for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2007
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are as follows: EmEEBATIOT
Turnover
=E 20
2008 2007
—EENE —EELF
RMB’000 % of total RMB'000 % of total
Fx L4858 Tt 1hiB%E
AR =Ryl 4 AR Akt
Aroma chemicals SELER 453,744 61% 372,097 61%
Natural extracts RATEEY) 108,997 15% 108,247 18%
Intermediates A A2 67,952 9% 64,750 10%
Trading and resource management B G RES 109,279 15% 67,065 1%
Turnover EE SRR 739,973 100% 612,159 100%
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B B R S AT

Business Review (continued)

Aroma Chemicals

Aroma Chemicals division continued to be the Group’s core business
during the year under review, and constituted a stable and major
income source for the Group. Despite the global economic crisis, since
aroma chemicals are primarily used as functional ingredients and key
components in many daily consumer goods, with a combined positive
effect of its diversified applications and the development in the emerging
markets, market demand sustained to rise, the aroma chemicals’ business
continued to be the growth driver of the Group's operation.

For the year ended 31 December 2008, with increases in orders placed
by existing customers and the selling prices, turnover of aroma chemicals
significantly surged 22% to RMB454 million (2007: RMB372 million),
accounting for 61% of the Group’s turnover (2007: 61%) and a gross
profit margin of 29.2% (2007: 32.4%). Dihydromyrcenol was the major
contributor which brought a revenue of RMB116 million to the Group.
Its sales increased 9% over last year and accounted for 26% of the total
revenue for this product category.

In addition, the launch of certain new food flavour chemicals in end of
last year and beginning of this year was well responded by the market.
The production has already contributed RMB52.7 million to the Group’s
revenue, with a profit margin amounted to 46%, which is higher than
the profit margin of our existing daily aroma chemicals products and
represents one of our new source in profitability for our future growth.

Natural Extracts

In respect of the Natural Extracts division, apart from existing natural
pharmaceutical raw materials, the Group has been actively engaged in
the development of food additives business for the production of food
ingredients, the fast consuming food, frozen food and pet nutrition food,
which is produced with purification and bio-conversion technologies on
natural products, which mainly include seafood, meat and mushroom
extracts.

During the year under review, the Group’s natural extract business just
maintained steady growth as the new food additives business has still
been advancing towards full scale production capability and this new
business is still at the development stage, whereas the market demand
for existing natural pharmaceutical raw materials tended to be stable.
Turnover of this business category sustained at RMB109 million (2007:
RMB108 million), accounting for 15% (2007:18%) of the Group's sales.
Gross profit margin dropped to 31.9%, compared to 34.5% of last year.
The performance of Natural Cinnamic Aldehyde was relatively more
outstanding under this business category. This product contributed a
revenue of RMB33.36 million to the Group and its sales increased 5%
over the corresponding period last year and accounted for 31% of the
total revenue for this product category.

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
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Business Review (continued)

Intermediates

Besides the chiral pharmaceutical raw materials and pharmaceutical
intermediates, the Group also applying similar advanced technologies of
synthesis production to produce agrochemical intermediates, which is a
kind of eco-pesticide.

During the year under review, due to the restriction of the co-operative
production capacity and the slow-down of the market demand, orders for
the Group’s intermediate products maintained steady. Turnover increased
5% from the corresponding period last year to RMB68.0 million (2007:
RMB64.8 million), accounting for 9% (2007: 10%) of the Group's sales.
Gross profit margin dropped to 68.4% from 70.0% of the corresponding
period last year. The gross profit margin of this product category of the
Group was still higher than its peers in the industry. 3-Phenylpropanal
Aldehyde is the major product of the intermediate business segment.
Sales for this product category accounted for 37% of the overall sales of
this business category and contributed a revenue of RMB25.5 million to
the Group.

Trading and Resource Management

To secure future supply of strategic resources and the integration and
management of industry chain, the Group has repositioned the focus of
such business and strengthened the management of the products and
operation under the relevant strategic resources business during the year.
The products of the strategic resources included the gum rosin, gum
turpentine and other special botanic essential oils and their by-products.
This year, sales of the Group’s trading and resource management business
increased 63% from the corresponding period last year to RMB109
million, accounting for 15% of the Group’s turnover, and contribution
to gross profit was approximately RMB7.1 million. However, the trading
of gum rosin business was affected by the current global economic crisis,
with a setback on the business.
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Financial Review

Turnover

Under the background of constant global financial crisis, the Group
was in a more challenging business environment during the year, yet, it
still recorded a stable growth of 21% in its turnover for the year ended
31 December 2008, which amounted to RMB740 million. The Group's
Phase Il expansion of Haichang Plant was completed and put into
production during the year. Such plant mainly produces new flavour
chemicals and part of aroma chemicals. The launch and release of new
products have driven an increase by approximately 12% in the Group’s
sales income during the year. Moreover, the rise in the prices of the
original products by the Group also contributed to the increase in the
Group’s operating income. Among which, there was an approximately
10% increase in the price of the Group’s mainstream product —
Dihydromyrcenol.

Geographically, domestic sales of the Group’s fine chemical products
surged by 24% as compared to that of 2007 whereas the overseas
sales of the Group’s fine chemical products also increased by 15% as
compared to that of 2007.

Gross Profit

During the year under review, the gross profit of the Group amounted to
RMB221 million, representing a growth of 6%. The gross profit margin of
the Group reduced from 34.2% in 2007 to 29.9% in 2008. The reduction
in the Group’s gross profit margin was mainly attributable to: firstly, the
hiking raw material prices still slightly decrease the Group’s gross profit
margin despite that fact that it has already increased the prices of certain
products so as to pass on the majority of the pressure from rising cost
to its customers; secondly, in order to secure stable raw material supply,
the development of trading with a lower profit margin and the relative
expansion in the scale of resource management business also reduced the
Group's overall gross profit margins.

Analysing by the Group’s products category, the gross profit margin of
aroma chemicals decreased from 32.4% in 2007 to 29.2% in 2008, while
natural extracts decreased from 34.5% in 2007 to 31.9% this year. The
profit margin of intermediates decreased from 69.9% in 2007 to 68.4%
in 2008. The gross profit margin of trading and resource management
decreased from 9.4% in 2007 to 6.5% in 2008.
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Financial Review (continued)

Operating Income and Expense

The increase of RMB3.62 million in selling and marketing expenses was
mainly due to an increase of transportation cost and packaging expenses
resulting from external and internal product sales in the year under
review. Selling and marketing expenses for 2008 represented 3.8% of its
turnover (2007: 4.1%).

The increase of RMB11.3 million in administrative expenses was mainly
due to the RMB2.8 million increase in the amortisation expense for the
product development cost, the respective increase of RMB3.7 million
and RMB3.0 million of provision for intangible assets and provision for
impairment of other receivables over last year and the increase of general
expenses in line with the operating scale. Administrative expenses for
2008 represented 7.0% of its turnover (2007: 6.6%).

Operating profits include other net losses amounting to RMB0.25 million,
representing a substantial decrease when compared to RMB4.16 million
in 2007. This was mainly attributable to the Group capitalized on the
favourable market conditions and closed the position of the interest rates
swaps in advance, and had achieved solid financial gain. The realized gain
amounting to RMB6.96 million was recognized in the year.

Finance Costs — Net

The net finance costs increased by approximately RMB4.71 million as
compared with last year’s. This was mainly attributable to the Group’s
interest expense on its secured 3-years syndicated loan of USD33 million
during the year. Such loan changed the Group’s original borrowing
structure and has significantly increased the proportion on foreign
currency in the aggregate borrowing portfolio. This can better capitalize
of the recent margin in the market. It can also hedge the exposure to
the income of export business arising from the potential appreciation of
RMB. More importantly, such loan partially settled the capital expense
and liquidity requirements for the Group’s expansion in future years,
and thereby efficiently strengthened the Group’s capability of standing
capital and liquidity exposures. Although the interest expense increased
RMB12.46 million, the net exchange gain of RMB8.27 million generated
from such loan has offset part of the interest cost.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense of the Group in 2008 was RMB19.5 million
representing an increase of RMB12.0 million as compared with that of
last year. Under the new “Corporate Income Tax Law of the People’s
Republic of China” which became effective 1 January 2008, dividends
payable by PRC subsidiaries to equity holders outside the PRC are subject
to withholding taxes ranging from 5% to 10%. In the circumstances, the
Group has recognized the withholding taxes on the profits generated
after 1 January 2008 in the deferred tax liabilities. This has increased the
tax expense of the Group, and the effective interest rate applicable to the
Group was 14.6% (2007: 5.4%).
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Financial Review (continued)

Profit for the year

Profit for the year in 2008 was RMB114 million representing a decrease
of 12% as compared with RMB130 million in 2007. The decline in the
Group's profit for the year was mainly attributable to certain impairment
provisions, which include provision for impairment of intangible assets,
provision for impairment of inventories, and provision for impairment
of other receivables amounted to RMB5.4 million, RMB6.7 million and
RMB3.0 million respectively.

EBITDA for the same period was RMB179 million, slightly increased from
158 million in 2007.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

During the year under review, the Group’s primary source of funding
mainly involved the cash generated from operating activities and the
financing by the bank borrowings. For the year ended 31 December
2008, net cash generated from operating activities amounted to
RMB67.41 million (2007: RMB50.12 million). The increase in net cash
inflow from operating activities was mainly due to the increase of trade
receivables is much less than that of 2007. With the financial resources
obtained from the Group’s operations, the Group had utilized RMB87.94
million (2007: RMB148 million) in the capital expenditure, paid dividend
of RMB19.69 million (2007: RMB15.03 million) during the year and
paid RMB7.05 million to repurchase 4.68 million of the Company's
issued shares (approximately to 1% of total issued shares before the
repurchase). During the year under review, the net cash inflow from
financing activities amounted to RMB132 million (2007: RMB58.51
million).

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had cash and bank deposits of
approximately RMB424 million (2007: RMB307 million). As a result of
business expansion in 2008, the Group's inventories and trade receivables
increased by RMB30.65 million and RMB26.35 million to RMB76.14
million and RMB192 million, respectively (2007: RMB45.49 million and
RMB166 million). The average inventory turnover days and average
trade receivable turnover days were 46 days and 89 days respectively,
compared to 39 days and 85 days in 2007. The increase in inventory
average turnover days was due to an increase in the inventory level for
the trading and resource management business in 2008.
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Financial Review (continued)

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure (continued)

The Group's financial position remains very solid and healthy during the
year under review. As at 31 December 2008, the net current assets and
the current ratio of the Group were approximately RMB548 million (2007:
RMB336 million) and 3.4 (2007: 2.5), respectively.

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had bank borrowings of
approximately RMB312 million (2007: RMB123 million), government loans
from State Development and Reform Commission, Xiamen Development
Planning Commission and other Mainland China government bureaus
to finance the Group's product development activities and expansion of
production facilities of approximately RMB33.42 million (2007: RMB33.9
million). As at 31 December 2008, the Group has outstanding short-term
borrowings of RMB121 million (2007: RMB98 million). The reason for the
increase of the short-term borrowings was due to the fund raising for
the working capital and business expansion. As at 31 December 2008,
the Group’s ratio of total borrowings to total equity, was approximately
46% (2007: 24%) and the Group's net cash balance, being cash and
cash equivalents plus pledged bank deposits less borrowings amounted
to RMB78.51 million (2007: RMB151 million).

With the positive cash inflow from the Group’s operations, its
available banking facilities and its existing cash resources, the Group
has very strong liquidity and sufficient financial resources to meet its
commitments, working capital requirements and future investments for
expansion.

Charges on assets

As at 31 December 2008, bank deposit of RMB37.36 million (2007:
RMB32.16 million) and certain property, plant and equipment of the
Group with an aggregate net book value of about RMB70.1 million
(2007: RMB94.54 million) have been pledged to secure the Group’s bank
borrowings. As at 31 December 2008, no land use rights were pledged
(2007: RMB2.4 million).

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2008, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities.

As at 31 December 2008, the Company has corporate guarantee
in respect of banking facilities granted to subsidiaries amounting to
RMB59.89 million (2007: RMB50 million).
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Financial Review (continued)

Capital Commitment

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had capital commitments of
approximately RMB38.27 million (2007: RMB19.55 million) in respect of
purchases of property, plant and equipment, construction-in-progress,
product development projects and land use rights.

Treasury Policies and Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates
The Group’s assets, liabilities, revenues and transactions are mainly
denominated in Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars
with its operation mainly in the PRC. As at 31 December 2008, the
Group’s borrowings of approximately RMB114 million and RMB228
million were denominated in Renminbi and United States dollars,
respectively. The Group’s cash and bank deposits (comprise cash and
cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits) denominated in Renminbi
amounted to RMB377 million of the total balance, with the remaining
balance of approximately RMB46.49 million denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and United States dollars.

The Group’s foremost exposure to the foreign exchange fluctuations
was caused by the revaluation of Renminbi during the year under
review. The Group's export sales are, in majority, denominated in
United States dollars. Nevertheless, the Group has not experienced any
material difficulties or effects on its operations or liquidity as a result of
fluctuations in currency exchange rates during the year. The Group will
conduct periodic review of its exposure to foreign exchange risk and may
use proper financial instrument and financing arrangement for hedging
purpose when considered appropriate.

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had 350 full-time employees of
which 346 were based in the PRC. For the year under review, the total
employment costs incurred for 2008 including directors’ emolument
amounted to RMB26.71 million. The Group has established its human
resources policies and procedures with a view to deploy the incentives
and rewards of the remuneration system. The remuneration package
offered to the staff is appropriate for the duties and in line with the
prevailing market terms. Staff benefits, including medical coverage
and provident funds, are provided to employees. The Group has also
established effective performance evaluation system in which employees
are properly rewarded on a performance-related basis under the Group'’s
salary and bonus system.

The Group has adopted a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to the management, key technician and
other eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations.
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The board of directors of EcoGreen Fine Chemicals Group Ltd. (the
“Company”) (the “Board”) acknowledges the importance of and
benefit from good corporate governance practices and is committed to
improving the corporate governance practices in order to enhance better
transparency and to ensure that business activities and decision making
processes are regulated in a proper manner to safeguard the interests of
shareholders.

The Company has adopted and applied the code provisions (the “Code
Provisions”) set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the "CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 to the then prevailing Rules
(the "Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) throughout the
year ended 31 December 2008. In light of various amendments to the
Listing Rules, particularly Appendix 14 thereto, which became effective
on 1 January 2009, on 31 March 2009, the Company has adopted the
code provisions set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the "New CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
with retrospective effect from 1 January 2009. The Company periodically
reviews its corporate governance practices to ensure its continuous
compliance with the CG Code or, as the case may be, the New CG Code.
In the year under review, the Company has complied with most of the
Code Provisions save for the deviations from the Code Provisions A.2.1.
The following summarises the Company’s corporate governance practices
and explains deviations, if any, from the CG Code.

The Board

Responsibilities

The Board is accountable to the shareholders for leading the Company
in a responsible and effective manner. The Board provides leadership
and formulates strategic policies and plans of the Group with a view to
enhance shareholder interests while the day-to-day operations of the
Company are delegated to the management.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the Company,
including: objectives and overall strategies of the Company; annual
budgets and financial matters; equity related transactions such as issue
of shares/options and repurchase of shares; dividend; raising of capital
loan; determination of major business strategy; merger and acquisition;
major investment; annual financial budget in turnover, profitability and
capital expenditure; review and approval of financial performance and
announcement; and matters as required by laws and ordinance.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as
well as the advice and services of the Company Secretary, with a view to
ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable rules and regulation
are followed.
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The Board (continued)

Responsibilities (continued)

Each Director is normally able to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon making
request to the Board.

The Directors are continually updated with the regulatory requirements,
business activities and development of the Company to facilitate the
discharge of their responsibilities. Through regular Board meetings,
all Directors are kept abreast of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company.

The management has the obligation to supply the Board and the various
Committees with adequate information in a timely manner to enable the
members to make informed decisions. Each Director has separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management to acquire
more information than is volunteered by management and to make
further enquiries if necessary.

The functions delegated to management are periodically reviewed.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant
transactions entered into by the management.

Composition

The Board currently comprises a total of nine members including
five Executive Directors, one Non-executive Director (“the NED") and
three Independent Non-executive Directors (“the INED"). The Board's
composition covers a balance of expertise, skills and industry experience
so as to bring in valuable contributions and advices for the development
of the Group’s business. The NED and INED together have substantial
experience in fields of auditing, legal matters, business, accounting,
corporate internal control and regulatory affairs. Through active
participation in Board meetings, taking the lead in managing issues
involving potential conflict of interests and serving on Board committees,
all NED and INED make various contributions to the effective direction of
the Group.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each INED
of his independence pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all INED to be independent in accordance with
the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
RigREAE TEEER AR

BEExgn)

BEE)

SEE-RACEEBRT  HEESERE
BEXBYEEER  BEEREADLE

ARARERAESRUAMEERERARR
EBEBRBERIEHNER  ABREEITHE
B -BREHSNEEER  SEFURIR
HEARR 2R KA RER ©

EREAREREENRNEFEREEAR
REGERAR - AERBEANFEZHR TFIER
RE - EENASTRBEAAAR 2 EEE
B RREREREDIREUNER  LES
BEMIELE—SEW -

AATRER N EREREET 2B - F
BEEIIENEARSHUABEREGES
Bl -

EZgHRANEKEAR  BREORNTE
FBRTEEN=RBIUFNTES -
EEgZARABREEENE RIORITE
B WAIRARBEXBRREHREEF/MN
ER - BIFRTESNEN  EREFHE ¥
% &5 EEANNEEMEEEEI@AR
LELR ERHEEB2EERTESE  AEY
LREENSZERIEEREELZESEH &
BINTETHAKB ZERREFLTRAE
B o

AATEEESBIIFNTESRIE LWARR
REREBLENFL 2 FERAE - REL
MARRAFAEBY F 55 - ARARR - 28
BIYFRITESFHRBILAL -



Corporate Governance Report

mg ©

=" AN v e el

PRE/AMS

The Board (continued) EEgE)
Board meetings EEggE

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to discuss the overall EEZE@RENTHSERGTANEFEEELR -
strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of the Group. ZE LK RIR - FRAHL B4 EFT D
A total of four board meetings were held during the year. The individual 2% - HEZE—_ZENE+_A=+—8B1FEF -
attendance record of each Director at the meetings of the Board, the XREEREEFeexk HNEZEEeemRLEX

Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee during the year ZE8@ex 7 HELEEWOT ¢
ended 31 December 2008 is set out below:

Attendance/Number of meetings

HE/BITEBRE

Remuneration Audit
Name of Director Note Board Committee = Committee
EERS {h=a EEE® FHEEE EREEY
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HITES
Mr. Yang Yirong (Chairman) BREEE(EE) 4/4  N/ATEAR NATEA
Mr. Gong Xionghui B A a4 NATEAB  NATER
Ms. Lu Jiahua ERELL 4/4  N/A TE A N/A 73 B
Mr. Lin Like U AN A 2/4  NATEA NATEA
Mr. Han Huan Guang Rt (i) 4/4 3/3 N/A & F
NED FHITES
Mr. Feng Tao (Vice Chairman) BELRE(EE) 0/4  N/A @ N/A 73
INED BAFHITES
Mr. Yau Fook Chuen (iv) (v) ERERE (ii) (i) 4/4 3/3 4/4
Mr. Wong Yik Chung, John (v) (vi) BEREE (iif) (iv) 4/4 2/3 3/4
Mr. Zheng Lansun (v) (vi) BR324 (iii) (iv) 0/4 0/3 0/4
Notes: M3 -
[0) Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. (i) FNEESESE -
(ii) Chairman of the Audit Committee. (ii) BIZZEQER °
(iii) Member of the Remuneration Committee. (iii) HFMEEEKE -
(iv) Member of the Audit Committee. (iv) FHEEGKE -

L o2y 4 P

Notices of regular board meetings are served to all Directors at least TFHRTZEZTTERBEARIRRTIR
14 days before the meetings while reasonable notice is generally given D 14BZEXEREE  MEMEFTS SR NRA
for other Board meetings. Agenda and Board papers together with ®AASEKHEAEMN - ARZESANELARAZ
complete and reliable information are sent to all Directors at least 3 days & 37 &) [A] & BF BRI DA K W AR 1% 5 AT 1/ 1 &01%
before each Board meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the latest RTE @ FREACHENMHERTERAISNER
developments and financial position of the Company and to enable them HZERSEETEEHBTIHIIBEIEE
to make informed decision. Minutes of all Board meetings and committee E = - ARMEAERGFMEEZTSTHLE
meetings are kept by the Company Secretary. Draft minutes are normally S &@#z@#HLi - @R LBVB—RRNE
circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each EEAERBHNEAERHAR TESEHN @ #FE
meeting and the final version is open for Directors’ inspection. EREER 2R RRETRIHESS

Eﬁ o
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The Board (continued)

Board meetings (continued)

According to current Board practice, any material transaction which
involves a conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder or a Director,
will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened board
meeting. The Company’s Articles of Association also contain provisions
requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the
guorum at meetings for approving transactions in which such Directors or
any of their associates have a material interest.

Appointment, rotation and re-election of Directors

The Board as a whole is responsible for reviewing the Board composition,
developing and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of Directors, monitoring the appointment and succession
planning of Directors and assessing the independence of INED. The Board
reviewed its own structure, size and composition regularly to ensure that
it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate to the
requirements of the business of the Company. There were no meeting
held for the nomination of Directors during the year.

In accordance with the CG Code and the Company’s Articles of
Association, all Directors are subject to retirement by rotation once every
three years and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Term of appointment of NED and INED

All NED and INED were appointed for an initial term of not more than
one year and will be renewable automatically for successive term of
one year until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party or the other. All NED and INED are subject
to retirement by rotation once every three years and are subject to
re-election.

Indemnification

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
legal actions against its Directors and officers. The Board reviews the
extent of this insurance annually.
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Segregation of Rules of Chairman and Chief Executive

Officer ("CEO")

The Company has not yet adopted A.2.1. Under the code provision A.2.1
of the CG Code, the roles of Chairman and CEO should be separate
and would not be performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the Chairman and CEO should be clearly
established and set out in writing.

The Company does not presently have any officer with the title CEO.
At present, Mr. Yang Yirong, being the Chairman and the President of
the Company, is responsible for the strategic planning, formulation of
overall corporate development policy and running the business of the
Group as well as the duties of Chairman. The Board considers that, due
to the nature and extent of the Group’s operations, Mr. Yang is the most
appropriate chief executive because he possesses in-depth knowledge
and experience in fine chemicals business and is able to ensure the
sustainable development of the Group. Besides, he is the founder,
the chairman and the controlling shareholder of the Group since its
establishment and till now. Notwithstanding the above, the Board will
review the current structure from time to time. When at the appropriate
time and if candidate with suitable leadership, knowledge, skills and
experience can be identified within or outside the Group, the Company
may make the necessary amendments.

Board Committees

The Board has established two committees, namely the Remuneration
Committee and the Audit Committee, for overseeing particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with defined written terms of reference which deal clearly
with their authority and duties.

The chairmen of the committees will report the findings and
recommendations of the committees to the Board after each meeting.
The minutes of all meetings of the committees are circulated to the Board
for information.
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Board Committees (continued)

Remuneration Committee

Mr. Han Huan Guang is the chairman while all the three INED, namely,
Mr. Yau Fook Chuen, Mr. Wong Yik Chung, John and Dr. Zheng Lansun
are the members of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include
establishing a formal and transparent procedures for developing policy
on the remuneration of the Executive Directors and senior management,
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for the remuneration of Directors and senior management,
ensuring the remuneration packages are sufficient to attract and retain
the Directors to run the Company successfully, to avoid over-paying and
ensure no Director or any of his associates will participate in deciding his
own remuneration.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee met three to
review and consider the remuneration policy and packages, including any
discretionary management bonus of the Executive Directors and senior
management by reference to market conditions, performance of the
Group and the individual and corporate goals.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises the three INED, namely, Mr. Yau Fook
Chuen, Mr. Wong Yik Chung, John and Dr. Zheng Lansun. Mr. Yau
is the chairman of the Audit Committee and he possesses recongised
professional qualifications in accounting required by the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(a) To review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the qualified accountant or
external auditor before submission to the Board;

(b) To review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process by reference
to the work performed by the external auditor, their fees and
terms of engagement, and make recommendation to the Board on
the appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditor;
and

(c) To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures.
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RigREAE TEEER AR

EEZEgH)

FHESS

BEKEEATWEBREE  M=RBIIFE
HITEERER AL  BEALERSWLE
I AEMESERE -

FMZESTERERENELANAEAE
ZEF BRHTEFERRAEEBZMEHE
BE  ARRHRTEERERAEEEM
ZBEREENEETSRHAEEER  BRH
THARNESIRBRESTKINELEARAQF
BRI TIBZNRARIERL EE F L EAM
HERALT2EREEARS SR -

REEFE HFHEZEELRTER=-R &
2EZmMNR  AKRERBEARRAREEB R
% BMAMEERATEZTRSMAEREZH
BENESR  BREEMRIFERIEA -

FUEER
FREARB=EBLANTEEMN - 5
RER2AL  ERLELRBWEML
GERBREERER  AHELTRARE
REBE R AN -

BERZESTIRBERENATEA

(@ REFTSEIMBHERLBEHN - FH
MBEBEREBEAREEBEMHAER
SR INEZBENR M EA LT T
FIEA

(b) K2ENEZBEM2TE ZBRERR
g - e REREINEZBEEZES
BURBLEZEREFEEEM - Xatsh
BRBMZE BERBRLAEEE
REEBER &

(@ A AR BRI AL - MEREEIE R
Rk BRI EEERREF TS BB NLE
XL o



C0£orate Governance Report

Parasiy

/D#&D

Board Committees (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held four meetings
with the senior management and the Company’s external auditor to
review the interim and annual financial statements, financial controls,
internal controls and risk management systems and the re-appointment
of the external auditor. The Audit Committee has also reviewed the
Group's accounting principles and practices, listing rules and statutory
compliance and financial reporting matters.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the Directors’
securities transactions on terms not less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules. In light of various amendments to the Listing
Rules, particularly the Model Code, which became effective on 1 January
2009, on 31 March 2009, the Company adopted a revised code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standards under the revised Model Code
with retrospective effect from 1 January 2009. Specific enquiry has been
made to all Directors and all the Directors have confirmed that they have
complied with all the relevant requirements as set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2008.

Responsibilities in Respect of the Financial Statements
The management provides such explanation and information to the
Board to facilitate an informed assessment of the financial and other
information put before the Board for approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements which give a true and fair view and the Board is responsible
for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable assessment of
annual and interim reports, price-sensitive announcements and other
financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements. Meanwhile, the Directors are responsible for ensuring that
appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently;
and that judgments and estimates made are prudent and reasonable.
The Board was not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. The Board has prepared the financial
statements on a going concern basis.
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Internal Controls

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining a sound and
effective internal control system of the Group. The system includes a
defined management structure with limits of authority, safeguards its
assets against unauthorized use or disposition, ensures the maintenance
of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication, and ensures compliance
with relevant laws and regulations. The system is designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement
or loss, and to manage the risks of failure in the Group’s operational
systems and in the achievement of the Group’s objectives.

The Board periodically conducts review of the effectiveness of the system
of internal controls. The tasks include:

(i) access and review selected aspects of the Group’s activities and
internal controls;

(i) conduct regular comprehensive reviews of the practices,
procedures and internal controls of selected business and
supporting units and subsidiaries;

(iii) examine and investigate business ethics, conflicts of interest and
other company policy violations; and

(iv) report results of review to the senior management and make
recommendation where appropriate.

The Directors, through the Audit Committee, have conducted an annual
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control of the
Company and its subsidiaries. The review covers all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions.

External Auditor

During the year, PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external auditor of the
Company received approximately RMB1.5 million for audit services
provided to the Group. The external auditor did not provide any non-
audit service to the Group during the year under review.
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Communication with Shareholders and Investor
Relations

Details of the rights of shareholders and the procedures for conducting
a poll on resolutions at shareholders’ meetings will be explained during
the proceedings of meetings. The chairman of a meeting will answer any
questions from shareholders regarding voting by way of a poll.

The Company continues to enhance communications and relationships
with its investors. The annual general meeting enables the Company’s
shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The chairman of
the Board and the chairman of Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee have attended at the annual general meeting to be available
to answer the questions of the shareholders of the Company. Regular
meetings are also held with media, institutional investors and research
analysts to provide them the Group’s latest business development and
non-price sensitive information.

To promote effective communication, extensive information about the
Company business is provided in its interim and annual reports, which
are sent to shareholders, analysts and interested parties. The Company
also maintains a corporate website on which comprehensive information,
updates on the Company’s business developments and operations,
financial information, corporate governance practices and other
information of the Group are provided.

ERRZEBERREEBRR

RN RN R AGIRFRETRIRET
ARREFZERFBEHRERBIETRE -
REXFEOLHEOERREBARRTARR
AR RER

ARPEBREREAREEZBBRER - I
REFAGRBARARRITAETERINE
RZie BEZeXTRLEVZBESRFMNE
BeXROALERRAFAE  NEEAR
AR AIEM - AARTHEEH BERES
ERRELITEEMETEH  ARFRHEAR
B EHERLIFREHERER -

RETARER - ARARABR - DWERE
MALTRHAAKEXHFAENZHHE
ERFEH  WRBELAEY - BHEEEM
ARREBERREENEHSHR - BBE
F EEERERIASEEMER

ANNUAL REPORT 2008
ZET\FFE




Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. YANG Yirong (Chairman and President)

Mr. Yang, aged 47, is the founder of the Group. He is responsible for
strategic planning and formulation of overall corporate development
policy for the Group. Mr. Yang holds a Bachelor degree in science,
majoring in chemistry from Huagiao University in 1982. Prior to founding
the Group in 1994, Mr. Yang has extensive experience in the fine
chemical manufacturing and trading and has more than ten years of
experience in natural organic chemistry research.

Mr. GONG Xionghui (Senior Vice President — Engineering Project
Management)

Mr. Gong, aged 45, is responsible for project construction and strategic
investment development. Mr. Gong holds a Master degree in chemical
engineering from Xiamen University and has accumulated over 20 years
of experience in fine chemicals industry and qualified as an ISO 9000
auditor in the PRC in 1998. He joined the Group in September 1999.

Ms. LU Jiahua (Senior Vice President — Group Financial Control)

Ms. Lu, aged 42, oversees the finance and accounting and human
resources functions for the Group in the PRC. She has over 19 years
of experience in accounting, financial management, administration
management and internal auditing in a number of pharmaceutical and
fine chemical manufacturing enterprises. Ms. Lu holds a Bachelor degree
and a Master degree in economics and corporate management from
Xiamen University. She joined the Group in April 2002.

Mr. LIN Like (Senior Vice President — Group Operation and Technology)

Mr. Lin, aged 46, is responsible for the management of the Group’s
operation in aroma and natural products and research and development
functions for the Group. Mr. Lin oversees the research and development
department and other operational departments including the production
department and quality management department of the Group. Mr. Lin
graduated from the Chemistry Department of Huagiao University with a
Bachelor degree in science and graduated from the Guangzhou Institute
of Chemistry, Academic Sinica with a Master degree in science. Mr. Lin
has been engaged in the research and development of fine chemicals for
many years with extensive experience in the natural products industry in
China. He joined the Group in August 2004.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Directors (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. HAN Huan Guang (Chairman of Remuneration Committee) (Senior
Vice President — Group Strategic Investments and Capital Markets)

Mr. Han, aged 46, graduated from Zhongshan University (/7 1A 22)
with a Bachelor degree in biochemistry in 1982 and obtained his Master
degree in Business Administration from University of Technology, Sydney,
Australia in 1993. He has over 20 years' experience in corporate finance,
merger and acquisition, infrastructure and new technology developments,
management of listed and non-listed companies in the PRC and overseas.
Over the years, he has been a Director, and then Managing Director in
China Everbright Medicine Co. Ltd. (a subsidiary of China Everbright
Holdings Group), Livzon Pharmaceutical Group Inc. and in other
senior management positions in Hong Kong, Singapore and Mainland
companies. He has been appointed as a Councilor of the China Society
of Biotechnology, and also member of some professional associations in
the region. He joined the Group in September 2005 as a non-executive
director, and became an executive director from May 2006, responsible
for Group strategic investments and investor relations.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. FENG Tao (Vice Chairman)

Mr. Feng, aged 41, is the Chief Executive Officer of NewMargin Ventures
Capital Co. Ltd., which is a leading venture capital management company
in China. Commencing from 1999, Mr. Feng has been serving as the vice
president officer (813 1F) of The Foundation of Science & Technology
for Development of the State Planning Committee, State Economic &
Trade Commission of the PRC (FEZEARKMBEERLEEEHEZED)
and Chinese Academy of Sciences. As one of pioneers of venture-capital
of China, Mr. Feng possesses extensive experience and knowledge of
both domestic and overseas markets. Mr. Feng was awarded the title
of “Top 10 most influential venture capitalists in China” in the “Asia-
Pacific Venture Capitalist Summit and Most Influential Venture Capitalists
in China Award Ceremony” in April 2005. He obtained a Master degree
in science from the Department of Statistics and Applied Probability of
University of Alberta in June 1992. He joined the Group in September
2005.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Directors (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. YAU Fook Chuen (Chairman of Audit Committee, Member of
Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Yau, aged 51, is a practising accountant and has over 18 years
of experience in public accountancy practice which covers company
secretarial service, accountancy, auditing and taxation. He is a member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Yau is currently the
proprietor of Yau & Wong, Certified Public Accountants in Hong Kong.
He was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director in February
2004.

Mr. WONG Yik Chung, John (Member of Audit Committee, Member of
Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Wong, aged 42, among being the Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, was also served as an Independent Non-
executive Director of Golden Resources Development International
Limited, CDW Holdings Limited and General Steel Holdings Inc,
companies listed in Hong Kong, Singapore and the United States
respectively. He is a professional accountant by training with more than
17 years of experience in auditing and corporate finance work, with
extensive exposure to the business enterprise in the PRC. Mr. Wong
is currently the director to TMF China, a firm provides a variety of
professional outsourcing solutions to an international client base investing
in PRC. Mr. Wong graduated from the University of Melbourne. He is a
fellow member of the Australian Society of Certified Public Accountants
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He also
obtained a PRC Certificate of Independent Directorship in 2002. He was
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director in February 2004.

Dr. ZHENG Lansun (Member of Audit Committee, Member of
Remuneration Committee)

Dr. Zheng, aged 54, is a member of the National Committee of the 10th
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (B A RBURHEE
HETEE2HEZEZES), representing the technology sector. He is also a
qualified academician (Bt 1) of the Chinese Academy of Sciences (F
FIE2BT). Dr. Zheng received a Doctoral degree in philosophy from Rice
University in the United States of America and has engaged in chemistry
related research activities at Xiamen University. He was appointed as an

Independent Non-executive Director in February 2004,
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Senior Management

Mr. XIE Rong Guo. (Vice President — Strategic Resources Management)
Mr. Xie, aged 46, Head of Strategic Resources Management Center.
Since he joined Ecogreen, Mr. Xie has been the management positions in
purchase department, logistic department and commercial department
and the general manager of strategic resources management. He has
excellent professional knowledge and rich experience in supply chain
management and strategic resources management.

Mr. LIN Zhigang (Vice President — Food Additives Business)

Mr. Lin, aged 38, Head of Food Additives Business. He holds a Bachelor
degree of economics obtained from Xiamen University. Prior to joining
the Group in June 1996, he worked in a foreign investment enterprise
and has concrete experience in sales and marketing management,
business development and production management.

Mr. Y1 Zhi Xiong (Vice President — Corporate Administration)

Mr. Yi, aged 47, Head of Corporate Administration. Mr. Yi majored in
fine chemicals in Tianjin University with a Bachelor degree of engineering.
He has been the head of management in a large manufacturing company
before he joined Ecogreen in September 1998.

Mr. WONG Cang Yan (Head of President Office)

MR. Wong, aged 51, Head of President Office. Mr. Wong received
Bachelor degree of management science from National Chiao Tung
University. Before joining Ecogreen in July 2007, Mr. Wong has 27 years
work experience in enterprise management. During 2003 to 2005, he
was the management consultant of Ecogreen, helping the Group to build
the daily management system.

Mr. YAN Da Yi David (General Manager — Marketing and Sales of Aroma
Chemicals)

Mr. Yan, aged 48, General Manager of the Marketing and Sales of
Aroma Chemicals, Mr. Yan holds a Bachelor degree of Engineering. Mr.
Yan has 26 years work experience in Canada, Hong Kong and China.
Before joining the Group in May 2004, he worked for eight years in a
well-known software company in Hong Kong, for positions in marketing,
sales, servicing and administrative departments.
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Senior Management (continued)

Mr. XIAO Li Yuan (Aroma Chemicals Operations Manager)

Mr. Xiao, aged 45, Director of Aroma Chemicals Operations. Before
joining the Group in February 2001, he was the deputy manager in a
large chemical enterprise. Mr. Xiao has more than 27 years experience of
production management.

Ms. CHEN Ying Hong (Human Resources Manager)

Ms. Chen, aged 33, Human Resources Manager. She graduated from
Normal University, and holds the certificate of manpower resource
management (second class), and certificate of national enterprise training
(second class). Before joining the Group in July 2006, she worked in a
Japanese corporation and occupied the management position, She has
very rich manpower management experience.

Mr. TU Hong Bin (Aroma Chemicals R&D Manager)

Mr. Tu, aged 41, Aroma Chemicals R&D Manager, who received a
Ph.D degree in 1995 from Beijing Institute of Technology. After the
postdoctoral research experience with Professor Alan.R.Katritzky at
University of Florida of USA (2001-2004), he joined Ecogreen in May
2005. He has more than 14 years experience in organic synthesis
and methodology including 3 years preparation and production of
Heterocyclic compounds.

Mr. LEE Ke (Deputy Manager of Shanghai Fine Chemical)

Mr. Lee, aged 34. Deputy Manager of Shanghai Fine Chemical Co.,
Ltd. Mr. Lee received a Master degree of MBA in Britain together a
Master of science. Before joining the Group in May 2005, Mr. Lee
occupied management position in American and French companies.
He has excellent professional knowledge and rich experience in sales &
marketing, also in project management.

Mr. LAM Kwok Kin (Financial Controller and Company Secretary)

Mr. Lam, aged 35, is the financial controller and company secretary of
the Company. He holds a Bachelor degree in accountancy and is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining the
Group in October 2003, he worked with an international accounting firm
for seven years and was the financial controller and company secretary
of a company listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lam has extensive
experience in auditing, accounting, budgeting and company secretarial
works.
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Directors’ Report
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The directors (“the Directors”) of EcoGreen Fine Chemicals Group Limited
(“the Company"”) are pleased to present their annual report together with
the audited financial statements of the Company and of its subsidiaries
(collectively “the Group™) for the year ended 31 December 2008.

Principal activities and geographical analysis of
operations

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
of the Group are the research and development, production and sale of
fine chemicals products from natural resources for use in aroma chemicals
and pharmaceutical products and trading of fine chemicals products and
natural materials.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year by business and
geographical segments is set out in Note 5 to the financial statements.

Subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2008 are set
out in Note 9 to the financial statements.

Results and dividends
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2008 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 48.

An interim dividend of HK1.2 cents per share, amounting to a total of
about HK$5,608,000 (equivalent of approximately RMB4,930,000), was
paid to shareholders of the Company (“the Shareholders”) on 31 October
2008.

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK2.9 cents
per share to the Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members on 25 May 2009. Together with the interim dividend, this will
bring the total dividend distribution for the year to HK4.1 cents (2007:
HK4.5 cents) per share, resulting in an aggregate dividend of about
HK$19.10 million (equivalent of approximately RMB16.82 million) for the
year ended 31 December 2008.

Reserves

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 49. Details of
movements in other reserves of the Group and of the Company during
the year are set out in Note 17 to the financial statements.
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Property, plant and equipment
Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year are set out in Note 7 to the financial statements.

Share capital
Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in Note 16 to the financial statements.

Distributable reserves

Distributable reserves including retained earnings of the Company
at 31 December 2008 amounted to RMB322,447,000 (2007:
RMB321,547,000).

Purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed
securities

During the year, the Company made the following purchases of its
own shares on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“The Stock
Exchange”):

Y% - BBERRE
AEEYE  BENEERFRAZESHFER
REATE IR EET ©

[N
KRARBARERN 2 &
5F16 °

EREE N E)

At D IR S
ARARRZEZENF+_A=1+—"HBERZE
Bz ] ok E 5322,447,000 T A R E
TETT A 1 321,547,000 A RE) o

BE HEFWEEAQFA LHRESE

RAFE  RARREBBHAERSMERAT
(TBE AT BREARS 2T

Number of Purchase consideration Aggregate

shares per share consideration

purchased BRERKE paid

e Highest Lowest XA

Month of purchase in 2008 RZZBENFBERGZAH B8 E EaE BIKE REZEE
HK$ HK$ HK$

BT BT BT

February —A 2,000,000 2.48 2.25 4,650,400
March =A 278,000 243 2.30 645,120
July +A 268,000 2.50 2.33 653,160
August N\A 20,000 2.22 2.21 44,300
October A 2,114,000 1.09 0.71 1,736,700
Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries B IA_EPTHREEE 51 - R0 B S E AR (AT B 2 &)

has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the
year.

Pre-emptive rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association and there was no restriction against such rights under the
laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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Financial summary
A summary of the results and of the financial positions of the Group for
the past five financial years is set out on page 132.

Directors
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Yirong (Chairman & President)
Mr. Gong Xionghui

Ms. Lu Jiahua

Mr. Lin Like

Mr. Han Huan Guang

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Feng Tao

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yau Fook Chuen

Mr. Wong Yik Chung, John

Dr. Zheng Lansun

In accordance with article 108(A) of the Company’s articles of association,
Mr. Feng Tao, Mr. Han Huan Guang and Mr. Zheng Lansun, will retire
from office by rotation and, being eligible, offers themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

The non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
were appointed for an initial term of not more than one year and will be
renewable automatically for successive term of one year until terminated
by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on
the other.

Directors’ interests in contracts
Details of the related party transactions are set out in Note 35 to the
financial statements.

Save for the above, no contracts of significance in relation to the Group's
business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party,
and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at year-end or at any time during the year.
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Biographical details of Directors and senior
management

Biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out on
pages 26 to 30.

Directors’ Emoluments

Details of Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to Section 161 of the
Companies Ordinance and Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules are set out in
Note 25(b) to the financial statements.

Arrangements to purchase shares or debentures

At no time during the year was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries,
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors or chief executives
of the Company or their spouses or children under 18 years of age to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate with the exception of
the Company’s share option scheme, details of which are set out in the
following section under the heading “Share options”.
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Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and/or short
positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures
At 31 December 2008, the interests and short positions of the Directors,
chief executives and their associates in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")),
which were recorded in the register maintained by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO; or which were notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies
contained in the Listing Rules, were as follows:

(a) Long positions in ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the
Company

EERTHRAZRERS - HBRORE
HeRER/BHKE
RZZEZENF+_A=+—H EF  1THAE
HEMEZBEATRAR T R EAREAE(E
ERFESHLBEGO(FHRBAEERD ) EXV
R - RGO ESPEE - WERRNA
RNAERIEE S R EGOIEI2EFE 2 &5
it R BEBSF REAEERAIEXVHETRSDE
EME AR R MR (BIEREES R EE
BIB RGN - BEWEIFSRIEMEE 2 sk
REVHIBE LR LM AR EBETEER
SHVZESFRIE MG RN T R AT &
KRBT

(a) RERTEREEHI0EBTEHERZHF
-}

Number of shares held

IESTiE
% of the
issued
share capital
of the
Company
Personal Family Corporate Other EARAF
Name of Director interests interests interests interests Total BRTR
EEpE AR RiGER NGIL £ HitfEz st KEDE
Mr. Yang Yirong - - 195,389,158 - 195,389,158 42.00%
BRELE (Note a)
(Hiet a)
Mr. Gong Xionghui - - 11,368,421 - 11,368,421 2.44%
B EY (Note b)
(st b)
Ms. Lu Jiahua - - 8,526,316 - 8,526,316 1.83%
EXELLT (Note ¢)
(Hiet c)
Notes: B &E -
(a) These shares were beneficially owned by Marietta Limited, a private company  (a) ZERMUGRREEEGZERBZLART
beneficially wholly-owned by Mr. Yang Yirong. Marietta Limited Z 25 A °
(b) These shares were beneficially owned by Dragon Kingdom Investment Limited, a  (b) ZERODUNEBEBLEEAESEEREBZRAARR

private company beneficially wholly-owned by Mr. Gong Xionghui.

(c) These shares were beneficially owned by Sunwill Investments Limited, a private
company beneficially wholly-owned by Ms. Lu Jiahua.

Dragon Kingdom Investment Limited E#5# 5 ©

ZEBRMNERELLTER2ERBZAARA

Sunwill Investments Limited E25 %4 ©

(c
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Directors’ and chief executives’ interests or short

positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures %2 EXZH XA (&)

(continued)

(b) Interest in share options of the Company (b) MRAEQTBREZER
Share options, being unlisted physically settled equity derivatives, EFE  THEH  EEMBEDE#E
to subscribe for the ordinary shares of the Company were granted ZARNGIEEERE S TF2E AL
to Directors, chief executives, employees and certain participants HYBEBRIELTEMTWBEATETE
pursuant to the approved Company’s share option scheme. LREBARNR T B BRE - BEE
Information in relation to these share options during the year —EENF+_A=+—HILEFEN
ended 31 December 2008 are set out in the following section ZERBIREZEFS SN T B
under the heading “Share options”. (I

(c) Interestin registered share capital of a Company’s subsidiary (¢) RAAT—KBLATSEMBRAZER
Other than the interest disclosed above, a Director also hold M EXIRBE 2SI EEINA TS
nominee shares in certain subsidiaries held in trust for the Group ANEBEAERZEEETHBARIZRE A
solely for the purpose of ensuring that the relevant subsidiary has Bip  BREREBENBARHEERR
more than one member. —HMRE °
Other than as disclosed above, neither the Directors nor any chief B EXIEEEN  RZZBEENF+ A
executives, nor any of their associates, had any interests or short =+—H  BiEEFLA(ITRAEE
positions in the shares, underlying shares, or debentures of the e R E:E =3 NG il AV /NI 1= 2
Company or its associated corporation as at 31 December 2008. EEZ D - BEARGDSESS  #A

EAERIRE °
Share options BRE

The following is a summary of the Company’s share option scheme
("the Scheme”), which was approved and adopted pursuant to a written
resolution of the shareholders of the Company passed on 16 February
2004, disclosed in accordance with the Listing Rules:

UTARE ETRAEEADARTN -2E

maE = ﬁ‘f’/\ELﬂ

TR 5 ZR L/ MR 2

ARBEIAERTEI([FHE]) 2B

1. Purpose of the Scheme 1. FEZAEN
The Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options to selected SFEZERNREAEEA MIEELRHEE
participants as incentives or rewards for their contributions to the WHERRE  EARSHAEEMER
Group. [k 2 BEED SR Bl ¥ ©

2. Participants of the Scheme 2. e EE

All directors, employees, suppliers of goods or services, customers,
persons or entities that provide research, development or other
technological support to the Group, shareholders and advisers or
consultants of the Group are eligible to participate in the Scheme.
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Share options (continued)

3.

Total number of shares available for issue under the Scheme
The total number of shares of the Company (“the Shares”) which
may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Scheme and any other share option scheme
adopted by the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the Shares in issue on 21 July 2004, the date of approval of the
refreshment of the General Scheme Limit (as defined below) by
the shareholders of the Company (“the Shareholders”).

The Company may renew the 10% limit with Shareholders’
approval provided that each such renewal may not exceed 10%
of the Shares in issue as at the date of the Shareholder’s approval
("the General Scheme Limit"”).

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme adopted by the Company must not in aggregate exceed
30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

As at 15 April 2009, being the latest practicable date prior to
the issue of the annual report, options to subscribe for a total of
31,010,000 Shares were still outstanding under the Scheme which
represents approximately 6.7% of the Shares in issue.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total
number of shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of the
options granted to each participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) under the Scheme or any other share option
scheme adopted by the Company in any 12-month period must
not exceed 1% of the issued share capital.

The period within which the shares must be taken up under
an option

An option must be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme at any time during a period to be determined and notified
by the Directors to each grantee, which period may commence
from the date of the offer for the grant of option is made, but
shall end in any event not later than 10 years from the date on
which the offer for the grant of the option is made, subject to the
provisions for early termination thereof.

BREE)
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Share options (continued)
6.

The minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in the
offer for the grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum
period required under the Scheme for the holding of an option
before it can be exercised.

The period within which payments or calls must or may be
made or loans for such purposes must be repaid and the
amount payable on application or acceptance of the option
An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from
the date of the offer for the grant of the option and the amount
payable on acceptance of the grant of an option is HK$1.

The basis of determining the exercise price
The exercise price is determined by the Directors and being not
less than the highest of:

a. the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange for trade in
one or more board lots of the Company’s shares on the
date of the offer for the grant;

b. the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of the
offer for the grant; and

C. the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

The remaining life of the Scheme

The Scheme will end on 15 February 2014, after which no option
can be granted under the Scheme. However, options that remain
outstanding as at 15 February 2014 can be exercised until their
respective expiry dates.

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
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Share options (continued) BREZ)
The following table discloses details of share options outstanding as at 31 T&X&HMN —_ZEENF+ A =+—BRET
December 2008 under the Scheme and the movements during the year. B RTE Y EREEERENERN S EH) o

Balance Balance
asat asat
1 January 31 December
2008 Granted Exercised Cancelled 2008
Granted  Exercise Exercisable W-ZENE during during duing  R=BENE
date price period -B-B the year the year theyear +ZA=1-H
Type of Grantee ARAER REAE  AHE 18 &k FRRH ERfTE Fha# &8
HKS ('000) (1000) (000) (1000) (1000)
Category 1-Directors ~ SEl1-E2
Mr. Yang Yirong BREEE 2552006 139 2552006-2452011 400 - - - 400
Mr. Gong Xionghui BifELE 8.6.2004 137 8.6.2004-7.6.2014 3,100 - - - 3,100
Ms. Lu Jiahua EFERT 8.6.2004 137 8.6.2004-7.6.2014 2,600 - - - 2,600
Mr. Lin Like WhRkE 25.5.2006 1.39 25.5.2006 - 24.5.2011 2,400 - - - 2,400
Mr. Han Huan Guang BEAEE 25.5.2006 1.39 25.5.2006 - 24.5.2011 2,400 - - - 2,400
Mr. Fung Tao BELE 25.5.2006 1.39 25.5.2006 - 24.5.2011 2,400 - - - 2,400
Mr. Yau Fook Chuen EEREE 8.6.2004 137 8.6.2004-7.6.2014 200 - - - 200
25.5.2006 1.39 25.5.2006 - 24.5.2011 400 - - - 400
Mr. Wong Yik Chung, John  EZ& %4 8.6.2004 137 8.6.2004-7.6.2014 200 - - - 200
25.5.2006 1.39 25.5.2006 - 24.5.2011 400 - - - 400
Dr. Zheng Lansun L Py 8.6.2004 137 8.6.2004-7.6.2014 400 - - - 400
25.5.2006 1.39 25.5.2006 - 24.5.2011 400 - - - 400
Sub-total et 15,300 - - - 15,300
Category 2- Employees  $ERl2- 5 8.6.2004 137 8.6.2004-7.6.2014 8,270 - - - 8270
under EESH
continuous €8 25.5.2006 1.39 25.5.2006 - 24.5.2011 5,440 - - (1,200) 4,240
employment
contract
Sub-total et 13710 - - (1,200) 12510
Category 3 - Other EA3-Hft 2552006 139 255.2006-24.5.2011 3,200 - - - 3,200
participants  $EAL
Sub-total et 3,200 - - - 3,200
Total it 32,210 - - (1,200) 31,010
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Interest and/or short positions of shareholders BEISZRBERHBETFRE 2 RRRE
discloseable under SFO ﬁ’:‘i&/ﬁiiﬁ’é
As at 31 December 2008, the interests and short positions of the persons, —EEN\F+_A=1T—"H BESFEKAEAR

other than the Directors and chief executives of the Company, in the Tﬁﬂ(ﬁ'ﬁ'%ﬁu\ﬁ\\z}\iﬁ"zﬁﬁ THXT KA AR
shares and underlying shares of the Company, which were notified to /- EBIREBE S RBEENE ViB%Z&EB
the Company pursuant to Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO; or HSEEHEARNT : AAAFREELELEE
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company  {&fflZ 33615 EFE 2 B MATacst 2 iEzs 2
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, were as follows: KB

Long positions in ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company AR ATESREE0.10ETLEER ZIFA

Number of shares held

Frism e
Interest of % of the
corporation issued
controlled by share capital
the substantial of the
shareholder Company
Beneficial Investment RBR Other EARD T
Name owner Manager  FriZHIREE interests Total 2RTR
&8 ERBEAA RELE MR HitiiER #st rEL
Marietta Limited 195,389,158 - - - 195,389,158 42.00%
(Note a)
(Bst a)
Keywise Capital - 71,342,000 - - 71,342,000 15.33%
Management (HK) Limited
Keywise Greater China 57,450,000 - - - 57,450,000 12.34%
Opportunities Master Fund
Hang Seng Bank Trustee - - - 28,162,000 28,162,000 6.05%
International Limited (Note d)
(B d)
Cheah Cheng Hye 1,000,000 - 27,132,000 - 28,132,000 6.04%
#HE58 (Note b)
(B b)
To Hau Yin - - - 28,132,000 28,132,000 6.04%
HIE (Note e)
(Bt e)
Cheah Capital Management Limited - - 28,162,000 - 28,162,000 6.05%
(Note b)
(B b)
Cheah Company Limited - - 28,162,000 - 28,162,000 6.05%
(Note b)
(B b)
Value Partners Group Limited - - 28,162,000 - 28,162,000 6.05%
(Note ¢)
(B c)
Value Partners Limited - 28,162,000 - - 28,162,000 6.05%

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
RigREAE TEEER AR
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Interest and/or short positions of shareholders

discloseable under SFO (continued)
Long positions in ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company

(continued)
Notes:
(a) These shares were registered in the name of and beneficially owned by Marietta

Limited, the entire issued share capital of which was directly and beneficially owned
by Mr. Yang Yirong.

(b) These shares were registered in the name of and beneficially owned by Value Partners
Limited, approximately 35.65% of the issued share capital of which was indirectly
and beneficially owned by this shareholder.

(o) These shares were registered in the name of and beneficially owned by Value Partners
Limited, the entire issued share capital of which was directly and beneficially owned
by this shareholder.

(d) Trustee.

(e) Interest of a substantial shareholder’s spouse.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified by any
persons, other than the Directors and chief executives of the Company,
who had interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company as at 31 December 2008.

Management contracts
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were entered
into or existed during the year.

Major customers and suppliers

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest and the five
largest customers were 17% and 38% respectively. The aggregate
purchases attributable to the Group'’s largest and the five largest suppliers
were 9% and 36% respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the
Company, which to the knowledge of the Directors, owned more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital, had any interest in the share
capital of the Group’s five largest customers and five largest suppliers
noted above.

BEXSNBPEKRHBETREZREE
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BT
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Connected transactions

Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2008, which do not constitute connected
transactions subject to reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules, are set out
in Note 35 to the financial statements.

In the opinion of the Directors, save for disclosed above, the Group did
not enter into any connected transactions defined under the Listing Rules
during the year ended 31 December 2008.

Corporate governance

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with most of
the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (“the CG Code") contained
in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31
December 2008, save for the deviations from code provision A.2.1 of the
CG Code. Information on the deviations and further information on the
Company’s corporate governance practices is set out in the “Corporate
Governance Report” as set out on pages 17 to 25.

Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information that is publicly available to and within the
knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed that there is sufficient public
float of more than 25% of the Company’s issued shares at the date of
the annual report.

Auditor

The accompanying financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Directors
YANG YIRONG
Chairman & President

Hong Kong, 15 April 2009

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
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IndgpendentiAuditor’s Report
N Az ERED

PRICEWATERHOUSE(COPERS

PricewaterhouseCoopers
22nd Floor, Prince’s Building
Central, Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ecogreen
Fine Chemicals Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 45 to 131, which comprise
the consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31 December 2008,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This
responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’'s preparation and true
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at 31
December 2008 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 15 April 2009

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

/\\/ \

As at 31st December 2008 Effgg)\ifiﬂ =r—1

2008 2007
—EENF T LF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt ARET T ARETTT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Land use rights b {5 PR #E 6 8,631 8,741
Property, plant and equipment M - s RRE 7 375,818 336,839
Intangible assets mRAE 8 57,441 40,347
Investment in an associate LN 10 1,750 =
Available-for-sale financial assets AR ESRMEE 11 400 400
444,040 386,327
Current assets REEE
Inventories s 12 76,138 45,489
Trade receivables JEU3Z 5 iR 3K 13 192,006 165,653
Prepayments and other receivables TERTRRIE &
H e W sk R 14 81,493 46,216
Pledged bank deposits EHEARITER 15 37,364 32,158
Cash and cash equivalents BeRESEEY 15 386,619 275,226
773,620 564,742
Total assets BEE 1,217,660 951,069
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves attributable BATERFEA
to the Company’s equity holders BERAREE
Share capital LN 16 49,232 49,653
Share premium IR 5 B 16 181,841 188,888
Other reserves Hn 17 56,057 51,763
Retained earnings RE AT
— Proposed final dividend — BOR R HAAR B 31 11,888 14,760
— Others —Efh 446,663 357,171
745,681 662,235
Minority interest in equity DERRER 3,291 1,572
Total equity RS 748,972 663,807
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
mEEERER

As at 31st December 2008 R=ZZT\F+=A=+—H

2008 2007
—EENF —EELF
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
{hE=s AR%F ARETTT
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Borrowings BE 18 224,456 58,121
Derivative financial instruments PTEERIE 21 5,014 =
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFTSIHEE 22 13,500 =
242,970 58,121
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables and bills payable FERR SRR RN R & 19 69,764 54,890
Current income tax liabilities BIHAFTS & & 2,070 1,971
Borrowings BE 18 121,019 98,272
Derivative financial instruments PTEEmIA 21 - 37,837
Accruals and other payables EETER K
H At T RIE 20 31,860 34,704
Amounts due to directors BN EEFIE 35 1,005 1,467
225,718 229,141
Total liabilities FEN=Ri 468,688 287,262
Total equity and liabilities HWERRAE 1,217,660 951,069
Net current assets REEEFE 547,902 335,601
Total assets less current liabilities HEERARBERE 991,942 721,928
YANG YIRONG LU JIAHUA
R E EXRE
Chairman Executive director
£ HITEE

The notes on pages 52 to 131 are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.
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Balance Sheet
HERE

As at 31st December 2008 R=ZT/\F+=-A=+—H

2008 2007
—EENE ZEELF
Note RMB’'000 RMB’000
B 5T AR¥F ARET T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in and amounts RHBRRZIEE K&
due from subsidiaries [ NI E e 9 601,243 334,849
Current assets REEE
Prepayments TERTRIE 14 82 100
Cash and cash equivalents RekEFRRFEIER 15 1,778 364
Dividend receivable fEU AR S - 38,000
1,860 38,464
Total assets BEE 603,103 373,313
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves attributable to AT RERTE AEMN
the Company’s equity holders BEARR #iE
Share capital LN 16 49,232 49,653
Share premium A& A (B 16 181,841 188,888
Other reserves HAbfEE 17 93,959 97,810
Retained earnings RE &
— Proposed final dividend — B AR EAAR B 31 11,888 14,760
— Others —H i 34,759 20,089
Total equity BrEREE 371,679 371,200
LIABILITIES =N
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Borrowings BE 18 169,907 =
Derivative financial instruments PTEERITE 21 5,014 =
174,921 —
Current liabilities REBEE
Borrowings BE 18 53,903 =
Accruals and other payables FERTE A R E Ath (S 7RI8 20 2,600 2,113
56,503 2,113
Total liabilities BEE 231,424 2,113
Total equity and liabilities BEZRAE 603,103 373,313
Net current (liabilities)/assets FREN(EE) EERE (54,643) 36,351
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBEES 546,600 371,200
YANG YIRONG LU JIAHUA
mEE EXRE
Chairman Executive director
EY HITEE
The notes on pages 52 to 131 are an integral part of these consolidated  £52F 131 B i A% S A BB m = P 2
financial statements. 7 e
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Consolidated Income Statement

NN

—By function of expenses — & & FRAEH 1A

For the year ended 31st December 2008 HZ=ZFT \F+-A=+—HILFE

2008 2007
—EEN\E —EELF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5E AR¥ET T ARETIT
Turnover =L 5 739,973 612,159
Cost of goods sold EEEmAAR 24 (518,929) (402,742)
Gross profit EF 221,044 209,417
Other losses — net EabEiE — 55 23 (253) (4,163)
Selling and marketing costs HE R ISHERA 24 (28,437) (24,816)
Administrative expenses TEE A 24 (51,609) (40,319)
Operating profit Fegbinwil 140,745 140,119
Finance income EE WA 26 3,175 3,469
Finance costs BB A 26 (9,951) (5,540)
Finance costs — net R E RN — R 58 26 (6,776) (2,071)
Profit before income tax B B 15 %54 A b4 A 133,969 138,048
Income tax expense FriSfiA > 27 (19,513) (7,514)
Profit for the year F PN A 114,456 130,534
Attributable to: FEML -
Equity holders of the Company RARERTEA 114,237 130,465
Minority interest DEUR R e e 219 69
114,456 130,534
Earnings per share for profit FARRAERITEA
attributable to the equity holders FEMR R 2 FIR AR
of the Company during the year (BRAARKETSITR)
(expressed in RMB per share)
— Basic —HR 30 24.4 Centsfl 28.0 Centsfll
— Diluted —EE 30 23.9 Centsfl 26.8 Centsfll
Dividends A% 2 31 16,818 19,297
The notes on pages 52 to 131 are an integral part of these consolidated rE BT EPEL

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

A= \ 7/

AT E A

For the year ended 31st December 2008 #Z=—

ZENF+A=t—BHLFE

Attributable to equity holders

of the Company
KRAAEREE AL
Minority
Share Other Retained interest Total
premium  reserves  earnings Total 2BRR  equity
RAEE HitkE {RERF @5t BE AR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
T AR¥TR AR¥Tn ARETR AR¥ETn AR%Trn AR%Tn
Balance at 1 January 2008 R-ZBEN\E-FA—H
28 88,888 51,763 371,931 662,235 1,572 663,807
Profit for the year FRRM - - 114237 114,237 219 114,456
Currency translation differences ERBEZET - 47 - 47 = 47
Total recognised income for 2008 “ZE\FERA
WAL - 47 114237 114,284 219 114,503
Employees share option scheme: EERERETS :

- Value of share options granted -RitBREZBE - 913 - 913 = 913

- Cancellation of share options — B RE - (171) 171 = = =
Change in minority interest in equity: ~ DEBRRERS 2 2% :

- Capital injection —EAER - - - = 1,500 1,500
Repurchase of shares EEG) (7,047) a1 - (7,047) - (7,047)
Cash flow hedges Bemngin

— Fair value losses in year - FEATERE = (@,m7) = (@.417) = @.417)

- Transfer to finance costs —BERARENA = (597) (597) = (597)
Dividend relating to 2007 BH-_ZTLERE = - (14760)  (14,760) - (14,760)
Dividend relating to 2008 BH-_ZENEZRE = = (4930)  (4,930) = (4,930)
Transfer from retained eamnings (Note 17) (REZFE & (FzE17) - 8,098 (8,098) = = =

(421) (7,047) 4,247 (27,617)  (30,838) 1,500 (29,338)
Balance at 31 December 2008 R-ZENF+ZA=t—-H
A o323 49232 181,841 56057 458551 745,681 3291 748,972
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)

A= \ 7/

N}

ESHER ()

Attributable to equity holders

of the Company
KARREREEAEY
Minority
Share Share Other Retained interest Total
capital premium  reserves earnings Total 2HRR equity
BA  BRARE Httf HFREEA @5t BE AR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETR AR%TR ARETR ARETR AR%ETR
Balance at 1 January 2007 R-BEtE-A-H
A 33 48,778 177,698 32,272 274,088 532,836 224 533,060
Profit for the year AR - - - 130,465 130,465 69 130,534
Currency translation differences ERBEET - - (21) = (21) = 21)
Total recognised income for 2007 “EELFERRMA LS = = (1) 130,465 130,444 69 130,513
Employees share option scheme: (E B RERRE 2 :
— Value of share options granted -RiBREZEE - - 1,920 - 1,920 = 1,920
- Cancellation of share options — R - - (348) 348 = = =
— Exercise of share options — T RERE - - (641) 641 = = =
Change in minority interest in equity: ~ PEREERE 2 #F) :
- Capital injection —EAER - - - - - ,500 ,500
- Equity acquired by the Group ~AEERDHRE
from minority interest Wiig 2 S - - - - - (221) 221)
Issue of shares Eihkin 875 11,190 - - 12,065 - 12,065
Dividend relating to 2006 BH-_ZZT 52RE - - - (10,493)  (10,493) - (10,493)
Dividend relating to 2007 BH-_ZZTLERE - = = (4537)  (4,537) - (4,537)
Transfer from retained eamings (Note 17) REZAFE R (FizE17) - = 8,581  (18,581) - = =
875 11,190 19,512 (32,622) (1,045) 1,279 234
Balance at 31 December 2007 R-ZE+LF+-A=1—-H
Pk -3:3 49,653 188,888 51,763 371,931 662,235 1,572 663,807

The notes on pages 52 to 131 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
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For the year ended 31st December 2008 HZ =TT N\F+-A=+—HILFE

2008 2007
—EENE T LF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Pt aE AR®T R ARETT
Cash flows from operating activities (EEXKBALHE
Cash generated from operations BEEBASIRE® 32 88,963 61,472
Interest received B F A 3,175 3,469
Interest paid EY RS (18,815) (6,355)
Income tax paid B Er SR (5,914) (8,463)
Net cash generated from operating KB XIS 558
activities 67,409 50,123
Cash flows from investing activities RETEHRESRE
Acquisition of property, plant and WEEMZE - BB KRR
equipment 7 (60,313) (132,811)
Increase in intangible assets ER BN 8 (27,623) (15,082)
Proceeds from sales of property, HEME - WER
plant and equipment SRABFTS IR 32 75 2
Proceeds from sales of available-forsale &R ftHES BAE
financial assets FT{S 308 - 240
Capital injection from a minority interest ~ DEAEERIE A B A 1,500 1,500
Equity acquired by the Group from $§‘%ﬁﬂ9§iﬂ§$”ﬁlﬁ%
minority interest 2R - (221)
Payment for investment in an associate Tﬁﬁfﬁ”‘ﬂﬁ%‘é’& RIFTSAS F/0E 10 (1,750) =
Net cash used in investing activities REEBMAR 25 (88,111) (146,372)
Cash flows from financing activities Eﬂﬁiﬁ@?ﬁﬁﬁi
Proceeds from issue of shares BT D FTiS 7R 16 - 12,065
Proceeds from borrowings B E RS IE 335,684 119,281
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (146,602) (97,724)
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due FENEEZRECHD),
to directors 0 (462) 1,326
Unfront proceeds from derivative ﬁi%%ﬂlﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂ
financial instrument FTiS s - 38,588
Dividends paid to the Company'’s AR 7*& ?—rﬁ/\
equity holders X2 B 31 (19,690) (15,030)
Repurchase of shares B 16 (7,047) =
Early unwinding of derivative financial RAIEEITA SR
instruments =t (29,835) =
Net cash generated from BMEEBMEEHRESFHE
financing activities 132,048 58,506
Net increase/(decrease) in cash ReREEHEELER
and cash equivalents B, GEd) E5E 111,346 (37,743)
Cash and cash equivalents at FUzEHER
beginning of the year ZRHELIEE 275,226 312,990
Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and ReRZERBFEIER 2
cash equivalents bE M Wz (E518) a7 (21)
Cash and cash equivalents at FRZEER
end of the year ZRRELEH 15 386,619 275,226

The notes on pages 52 to 131 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Nﬁotes to t@e Congplidated Financial Statements
A SRR

General information

EcoGreen Fine Chemicals Group Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together “the Group”) are principally engaged in the
production and trading of fine chemicals from natural resources
for use in aroma chemicals and pharmaceutical products.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 3
March 2003 as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The address of its
registered office is Century Yard, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681 GT, George Town, Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands,
British West Indies.

The Company is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“the Stock Exchange”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Chinese
Renminbi (RMB), unless otherwise stated. These consolidated
financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of
Directors on 15 April 2009.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"”). They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets, financial
assets and financial liabilities (including derivative financial
instruments) at fair value through profit or loss, which are
carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.
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Nﬁotes to t:}ge Con§plidated Financial Statements
A SRR

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to
conform to the current year presentation. The major
reclassifications for the 2007 comparative figures include
reclassification of (i) interest income from “other loss —
net” to “finance costs — net”; and (i) exchange losses/gains
arised from operating activities and financing activities
from “administrative expenses” to “other loss — net” and
“finance costs — net” respectively.

Standards, amendments and interpretations effective
in 2008

Hong Kong Accounting Standard (“HKAS"”) 39, ‘Financial
instruments: Recognition and measurement’, amendment
on reclassification of financial assets permits reclassification
of certain financial assets out of the held-for-trading and
available-for-sale categories if specified conditions are met.
The related amendment to HKFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments:
Disclosures’, introduces disclosure requirements with
respect to financial assets reclassified out of the held-for-
trading and available-for-sale categories. The amendment is
effective prospectively from 1 July 2008. This amendment
does not have any impact on the Group’s financial
statements, as the Group has not reclassified any financial
assets.

Hong Kong (International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee) interpretations
("HK(IFRIC) = INT”) 11, "HKFRS 2 — Group and treasury
share transactions’, provides guidance on whether share-
based transactions involving treasury shares or involving
group entities (for example, options over a parent’s
shares) should be accounted for as equity-settled or cash-
settled share-based payment transactions in the stand-
alone accounts of the parent and group companies. This
interpretation does not have an impact on the Group's
financial statements.

HK(IFRIC) — INT 14, '"HKAS 19 — The limit on a defined
benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and
their interaction’, provides guidance on assessing the
[imit in HKAS 19 on the amount of the surplus that
can be recognised as an asset. It also explains how the
pension asset or liability may be affected by a statutory
or contractual minimum funding requirement. This
interpretation does not have an impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

Interpretation effective in 2008 but not relevant to
the Group’s operations

The following interpretation to published standards is
mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2008 but is not relevant to the Group’s operations:

— HK(IFRIC) = INT 12,
arrangements’.

‘Service concession

Standards, amendments and interpretations to
existing standards that are not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group

The following standards, amendments and interpretations
to existing standards have been published and are
mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2009 or later periods, but the Group
has not early adopted them:

HKAS 1 (Revised), ‘Presentation of financial statements’
(effective from 1 January 2009). The revised standard will
prohibit the presentation of items of income and expenses
(that is, ‘'non-owner changes in equity’) in the statement
of changes in equity, requiring ‘non-owner changes in
equity’ to be presented separately from owner changes in
equity. All non-owner changes in equity will be required
to be shown in a performance statement, but entities can
choose whether to present one performance statement (the
statement of comprehensive income) or two statements
(the consolidated income statement and statement of
comprehensive income). Where entities restate or reclassify
comparative information, they will be required to present
a restated balance sheet as at the beginning comparative
period in addition to the current requirement to present
balance sheets at the end of the current period and
comparative period. The Group will apply HKAS 1 (Revised)
from 1 January 2009. It is likely that both the consolidated
income statement and statement of comprehensive income
will be presented as performance statements.
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Nﬁotes to t:}ge Con§plidated Financial Statements
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

Standards, amendments and interpretations to
existing standards that are not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group (continued)
HKAS 23 (Revised), ‘Borrowing costs’ (effective from 1
January 2009). The amendment requires an entity to
capitalise borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying
asset (one that takes a substantial period of time to get
ready for use or sale) as part of the cost of that asset. The
option of immediately expensing those borrowing costs
will be removed. The Group will apply HKAS 23 (Revised)
from 1 January 2009. It is not expected to have any
material impact on the Group’s financial statements as the
relevant borrowing cost have already been capitalized with
qualifying assets.

HKAS 27 (Revised), ‘Consolidated and separate financial
statements’ (effective from 1 July 2009). The revised
standard requires the effects of all transactions in
connection with equity interests in subsidiaries with non-
controlling interests to be recorded in equity if there
is no change in control and these transactions will no
longer result in goodwill or gains and losses. The standard
also specifies the accounting when control is lost. Any
remaining interest in the entity is re-measured to fair value
and a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. The Group
will apply HKAS 27 (Revised) to transactions with non-
controlling interests from 1 January 2010.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

Standards, amendments and interpretations to
existing standards that are not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group (continued)
HKFRS 2 (Amendment), ‘Share-based payment’ (effective
from 1 January 2009). The amended standard deals
with vesting conditions and cancellations. It clarifies that
vesting conditions are service conditions and performance
conditions only. Other features of a share-based payment
are not vesting conditions. As such these features would
need to be included in the grant date fair value for
transactions with employees and others providing similar
services, that is, these features would not impact the
number of awards expected to vest or valuation thereof
subsequent to grant date. All cancellations, whether by
the entity or by other parties, should receive the same
accounting treatment. The Group will apply HKFRS 2
(Amendment) from 1 January 2009, but it is not expected
to have a material impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

HKFRS 3 (Revised), ‘Business combinations’ (effective from
1 July 2009). The revised standard continues to apply the
acquisition method to business combinations, with some
significant changes. There is a choice on an acquisition by
acquisition basis to measure the non-controlling interest in
the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.
All acquisition-related costs should be expensed. The Group
will apply HKFRS 3 (Revised) to all business combinations
from 1 January 2010.

HKFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’, replaces HKAS 14,
‘Segment reporting’, and aligns segment reporting with
the requirements of the US standard SFAS 131, ‘Disclosures
about segments of an enterprise and related information’.
The new standard requires a ‘management approach’,
under which segment information is presented on the
same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes.
The Group will apply HKFRS 8 from 1 January 2009.
The expected impact is still being assessed in detail by
management, but it is not expected to have any material
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

Standards, amendments and interpretations to
existing standards that are not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group (continued)
HK(FRIC) — INT 16, ‘Hedges of a net investment in a
foreign operation’ (effective from 1 October 2008).
HK(FRIC) — INT 16 clarifies the accounting treatment
in respect of net investment hedging. This includes the
fact that net investment hedging relates to differences
in functional currency not presentation currency, and
hedging instruments may be held anywhere in the Group.
The requirements of HKAS 21, ‘The effects of changes in
foreign exchange rates’, do apply to the hedged item. The
Group will apply HK(IFRIC) — INT 16 from 1 January 2009.
It is not expected to have a material impact on the Group's
financial statements.

HKICPA's improvements to HKFRS published in October
2008

-  HKAS 1 (Amendment), ‘Presentation of financial
statements’ (effective from 1 January 2009). The
amendment clarifies that some rather than all financial
assets and liabilities classified as held for trading in
accordance with HKAS 39, ‘Financial instruments:
Recognition and measurement’ are examples of
current assets and liabilities respectively. The Group
will apply HKAS 1 (Amendment) from 1 January 2009.
It is not expected to have an impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

—  HKAS 20 (Amendment), ‘Accounting for Government
Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance’
(effective from 1 January 2009). The benefit of a
below-market rate government loan is measured
as the difference between the carrying amount in
accordance with HKAS 39, ‘Financial instruments:
Recognition and measurement’ and the proceeds
received with the benefit accounted for in accordance
with HKAS 20. The Group will apply HKAS 20
(Amendment) from 1 January 2009.

2.

FTESHHEBE )

2.1

RSB (F)

173 R 46 30 T 2 % [ 75 R 52 B2 5K AN
HER - BT RHREEAMNER
B(E)
ZE(BRMBEHREREZE
) —RB 16/ BN ERER
BEI(B=FEFNF+HA-HEL
M) o B (BRMBHRERESR
B®) -2EB16BFTARER
BHWMERIEN L - EERE
FHAFRELM S RINEEET
FIIRERMERE - MEPF TR
AEAKEEMAMIRE - B8
S EANEXSEYNTE B
AREHIER - AEEKEH_
ETNF-A-HEEREE(E
R BREREREE) —RE
16 ° TBHI T & HAK B H /1 75 e
REERTE -

EEUAHAARE—FENF+
P2 5 B 5 8 2 B 0 2
.

— FRSFTEAN(EETA)
BHREWERI(ZFTA
F-A—HBER) ° &
RIARBTETMIMBR
BRBEER39 £/ T
B BRALFE IR ER
KIFEEMNETREENA
& ARARBEEMAR
MPlF - AEEEHE_FF
NF-A—BEERAEES
AR (BRTA) - TREAR
SHARENTBERRB T

R 2 -

— FRBEFTERR00&ERT)
[ BT B 2 & 5T B 12 R IR
FEBZEE I (R_FF
NE-—A—BEER) - &
RiZERNBRERNEG
o BEBEENN &
BMTHE: BRIME| 9L
FERR B 2R RR B P R O P 15
RHERETE - MBEBNF
@A EEGF ERI 2058
R AKERKEH_FTN
F-A-BEERELES:
ZRI20(BRTA) »

ANNUAL REPORT 2008
ZETN\FFE




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

IN=RE R Eadi

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2. FESFHBEME2)

2.1  Basis of preparation (continued) 21 REEEE)
Standards, amendments and interpretations to MARERMAEBE I EIRBRR
existing standards that are not yet effective and have WX - BT RYERAENNE
not been early adopted by the Group (continued) B(E)
—  HKAS 19 (Amendment), ‘Employee benefits’ (effective EBEHE9EETA)[ B
from 1 January 2009). BENI(ZETZNGFE—H—
HEBAER) o

The amendment clarifies that a plan amendment
that results in a change in the extent to which
benefit promises are affected by future salary
increases is a curtailment, while an amendment
that changes benefits attributable to past service
gives rise to a negative past service cost if it
results in a reduction in the present value of the
defined benefit obligation.

The definition of return on plan assets has been
amended to state that plan administration costs
are deducted in the calculation of return on plan
assets only to the extent that such costs have
been excluded from measurement of the defined
benefit obligation.

The distinction between short term and long
term employee benefits will be based on whether
benefits are due to be settled within or after 12
months of employee service being rendered.

HKAS 37, 'Provisions, contingent liabilities and
contingent assets’ requires contingent liabilities
to be disclosed, not recognised. HKAS 19 has
been amended to be consistent.

The Group will apply HKAS 19 (Amendment) from 1
January 2009.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2. FESFHBEME#)

2.1  Basis of preparation (continued) 21 REEBEE)

Standards, amendments and interpretations to MAREFRMEAEFE N EREBZRHA

existing standards that are not yet effective and have R - BT REBREEERNR

not been early adopted by the Group (continued) BE)

—  HKAS 23 (Amendment), ‘Borrowing costs’ (effective — EHBeER23(EFIARN)
from 1 January 2009). The definition of borrowing [BEERA | (ZEZENF—
costs has been amended so that interest expense is A—BREM) - BEKAE
calculated using the effective interest method defined BWERBEHER - MEFRX
in HKAS 39 ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and FMAEBBRMEE(ERESE
measurement’. This eliminates the inconsistency of BERTER &M T A ¢
terms between HKAS 39 and HKAS 23. The Group will ERART=EEHE - EHK
apply HKAS 23 (Amendment) to the capitalisation of TEBETERETES
borrowing costs on qualifying assets from 1 January STER23Z AWM DB o RE
2009. Bleh —_TTNF—A—

Bt HARRAERER
AN AR E LG A
RI23(ISETA) -

—  HKAS 28 (Amendment), ‘Investments in associates’ — FBA@TEL28({EFTA)
(and consequential amendments to HKAS 32, [BtENAIRE |(REFE
‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’ and HKFRS 7, BERERIR2[ &M T A
‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’) (effective from 1 EFXRINBAEFBED T €
January 2009). An investment in associate is treated as RITE : 5 |MEREBET)
a single asset for the purposes of impairment testing —EENFE—A—HEL
and any impairment loss is not allocated to specific M) e BRERRmE ¢ B
assets included within the investment, for example, BARREWRAEE—F
goodwill. Reversals of impairment are recorded as E - MEMBEBETSER
an adjustment to the investment balance to the ERENMEBENEEE
extent that the recoverable amount of the associate = Bl o mER R
increases. The Group will apply HKAS 28 (Amendment) SRARE LGN - #E
to impairment tests related to investment in associates a1 A/NET ] EIR
and any related impairment losses from 1 January BIEm e REFKEeRH =
2009. ThE—A—BiE  HEE

NAEREA BB ER R
A R AR ] 46 B R B 5 18
ERAEA G ER28(EFT

) e
— HKAS 36 (Amendment), ‘Impairment of assets’ — HESER36(BETAR)
(effective from 1 January 2009). Where fair value less [EERBEI(ZEZTNF—
costs to sell is calculated on the basis of discounted A—BREM) - AT E
cash flows, disclosures equivalent to those for value- B ER AN EIERAIERS
in-use calculation should be made. The Group will REFE - AINBEELEREE
apply the HKAS 36 (Amendment) and provide the RIEREBEFENEE - &~
required disclosure where applicable for impairment EE¥eR T NE—A
tests from 1 January 2009. —HREABBEF%RI36
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2. FESFHBEME2)
2.1  Basis of preparation (continued) 21 REEEE)

Standards, amendments and interpretations to MARERMAEBE I EIRBRR
existing standards that are not yet effective and have WX - BT RYERAENNE

not been early adopted by the Group (continued) Z(E)

- HKAS 38 (Amendment), ‘Intangible assets’ (effective — EHBeFH%RI38(EFIA)

from 1 January 2009). A prepayment may only be [(mEEE | (ZEFNLF—

recognised in the event that payment has been made A—HBER) - BNRR

in advance of obtaining right of access to goods or BE MAE B S & G /9 U B 4

receipt of services. The Group will apply the HKAS 38 aY AR 75 2 B 2 7B B 1~ 30 B fE
(Amendment) from 1 January 2009. R NEEBEEH_ZTZEN
F—HA—BRERBEE

RERIBB(IEFTA) o

EB ST ERIZO(BETA)
[€RTE : BRME

—  HKAS 39 (Amendment), ‘Financial instruments: —
Recognition and measurement’ (effective from 1

January 2009).

This amendment clarifies that it is possible for
there to be movements into and out of the fair
value through profit or loss category where
a derivative commences or ceases to qualify
as a hedging instrument in cash flow or net
investment hedge.

The definition of financial asset or financial
liability at fair value through profit or loss as it
relates to items that are held for trading is also
amended. This clarifies that a financial asset or
liability that is part of a portfolio of financial
instruments managed together with evidence
of an actual recent pattern of short-term profit-
taking is included in such a portfolio on initial
recognition.

When remeasuring the carrying amount of a
debt instrument on cessation of fair value hedge
accounting, the amendment clarifies that a
revised effective interest rate (calculated at the
date fair value hedge accounting ceases) are
used.
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Nﬁotes to t:}ge Con§plidated Financial Statements
A SRR

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of preparation (continued)

Standards, amendments and interpretations to
existing standards that are not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group (continued)
HKAS 39 (Amendment), ‘Financial instruments:
Recognition and measurement’ (effective from 1
January 2009). (continued)

2.1

The current guidance on designating and
documenting hedges states that a hedging
instrument needs to involve a party external to
the reporting entity and cites a segment as an
example of a reporting entity. This means that
in order for hedge accounting to be applied
at segment level, the requirements for hedge
accounting are currently required to be met
by the applicable segment. The amendment
removes this requirement so that HKAS 39 is
consistent with HKFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’
which requires disclosure for segments to be
based on information reported to the chief
operating decision maker. Currently, for segment
reporting purposes, each subsidiary designates
and documents (including effectiveness testing)
contracts with group treasury as fair value or
cash flow hedges so that the hedges are reflected
in the segment to which the hedged items
relate. See note 3.1 for further details. After the
amendment is effective, the hedge will continue
to be reflected in the segment to which the
hedged items relate (and information provided to
the chief operating decision maker).

The Group will apply the HKAS 39 (Amendment)
from 1 January 2009. It is not expected to have
an impact on the Group’s consolidated income
statement.

HKAS 39 (Amendment), ‘Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement’ — ‘Eligible hedged
items’ (effective from 1 July 2009). This amendment is
to clarify how the principles that determine whether
a hedged risk or portion of cash flows is eligible for
designation shall be applied in particular situations.
The Group will apply the HKAS 39 (Amendment) from
1 January 2010.
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Nﬁotes to t:}ge Congplidated Financial Statements
A SRR

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2. FESFHBEME2)
2.1  Basis of preparation (continued) 21 REEEE)
Standards, amendments and interpretations to MARERMAEBE I EIRBRR
existing standards that are not yet effective and have WA - BT REEEERWHR
not been early adopted by the Group (continued) Z(E)
—  HKFRS 5 (Amendment), ‘Non-current assets held for — BAPMBERSHEEIAN)

sale and discontinued operations’ (and consequential
amendment to HKFRS 1, ‘First-time adoption’)
(effective from 1 July 2009). The amendment clarifies
that all of a subsidiary’s assets and liabilities are
classified as held for sale if a partial disposal sale
plan results in loss of control, and relevant disclosure
should be made for this subsidiary if the definition
of a discontinued operation is met. A consequential
amendment to HKFRS 1 states that these amendments
are applied prospectively from the date of transition
to HKFRSs. The Group will apply the HKFRS 5
(Amendment) to all partial disposals of subsidiaries
from 1 January 2010.

HKAS 16 (Amendment), ‘Property, plant and
equipment’ (and consequential amendment to HKAS
7, ‘Statement of cash flows’) (effective from 1 January
2009). Entities whose ordinary activities comprise
renting and subsequently selling assets present
proceeds from the sale of those assets as revenue and
should transfer the carrying amount of the asset to
inventories when the asset becomes held for sale. A
consequential amendment to HKAS 7 states that cash
flows arising from purchase, rental and sale of those
assets are classified as cash flows from operating
activities. The Group will apply HKAS 16 (Amendment)
from 1 January 2009, but it is not expected to have a
material impact on the Group’s financial statements
because none of the group companies’ ordinary
activities comprise renting and subsequently selling
assets.
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Nﬁotes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A SRR

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2. FESFHBEME#)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 REBEE)

Standards, amendments and interpretations to MAEMMAEE R ERERSH

existing standards that are not yet effective and have K2Rl ~ ST R B R B ERMNGE

not been early adopted by the Group (continued) E(ﬁ)

—  HKAS 27 (Amendment), ‘Consolidated and separate BB @t AR 27 ({BE]A)
financial statements’ (effective from 1 January [ % & a NE R &
2009). Where an investment in a subsidiary that is (:Z’fgﬂi A—Bi#4
accounted for under HKAS 39, Financial instruments: ) c IN—HEBER AT

recognition and measurement, is classified as held
for sale under HKFRS 5, ‘Non-current assets held for
sale and discontinued operations’, HKAS 39 would
continue to be applied. The Group will apply HKAS 27
(Amendment) from 1 January 2009, but it is not
expected to have an impact on the Group’s financial
statements because it is the Group’s policy for an
investment in subsidiary to be recorded at cost in the
standalone accounts of each entity.

HKAS 28 (Amendment), ‘Investments in associates’
(and consequential amendments to HKAS 32,
‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’ and HKFRS
7, 'Financial instruments: Disclosures’) (effective
from 1 January 2009). Where an investment in
associate is accounted for in accordance with
HKAS 39 Financial instruments: recognition and
measurement’ only certain rather than all disclosure
requirements in HKAS 28 need to be made in addition
to disclosures required by HKAS 32, ‘Financial
Instruments: Presentation’ and HKFRS 7 ‘Financial
Instruments: Disclosures’. The Group will apply
HKAS 28 (Amendment) from 1 January 2009, but
such amendment will not have an impact on the
Group's financial statements because it is the Group’s
policy for an investment in an associate to be equity
accounted in the consolidated financial statements.

HKAS 38 (Amendment), ‘Intangible assets’ (effective
from 1 January 2009). The amendment deletes the
wording that states that there is ‘rarely, if ever’
support for use of a method that results in a lower
rate of amortisation than the straight line method.
The Group will apply HKAS 38 (Amendment) from 1
January 2009, but it is not expected to have an impact
on the Group's financial statements as all intangible
assets are amortised using the straight line method.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2.

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

Standards, amendments and interpretations to

existing standards that are not yet effective and have

not been early adopted by the Group (continued)

— There are a number of minor amendments to
HKFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’,
HKAS 8, ‘Accounting policies, changes in accounting
estimates and errors’, HKAS 10, '‘Events after the
balance sheet date’, HKAS 18, 'Revenue’ and
HKAS 34, ‘Interim financial reporting” which are not
addressed above. These amendments are unlikely to
have an impact on the Group’s financial statements
and have therefore not been analysed in detail.

Interpretations and amendments to existing
standards that are not yet effective and not relevant
for the Group’s operations

The following interpretations to existing standards have
been published and are mandatory for the Group’s
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
or later periods but are not relevant for the Group's
operations:

HKAS 32 (Amendment), ‘Financial instruments:
Presentation’, and HKAS 1 (Amendment), ‘Presentation of
financial statements’ — ‘Puttable financial instruments and
obligations arising on liquidation’ (effective from 1 January
2009).

HKFRS 1 (Amendment), ‘First time adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards’ and HKAS 27, ‘Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements’ (effective from 1
January 2009)

HK(IFRIC) — Int 13, ‘Customer loyalty programmes’ (effective
from 1 July 2008).

HK(IFRIC) — Int 15, ‘Agreement for construction of real
estates’ (effective from 1 January 2009).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

Interpretations and amendments to existing
standards that are not yet effective and not relevant
for the Group’s operations (continued)

HK(IFRIC) — Int 17, ‘Distributions of non-cash assets to
owners’ (effective from 1 July 2009).

HK(IFRIC) — Int 18, ‘Transfers of Assets from Customers’
(effective for transfers on or after 1 July 2009).

HKICPA’s improvements to HKFRS published in October
2008:

—  HKAS 29 (Amendment), ‘Financial Reporting in
Hyperinflationary Economies’ (effective from 1 January
2009)

—  HKAS 31 (Amendment), ‘Interests in Joint Ventures’
(and consequential amendments to HKAS 32 and
HKFRS 7) (effective from 1 January 2009)

—  HKAS 40 (Amendment), ‘Investment Property’ (and
consequential amendments to HKAS 16) (effective
from 1 January 2009)

—  HKAS 41 (Amendment), ‘Agriculture’ (effective from 1
January 2009)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and all its subsidiaries made up
to 31 December.

(@) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities (including special purpose
entities) over which the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies generally
accompanying a shareholding of more than one
half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible are considered when assessing whether
the Group controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to
account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the
Group. The cost of an acquisition is measured as
the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date
of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the
acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent
of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of
acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share
of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the
fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired,
the difference is recognised directly in the income
statement.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2. FESFHBEME#)
2.2 Consolidation (continued) 22 #H#EB#E)
(a) Subsidiaries (continued) (a) HIEBLAI(E)

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

In the Company’s balance sheet the investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less provision
for impairment losses (Note 2.7). The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable.
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(b) Transactions with minority interest in connection with (b) HIHTE Al A L&
equity interests in subsidiaries REHETZS
The Group applies a policy of treating transactions REEBBUR 25 8 D SRR
with minority interest as transactions with parties HEITHR Z R VEZ & B B )
external to the Group. Disposals to minority interest RAATETIRS - MPE
result in gains and losses for the Group that are R RiERm SR EE K
recorded in the consolidated income statement. m M EE - 2R ARE R
Purchases from minority interest results in goodwill, RA o MALBBREREE
being the difference between any consideration paid EEZHE  EFREMSR
and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value BEPBAELMNBARIEE
of net assets of the subsidiary. FEMREECHHER -

(c) Associates (c) HZna]

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting
and are initially recognised at cost.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Consolidation (continued)

2.2

2.3

(©

Associates (continued)

The Group's share of its associates’ post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in the consolidated
income statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in reserves is recognised in reserves. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When
the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals
or exceeds its interest in the associate, including
any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interest in the associates. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in
associates are recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations

engaged in providing products or services that are subject

to risks and returns that are different from those of other

business segments. A geographical segment is engaged in
providing products or services within a particular economic
environment that are subject to risks and returns that
are different from those of segments operating in other
economic environments.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2.

2.4  Foreign currency translation 24 HNEBRE

(a) Functional and presentation currency (a) DEERZEZIE
Items included in the financial statements of each of REBEER VSRR
the Group's entities are measured using the currency FIIEE - HUZEREEE
of the primary economic environment in which the BRERE 2 S8 ([TheEE
entity operates (“the functional currency”). The ¥ E - A TREN
consolidated financial statements are presented in FRARE(TARK]) 2
Chinese Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the Company’s 5 AR AR FRI)EE
functional and the Group’s presentation currency. EENAEBERTIREE -

(b) Transactions and balances b) XKZREEH

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised
in the income statement, except when deferred in
equity as qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying net
investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are
presented in the income statement within ‘finance
income or cost’. All other foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in the income statement within
‘other losses — net.’

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities
denominated in a foreign currency classified as
available-for-sale are analysed between translation
differences resulting from changes in the amortised
cost of the security, and other changes in the carrying
amount of the security. Translation differences related
to changes in the amortised cost are recognised in
profit or loss, and other changes in carrying amount
are recognised in equity.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit or
loss as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial assets such as
equities classified as available-for-sale are included in
the fair value reserve in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Are TSR M At

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2. FESFHBEME2)
2.4  Foreign currency translation (continued) 24 HNEHBRE(E)
() Group companies (c) ZEELRE]

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised
as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment in
foreign operations, and of borrowings and other
currency instruments designated as hedges of such
investments, are taken to shareholders’ equity. When
a foreign operation is sold, exchange differences that
were recorded in equity are recognised in the income
statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate.
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Nﬁotes to t:}ge Con§plidated Financial Statements
A SRR

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.5
C))

(b)

Property, plant and equipment

Construction-in-progress

Construction-in-progress, representing buildings on
which construction work has not been completed and
machinery pending installation, is stated at historical
cost, which includes construction expenditures
incurred, cost of machinery, and other direct costs
capitalised during the construction and installation
period, less accumulated impairment losses, if any. No
depreciation is provided in respect of construction-in-
progress until the construction and installation work
is completed. On completion, the construction-in-
progress is transferred to appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment.

Other property, plant and equipment

Other property, plant and equipment is stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items. Cost may also include transfers from equity
of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges
of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and
equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
are expensed in the income statement during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on other property, plant and equipment
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
cost or revalued amounts less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings

Plant and machinery

Leasehold improvements
Office furniture and equipment

30 to 40 years
5 to 15 years
5 to 10 years
5 to 10 years

Motor vehicles 5 to 10 years

2. TESHHESER

25 ME-BERRE
@ #EZLE
ER TR RTRIEETIE

(b)

ZEFRRRER M - &
AN - BREMELZZ
R - B A Mg AR
RRAREMERTEAZE
BRA - BEMRERES
B(E) - BERZETK
Al - TERAER TRELN
EoREikly  ERTES
BRERBZYE  BEEXR
AR -

H¥x - BEE&RETR
FE Se AR AR AT & KR B & 1R
SR o FE SR A BIEUEEIR
BEREEZRAX ° AT
A EREREES . EHY
X BEEREINERER
BZREBRREeREMEL
ZE A Es B

EfESIEH R 2 A REHE
eSS )i NNCIDN e
ASEMEEHIEE A ZIE
AT BERRAT AR
EREEXERRBILEE
(HEM) - FTAEEMmEER
REREEEMBAREAEK
RIS

Ht¥x - BELREAR
BOBRTEITE - AR
ERFHN RSB R
BEME - EFFAIERFH
o

BgF 30E404F
55 K 2s 55154
AEwEEE 5ZE 104
N ERF

B 5Z 104
e 5% 104

ANNUAL REPORT 2008

—TTNEER




Nﬁotes to t@e Congplidated Financial Statements
A SRR

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2. FESFHBEME#)
2.5 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 25 YE BERREE)
(b) Other property, plant and equipment (continued) (b) EHm%E - wELEEE)
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are REEE B ST A (M
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance HR)BEECHRERAEA
sheet date. GHY o

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 2.7).

HEEZIRMEBBHE G
Al eS8 - BIEEZIRE
EREENE R ZE B A Yk El £ 58
(PfE2.7) o

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are REEMEE @ ERERA
recognised within ‘other losses — net’ in the income Wl HEMEE — 258 | h e
statement. Ao

HE BB EMGHKIAR

2.6 Intangible assets 2.6
(@) Research and development
Research expenditure is recognised as an expense
as incurred. Costs incurred on development projects
(relating to the design and testing of new or improved
products) are recognised as intangible assets when
the following criteria are fulfilled:

B/EEE

@) HIIHEREIZRHA
W FE B AN TR EE A s 51 A B
X o BRRRGET - REAH
HEmMKAREmZFER
B B AN FE AR A E am P B A AN
S0 PAT R R 1R FERR

EEm AR
(i) itis technically feasible to complete the intangible (i) FEHT ER] ek A R
asset so that it will be available for use or sale; FEE - el HfE Bk
e
(i) management intends to complete the intangible iy BIEEA BT ER
asset and use or sell it; NN EEBEFEE ;
(iii) there is an ability to use or sell the intangible (i) AIfEAKEERRBER
asset; BE
(iv) it can be demonstrated how the intangible asset (ivy BHEBEFEEAR

will generate probable future economic benefits; A B ESLERN R

(v) adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell
the intangible asset are available; and

(vi) the expenditure attributable to the intangible
asset during its development can be reliably
measured.
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Nﬁotes to t:}ge Con§plidated Financial Statements
A SRR

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2. FESFHBEME#)
2.6 Intangible assets (continued) 26 EBREEE)
(a) Research and development costs (continued) (a) HEREFZELA(E)

Other development expenditures that do not meet BE@ERM FEAI1TEA

these criteria are recognised as an expense as EEKAE - WHAEMT

incurred. Development costs previously recognised BIR - AREKAST] & 3 Al &

as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a B EFEREEE®

subsequent period. MR BEREFSEENZ - 2
Al T 58 43 B =2 9 7 B AR A
eRERHBERAEE -

Capitalised development costs are recorded as ZEREXRNAERBEE -

intangible assets and amortised from the point at BRESRFIERLFERBERNE

which the asset is ready for use on a straight-line basis o URBEEERHIE

over a period of five years. Sk {8 FR B HA R AR B A48 B M 2
ZHERRE o

Development assets are tested for impairment RAEEESRERB2E

annually, in accordance with HKAS 36. B36&FF RIFRE °

(b) Patents and technical know-how (b) EFIEREFIFT

Expenditure on acquired patents and technical know- B A\ B K E PRl BT EE

how is capitalised and amortised using the straight- XTI ESE - IREG

line method over its estimated useful life of 5 years, sHRME A FE S F (B Al {E

from the date when the patents and technical know- iy == Rk K EH PSRt B Ef

how is available for use. RBET) T ABE A L K8 o

2.7 Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, associates 27 MEBAR -BEARARIEME

and non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or are not yet
available for use are not subject to amortisation and are
tested annually for impairment. Assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each
reporting date.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2. FESFHBEME#)
2.8 Financial assets 28 SREE
2.8.1 Classification 2.8.1 ##E
The Group classifies its financial assets in the REEBESMEED S
following categories: at fair value through profit RBUATHER : RATESE
or loss, loans and receivable and available-for-sale. BEDEER  BERRER

The cla
the fin
determ

ssification depends on the purpose for which
ancial assets were acquired. Management
ine the classification of its financial assets at

initial recognition.

(a)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are financial assets held for trading.
A financial asset is classified in this category
if acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the short term. Derivatives are also
categorised as held for trading unless they
are designated as hedges. Assets in this
category are classified as current assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for maturities greater than 12 months
after the balance sheet date. These are
classified as non-current assets. The Group's
loans and receivables comprise’ trade and
other receivables’ in the balance sheet (Note
2.11).

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other
categories. They are included in non-current
assets unless management intends to dispose
of the investment within 12 months of the
balance sheet date.
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Nﬁotes to t:}ge Con§plidated Financial Statements
A SRR

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2. FESFHBEME#)
2.8  Financial assets (continued) 28 SRMEEE)
2.8.2 Recognition and measurement 2.8.2 MERRi=E

Regular purchases and sales of investments are
recognised on the trade-date — the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs for all financial assets not carried
at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially
recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are
expensed in the income statement. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the investments have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
Available for-sale financial assets are subsequently
carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss’ category are presented in the income
statement within ‘other losses — net’, in the
period in which they arise. Dividend income from
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is
recognised in the income statement as part of other
income when the Group’s right to receive payments
is established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities
denominated in a foreign currency and classified as
available-for-sale are analysed between translation
differences resulting from changes in amortised cost
of the security and other changes in the carrying
amount of the security. The translation differences
are recognised in profit or loss, and other changes in
carrying amount are recognised in equity. Changes
in the fair value of monetary securities classified
as available-for-sale and non-monetary securities
classified as available-for-sale are recognised in
equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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TESHTHEBE )

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2.

2.8 Financial assets (continued) 28 S@REEE)
2.8.2 Recognition and measurement (continued) 2.82 RN E(E)
When securities classified as available-for-sale ROEAIHEEFSRE
are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value HESRE - ERERE
adjustments recognised in equity are included in R BT A TFEFAEKS

the income statement as ‘gains and losses from
investment securities’. Interest on available-for-
sale securities calculated using the effective interest
method is recognised in the income statement.
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments
are recognised in the income statement when the
Group's right to receive payment is established.

The fair values of quoted investments are based
on current bid prices. If the market for a financial
asset is not active (and for unlisted securities), the
Group establishes fair value by using valuation
techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s
length transactions, reference to other instruments
that are substantially the same, discounted cash
flow analysis, and option pricing models, making
maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as
possible on entity specific inputs.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date
whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. In
the case of equity securities classified as available
for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of the security below its cost is considered
an indicator that the security is impaired. If any such
evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets,
the cumulative loss — measured as the difference
between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that financial
asset previously recognised in the income statement
— is removed from equity and recognised in the
income statement. Impairment losses recognised in
the income statement on equity instruments are not
reversed through the income statement. Impairment
testing of trade receivables is described in Note 2.11.
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A SRR

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2. FESFHBEME#)
2.9 Derivative financial instruments and hedging 29 {TEEmIA

activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at their fair value. The method of recognising
the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative
is designed as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature
of the item being hedged. The Group designates certain
derivatives as hedges of a particular risk associated with a
recognised liability or a highly probable forecast transaction
(cash flow hedge).

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction
the relationship between hedging instruments and
hedged items, as well as its risk management objectives
and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions.
The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge
inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the
derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly
effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows
of hedged items.

The fair values of various derivative instruments used for
hedging purposes are disclosed in Note 21. Movements
on the hedging reserve in shareholders’ equity are shown
in Note 17. The full fair value of a hedging derivative
is classified as a non-current asset or liability when the
remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than
12 months, and as a current asset or liability when the
remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12
months. Trading derivatives are classified as a current asset
or liability.

(@) Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash
flow hedges are recognised in equity. The gain or
loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in the income statement within ‘other
losses — net'.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Derivative financial instruments and hedging
activities (continued)

2.9

2.10

(@)

(b)

Cash flow hedge (continued)

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the
income statement in the periods when the hedged
item affects profit or loss (for example, when the
forecast sale that is hedged takes place). The gain or
loss relating to the effective portion of interest rate
swaps hedging variable rate borrowings is recognised
in the income statement within ‘finance costs’. The
gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is
recognised in the income statement within ‘other
losses — net’. However, when the forecast transaction
that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-
financial asset (for example, inventory or fixed assets),
the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are
transferred from equity and included in the initial
measurement of the cost of the asset. The deferred
amounts are ultimately recognised in cost of goods
sold in the case of inventory, or in depreciation in the
case of fixed assets.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or
when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge
accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in
equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised
when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised
in the income statement. When a forecast transaction
is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain
or loss that was reported in equity is immediately
transferred to the income statement within ‘other
losses — net'.

Derivatives at fair value through profit or loss and
accounted for at fair value through profit or loss

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for
hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of these
derivative instruments are recognised immediately in
the income statement within 'other losses — net’.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. The cost of finished goods and work
in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other
direct costs and related production overheads (based on
normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.11

2.12

2.13

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
A provision for impairment of trade and other receivables
is established when there is objective evidence that the
Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according
to the original terms of the receivables. Significant financial
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or
delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the
trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the
assets is reduced through the use of an allowance account,
and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income
statement within administrative expenses. When a trade
receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited against
administrative expenses in the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits
held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within
borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s
equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration
paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs
(net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable
to the Company’s equity holders until the shares are
cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly
attributable incremental transaction costs and the related
income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the
Company’s equity holders.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.14

Trade payables

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2.
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2.15 Borrowings 2.15 B
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of ERNTHEAFEHNGRITEEZ
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently RGRKATER o (BN E1B T8
measured at amortised cost; any difference between the BRAGTE - FTEHRE(EHBRRZ S
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption A ) M B BEEME 2 E =R
value is recognised in the income statement over the period & E AR A BB M = E Rz 7=
of the borrowings using the effective interest method. NIER °
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are RN B R EhE B Y AR B A W ER
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent ek 2 I rE S 2R A A fEI
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be B ZBRAEZEAREEZEER
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the REVA IE - 1R A 155 5
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that 2 REKERE ATREIE
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn B AlizBBRERNBIEAR
down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity B RBOFEMNK - WikE #ER
services and amortised over the period of the facility to EHE Y
which it relates.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the B IEAN & [ B E M (SR R IR T
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of BEBERZHEEEEAERD
the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet +-@A  BAERELEAER
date. FafE o

2.16 Current and deferred income tax 2.16 EHRIEZFREBH

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
equity.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the company’s
subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.16

Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the financial statements. However, the deferred income
tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance
sheet date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income
tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates, except
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Employee benefits

(i)  Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the balance
sheet date. Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time of
the leave.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.17 Employee benefits (continued)

(if)

(ii)

Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based
compensation plan. The fair value of the employee
services received in exchange for the grant of the
options is recognised as an expense. The total amount
to be expensed over the vesting period is determined
by reference to the fair value of the options granted,
excluding the impact of any non-market vesting
conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth
targets). Non-market vesting conditions are included
in assumptions about the number of options that are
expected to vest. At each balance sheet date, the
entity revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest. It recognises the impact of
the revision of original estimates, if any, in the income
statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable
transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal
value) and share premium when the options are
exercised.

Pension obligations

Group companies operate various defined contribution
plans. The plans are generally funded through
payments to trustee-administered funds. A defined
contribution plan is a pension plan under which the
Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay
further contributions. The contributions are recognised
as employee benefit expense when they are due and
are not reduced by contributions forfeited by those
employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting
fully in the contributions. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund
or a reduction in the future payments is available.
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2.18 W=

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2.
2.18 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sale of goods in the ordinary
course of the Group's activities. Revenue is shown, net of
value-added tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after
eliminating sales within the Group. Revenue is recognised as
follow:

(@) Sales of goods

W BENAKER T XKBR
FHEEmDBHNERKEZR
FE - ERMRBER - RE -
(EEAPYEIEIRNP L & JENAE:S
EREES - Wa IR TIER
R

@) HEEm
&=

Sales of goods are recognised when a group entity HEERREEEERR
has delivered products to the customer, the customer PRXNER MBEFEEEMN
has accepted the products and collectibility of the BEAER  W2EERKE

related receivables is reasonably assured.

(b) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion
basis using the effective interest method. When a
receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying
amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated
future cash flow discounted at the original effective
interest rate of the instrument, and continues
unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest
income on impaired loans is recognised using the
original effective interest rate.

1ERE PR YR IR RS HERR,

(b) FIEHA
MEBWATI B ERN TR
IR L | MR - 1M/
WHRIRHERE  A&ES
7% R T (B R = E A U @ 5
7 ARt AR IR R
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2.19 Operating leases 2.19 KREED
Leases in which a significant portion the risks and rewards B EHEARE 2 K35 Bk & E R
of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as DELBEARE 2HBL  —#7
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases BIRETHL o RIBFKSHA
(net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged ZREBEHREHBAREER
to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the BH - WHEENHEEBRE IR
period of the lease. RHR ©
Land use rights THEFARE
The up-front prepayments made for the land use rights are =+ b {5 FA 2 BT HAFE S FRIE S R
capitalised on the balance sheet and are expensed in the HABBERNUNEREERZERA
income statement on a straight-line basis over the period Mg sk ERE - REER
of the lease or where there is impairment, the impairment is W R A - RBAEFE - £
expensed in the income statement. H {5 FRAE TR B AN R R ETRUE S
2.20 Dividend distribution 220 BEDIK

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group's financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the
Company’s shareholders.
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3.

Financial risk management

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s financial assets include cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other receivables. The Group’s
financial liabilities include borrowings, trade and other
payables and derivative financial instruments.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, fair
value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance. These risks
are limited by the Group’s financial management policies
and practices described below.

(@) Credit risk
The Group has policies in place to ensure that liquid
funds are placed with renowned financial institutions
registered in Mainland China and Hong Kong. Sales
of products are made to customers with appropriate
credit history. The Group performs credit evaluations
on its customers.

Trade receivables are due within three months from
the date of billing. As at 31 December 2008, 91.0%
of the total trade receivables was due within three
months (2007: 90.0%).

As at 31 December 2008, the five largest customers
accounted for 34% of the trade receivables carrying
amount (2007: 33%).

The maximum exposure to credit risk represents the
carrying amounts of trade receivables in the balance
sheet.

Quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables
are set out in Note 13.
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3.  Financial risk management (continued) 3. HXERERE)
3.1  Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 H¥EBREERE)
(b) Liquidity risk (b) wEEZRER
The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity AEEWMERZEHERR
requirements and its compliance with lending FELTNK  URERERFE

covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group’s
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based
on rates current at the balance sheet date) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

BRI AR E - AR
T—rﬁ%ﬁﬂ’]fﬁﬁfaﬁﬁ Gilis¥
SIEZoRmEEAERER
5”79’]1%J5H§$ LA s 2 55 HA
MEBRANTEBESHK °

TR TAEENSRE
EREE BB LRIRER
/i\fnbi(@%%hlﬁa/*\i’]?ﬁju
F(MEEBHE)EER

ﬁfo'quJr;tEl’Jﬂé'\ﬁm)
MRS E A g Z 1 A &
FHHRENFERE L FH

EV
Total
contractual More More
undiscounted Within than than
cash flow 1 year 1year 2 years
EHE oron butlessthan but less than
Carrying  MRER  demand 2years Syears  More than
amount MRE  —ErE -E% k-3 5 years
The Group 158 FEE  fE8E BEBNE BTIRE (TR bik:2 )
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETr ARETR AR%Tr ARETn ARETx
At 31 December 2008 RZZENETZA=1-H
Borrowings f&E 345,475 361,302 127,495 127,112 101,662 5033
Derivative financial instruments fE2BIE 5,014 5,014 - - 5,014 -
Trade payables and bills payables NS5 REREE 69,764 69,764 69,764 - - -
Accruals and other payables T ERRA MR 20,558 20,558 20,558 - - -
At 31 December 2007 S g s el
Borrowings f&E 156,393 172,475 106,033 3,284 57,499 5,659
Derivative financial instruments ESHTIA 37,837 37,837 37,837 = = =
Trade payables and bills payables ENRSEARENER 54,890 54,890 54,890 - - -
Accruals and other payables BB R AR 25813 25813 25813 = = =
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3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)
(c) Cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market
interest rates as the Group has no significant interest-
bearing assets. The Group’s exposure to changes
in interest rates is mainly attributable to its bank
borrowings. Bank borrowings at variable rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk. Bank
borrowings at fixed rates expose the Group to fair
value interest-rate risk. Details of the Group’s bank
borrowings have been disclosed in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Group analyses
its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis and
to hedge its variable rate by fixed rate instruments,
when necessary. Various scenarios are simulated
taking into consideration refinancing, renewal of
existing positions, alternative financing and hedging.
Based on the various scenarios, the Group manages
its cash flow interest rate risk by using floating-to-
fixed interest rate swaps. Such interest rate swaps
have the economic effect of converting borrowings
from floating rates to fixed rates. Generally, the
Group raises long-term borrowings at floating rates
and swaps them into fixed rates. Under the interest
rate swaps, the Group agrees with other parties
to exchange, at specified intervals (primarily semi-
annually), the difference between fixed contract
rates and floating-rate interest amounts calculated by
reference to the agreed notional amounts.

During 2008 and 2007, the Group's borrowings at
variable rate were denominated in United States
dollars (“USD"), RMB and Hong Kong dollars (“HKD").
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3.  Financial risk management (continued) 3. BREREER®)
3.1  Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 H¥EBREZRZE)
(c) Cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk (continued) (0 Hx s R INFEF=XER
(#&
It is estimated that a general increase/decrease of R-ZZEENF+_A=1+—
100 basis points as at 31 December 2008 in bank B - G RITE RO F X
borrowing interest rates for bank loans with all other AR _EFF TN ER 100 (8 E %
variables held constant would decrease/increase the 2 MRFEHEMEERE
profit after taxation by approximately RMB3,121,000 T8 BRE®RABERD
(2007: 50 basis points; RMB613,000). H#AN493,121,000 7T A R #
(ZZT+F  SOEEES
613,000TTARE) -
The sensitivity analysis above has been determined i RRESTMHEEE R
assuming that the change in interest rates had RS ELEE R B L
occurred at the balance sheet date and had been £ WHEREZBERRE
applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for non BIFENTE 2 B T A A F R R,
derivative financial instruments in existence at that @A _E o
date.
(d) Foreign exchange risk (d) SMES Bz

The Group mainly operates in Mainland China with
most of the transactions settled in RMB. Foreign
exchange rate risk arises when future commercial
transactions or recognised assets and liabilities are
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s
functional currency.

The Group's assets and liabilities, and transactions
arising from its operations primarily do not expose
to material foreign exchange risk. Other than
certain trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
borrowings and derivative financial instruments
denominated in USD and HKD, details of which
have been disclosed in Note 13, Note 15, Note 18
and Note 21 respectively, the Group's assets and
liabilities are primarily denominated in RMB. Other
than approximately 31% (2007: 33%) of the sales are
denominated in USD and certain expenses in HKD, the
Group mainly generates RMB from sales in Mainland
China to meet its liabilities denominated in RMB. The
Group has not used any forward contracts as the cost-
benefit is considered not effective. The Group has
used foreign currency bank borrowings to minimize its
exposure on foreign exchange risk.

AEEETBRETEAMBEE
X o ARBEXRIORS
BERBEHUAFEARSE
BH - BERRBERRHAUE
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3.

88

Financial risk management (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1

3.2

(d)

(e)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

RMB experienced certain appreciation in recent years
which is the major reason for the exchange losses
arised from operating activities and exchange gain
arised from financing activities recognised by the
Group for the years ended 31 December 2008 and
2007. Further depreciation or appreciation of USD
and HKD against RMB will affect the Group’s financial
position and results of operations.

A 5% strengthening/weakening RMB against USD
and HKD as at the respective balance sheet dates
would increase/decrease profit after taxation by
approximately RMB8,564,000 (2007: RMB162,000)
and decrease/increase profit after taxation by
approximately RMB710,000 (2007: RMB287,000)
respectively, mainly as a result of foreign exchange
gain/loss on translation of USD denominated bank
borrowings and foreign exchange loss/gain on
translation of HKD denominated cash and cash
equivalents.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk
because certain investments held by the Group are
classified as available-for-sale financial assets. As the
amount of such financial assets is not material to the
Group, the exposure to price risk is considered to be
insignificant.

Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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3.  Financial risk management (continued) 3. BREREER®)
3.2 Capital risk management (continued) 3.2 E£sEREE(E)
Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors HERNEMAT—1F @ AEFEF]
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is FEELREREERN o =R
calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt RRES FHERNBEERGTHE -
is calculated as total borrowings (including current and B FEAAEE(BEGAEE
non-current borrowings as shown in the consolidated BERXRMYIAENHI R IEENERE )
balance sheet) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital BERERREEEY - BEXR
is calculated as “equity”, as shown in the consolidated BlIEZ |(NGEEERBXRA
balance sheet, plus net debt. HI) INERFEE o
During 2008, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged AREEE-_ZT/\FHRKE_
from 2007, was to maintain the debt equity ratio to be in ST FEHREETE - AN
a net cash position. The net cash amounts at 31 December Ba B REZEFIHESKE
2008 and 2007 were as follows: E_ZEEN\FR_ZEELF+=
A=+—H " FRez&EN
T~
2008 2007
—E2EBN\F —EE+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TF T ARETTT
Total borrowings (Note 18) wEa(fiEE18) (345,475) (156,393)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RekReEEY
(Note 15) (M45E15) 386,619 275,226
Net cash FRE 41,144 118,833
The decrease in the net cash position during 2008 resulted —EENFFEREKIBEEE
primarily from the capital expenditure in the construction HARKNMEERERTERFR
of a new production plant and the product development BN 2 ERMERAT
cost for new products.
3.3  Fair value estimation 3.3 A¥EM4E

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading
and available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted market
prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted market price
used for financial assets held by the Group is the current
bid price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market (for example, over-the counter derivatives)
is determined by using valuation techniques. The Group
uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are
based on market conditions existing at each balance sheet
date. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar
instruments are used for long-term debt.

AREEMATANETEAH
HEELFERERMBEELZS
BMTAAFEREERRDER
BFftE - AEEMBERMEEMR
AMSRELRITEAEL -

BIMTET ASLIRNART S
BEEZERMT AR FENAMGE
AEE - ARBRBESENER
RIESEEHERRTMRIELZ A
R& - RHEBERAELUTAZ
MGHREXR HERE -
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IN=RE R Eadi

3.

Financial risk management (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade
receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their
fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure
purpose is estimated by discounting the future contractual
cash flows at the current market interest rate that is
available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

4.1  Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(@) Estimated useful lives of property, plant and
equipment
The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions. It could change significantly as a result
of technical innovations and competitor actions in
response to market conditions. Management will
increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are
less than previously estimated lives, or it will write-off
or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold.

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
s TEEER AR

3.

BKERERE)

3.3 A¥EMAEE)
FE U 22 B iR 3R K PR S &R %E%Z
AEHNRREREREEEAF
BEEE - EARLEEN @A
BEATFEMNHFTIEARELNRS
MEAASEBBEUSHTAAS
RIERE T IHFRARTE -

X B R

AR BRI 1 AT B I H A B R BT
et RAEEL R - BEREZER
MIBERBEZRREETEA -

41 EXREFEFRER
NG BRI B R AF b AT R A
- IS et EERRERRED
FRNBEERER - AT AW
Mz EEt RBREFAEYH T — @R
BEEEENBBEREEENE
AFEZEARR -

@) WY=FE - BERREZ G
FEH
AEBERBETHEYE
TR Ko st 2 ft &t R A 4R 1
RRTERX - BHMAE
BRLUMEE RINEZ M -
55 K&t 2 BER A R4 H
MBEERTE  HEER
MEEHEHEFHFRED
SRS H B e IR E R
g o ZRAIHFHOREH
Bt FH - EIEERIE T
BRI - S SR R
REZFEXERZEILE
ZIERBEE -



Notes to the Con§plidated Financial Statements
A SRR

4. Critical accounting estimates and judgements 4. EBRETHEATTR¥EE 2
(continued)
4.1  Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 41 EAEHEFARBRE)

(continued)

(b) Estimated impairment of intangible assets, inventories b) #EEE  GFEREKLS
and trade receivables V3 e ) =]
The Group makes provision for impairment of AEBREBEEFEE 8
intangible assets, inventories and trade receivables K EW R 50k =% 2 A Y [0
based on an assessment of the recoverability of FEREH 25 4 0 mER
intangible assets, inventories and trade receivables. BE - FEMEKRRZ SRR
Provisions are applied to intangible assets, inventories EH R EREE - WHIREIR
and trade receivables where events or changes in BN EEmBERT—Ef
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be WEI R » BEERNE
recoverable. The identification of impairment requires FEEE FEREKRR SR
the use of judgement and estimates. Where the o B BIRIEZRE B H T &
expectation is different from the original estimate, fHEr - (WHEESBARRER
such difference will impact the carrying value of FIEE ElEEETEMN
intangible assets, inventories and trade receivables BEHREHHEELEE -
and provision for impairment in the period in which FERERRZZIRRZIRE
such estimate has been changed. VAR BRRURL BB A o

(0  Income taxes (c) FifE#
The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong AREBZEEFEMPEK
Kong and Mainland China. Significant judgement PERMAT ST - TEER
is required in determining the provision for income RET ST B R - FE
taxes. There are many transactions and calculations HERHE - £ REKS
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain EHR - BHERSGMGEM
during the ordinary course of business. The Group W R RS E BT
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues HWER - AEEREBEHESR
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will EEHNEEINL KA EET
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters MBS ETEEERA
is different from the amounts that were initially B N EEHNERTE
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax BREZYLEHESED
and deferred tax provisions in the period in which [ HEEBESZEERL
such determination is made. LT R TSR
THEE o
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5.

B BEHRR M T

Turnover and segment information 5. SHEERIHESR

(@) Turnover (a) HE&XE
The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing AEBEFERENARARERR
of fine chemicals from natural resources for use in aroma EEMIEESR  UEARFSHLE

(b)

chemicals and pharmaceutical products and the trading
of natural materials and fine chemicals. Turnover for the

m&RBEEMARBEBERARE
REACEm - AEEEXFEE

Group represents revenue from sale of goods. RHEESmMEE Z N4 -
2008 2007
ZBENF —ET+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AREFT
Sale of goods HESm
(net of value-added tax) (BFHIBFEER) 739,973 612,159
Segment information (b) HER

Primary reporting format — business segqment
As at 31 December 2008, the Group is organised into two
main business segments:

(1) manufacturing and selling of fine chemicals; and

(2) trading of natural materials and fine chemicals.

The segment results for the year ended 31 December 2008

EEE_:E#WJJ_IT 7%7“”*
$%@ ﬁﬂﬁﬁix%ﬁ% D Ep

(1) £EEMBEEREEER: &

2 BEEXRARHEBHALE

Enuﬂ

RE-FT/\E+-A=+-8

are as follows: WFEz DI EEWNT ¢
Manufacturing Trading Total
EE BE st
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETT AR¥ T ARET T
Turnover e 630,694 109,279 739,973
Operating profit A | 154,974 887 155,861
Unallocated corporate expenses RO ARIRX (15,116)
Finance costs — net BE KA — FEE (6,776)
Profit before income tax % TS %% B i ) 133,969
Income tax expense S iR (19,513)
Profit for the year F (A 7l 114,456

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
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Are TSR M At

5. Turnover and segment information (continued) 5. SHEREKIHERE)
(b) Segment information (continued) (b) oHBERE)

Primary reporting format — business segment (continued) FEZ f/ﬁ T — S E(E)

The segment results for the year ended 31 December 2007 HEZZTZ+LF+=-A=+—H
are as follows: JJ:EJ*Z“*B%Z LU

Manufacturing Trading Total
HE B5E #Et
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARET T ARETT

Turnover R 545,094 67,065 612,159

Operating profit | 147,192 2,892 150,084

Unallocated corporate expenses APOBEARRX (9,965)
Finance costs — net &R AR FEE (2,071)
Profit before income tax 5% TS %% Bl e ) 138,048

Income tax expense FriSfim X (7,514)
Profit for the year F @ F 130,534

Other segment items included in the income statement are SFAREZRZEM D EEE @

as follows: S ¢

Manufacturing Trading
EE B5E
2008 2007 2008 2007

—BENF  ZTTLF SBENF ZTTLHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETT AR%¥TR ARBTL

Depreciation (Note 7) wE(FE7) 21,170 11,545 9% 103
Amortisation (Notes 6 and 8) B (HizreR8) 5,227 2,442 - -
Impairment of intangible assets s EERAEHES)

(Note 8) 5,412 1,664 - =
Provision for impairment of GFEREEE

inventories (Note 12) (MtzE12) 6,656 160 5 8
Provision for/(reversal of) U AR 5 1R ZURME

impairment of B/ (&)

trade receivables (Note 13) (Bft5E13) 51 632 (29) 16
Provision for impairment of H At EURR B R s

other receivables (Note 14) (BizE14) 3,000 - - -
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T A

5.

B BEHRR M T

Turnover and segment information (continued) 5.
(b) Segment information (continued)
Primary reporting format — business segment (continued)

The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2008
and capital expenditure for the year then ended are as

HEBER T HERE)

(b)

DEER (&)

Izszﬁﬁft B ()
R-FBENFF+-_A=t—HZ
BERAEDHMARBEZA L

follows: FEZERNFAZWAT :
Manufacturing Trading Unallocated Total
£E =4 ROBR et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTRT AR®TR AR%®TR AR%®Tx
Assets EE 790,027 3,650 423,983 1,217,660
Liabilities = 131,690 9,372 327,626 468,688
658,337 (5,722) 96,357 748,972

Capital expenditure BEARFX

(Notes 6, 7 and 8) (BifsE6 ~ 75%8) 87,845 91 - 87,936

The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2007
and capital expenditure for the year then ended are as

RIBEZLFE+-_A=+—HZ
BENBEDHBANBEZA L

follows: FREZERFAZAT
Manufacturing Trading Unallocated Total
HE BE AHBC HET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETRT AR®BTT ARETT
Assets &E 633,567 10,118 307,384 951,069
Liabilities BfE 125,091 1,811 160,360 287,262
508,476 8,307 147,024 663,807

Capital expenditure BARz

(Notes 6, 7 and 8) (BifsE6 ~ 7X8) 147,874 19 — 147,893

Segment assets consist primarily of land use rights,

property, plant and equipment,

intangible assets,

inventories and receivables. Segment liabilities comprise
operating liabilities. They exclude items such as cash and
cash equivalents, taxation and corporate borrowings.
Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant
and equipment (Note 7), land use rights (Note 6), and

intangible assets (Note 8).

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
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5. Turnover and segment information (continued) 5. HEEKkIHER®E)
(b) Segment information (continued) (b) oHBERE)

AREZ2H 7= — i 5 &
AEBMAEB AN =EEE

Secondary reporting format — geographical segment
The Group's two business segments operate in three main

geographical areas. AR o
2008 2007
—EEN\E —TELF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETIT
Turnover e
— Mainland China — A 509,424 411,054
— Europe — B 117,290 99,912
- Asia — oM
(excluding Mainland China) (PR B AR II) 82,295 64,255
— Others — =i 30,964 36,938
739,973 612,159

HERDREFAERE BXR

Sales are allocated based on the places/countries in which

customers are located. DB °
2008 2007
—EENE —TETLF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ T ARETIT

Total assets BERE

— Mainland China — A 5] (A 1,145,388 899,938
- Hong Kong — &5 70,039 48,872
— Unallocated —RHH 2,233 2,259
1,217,660 951,069

BERETREEMEMIE -

Total assets are allocated based on where the assets are
located.

HRAEERAT D EARFH
URPEA s EEESE - Bt
BEWREAF R

No geographical analysis of capital expenditure is presented
as substantially all of the Group’s capital expenditure was
incurred in respect of assets located in Mainland China.
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B BEHRR M T

Land use rights — Group

The Group’'s interests in land use rights represent prepaid
operating lease payments and their net book values are analysed as
follows:

T EARE-RE
REER LR ERERAEE
BAOFE - RIREFEANMOT :

2008 2007
—EENF —ET+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
In Mainland China, held on REBRH - #£10E504
Leases of between 10 to 50 years 8,631 8,741

As at 31 December 2007, land use right with a carrying amount of
RMB2,441,000 were pledged to bank for borrowings.

R_EEL+FE+_A=+—H ' ~5E
IREE?2, 441 ,0007C A R ¥ 7 £ Hb{F FA 4
FERTEZRE -

2008 2007

—EENF T LF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT R ARETT

Opening net book amount FEHIREFE 8,741 8,851

Amortisation of prepaid operating B ETE R EHAOTRIE

lease payments (Note 24) (Ff5E24) (110) (110)
Closing net book amount B AR IR R (B 8,631 8,741

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
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7. Property, plant and equipment - Group 7. V¥ BEERXRE-£H
Leasehold
improvements,
office furniture
and equipment
Plant and HEME Motor  Construction-
Buildings ~ machinery £ BAE vehicles  in-progress Total
B  BERME  BAERRE at: HEIR &t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR  ARMTn  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARMTn = AR%TR

At 1 January 2007 R-2BtF-A-A

Cost N 57,304 138,398 5203 3,705 44,001 248,611

Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (7,277) (19,955) (2,632) (2,735) = (32,599)

Net book amount REFE 50,027 118,443 2,571 970 44,001 216,012
Year ended HZ-EZtE£4ZH

31 December 2007 =t-HLEFE

Opening net book amount FREFE 50,027 118,443 2,571 970 44,001 216,012

Additions AE - 468 3,749 120 128,474 132,811

Transfers EL 7 - 3,965 - - (3,965) -

Disposals (Note 32) th & (i 32) = (94) (242) = - (336)

Depreciation (Note 24) nE(HE24) (1,614) (8,966) (554) (514) - (11,648)

Closing net book amount FIRIREFE 48,413 113,816 5,524 576 168,510 336,839
At 31 December 2007 R-EEtE

t=A=1-H

Cost R 57,304 142,641 7,863 3,809 168,510 380,127

Accumulated depreciation ZiME (8,891) (28,825) (2,339) (3,233) - (43,288)

Net book amount REFE 48413 113,816 5,524 576 168,510 336,839
Year ended 31 December HE-ZZ\F+CR

2008 St-ALEE

Opening net book amount FMIREFE 48,413 113,816 5,524 576 168,510 336,839

Additions AE = 256 1,988 24 57,825 60313

Transfers EL S 55,729 117,872 - - (173,601) -

Disposals (Note 32) & (F13E32) - - 1) (47) = (68)

Depreciation (Note 24) HE(f24) (2,729) (16,902) (1,145) (490) - (21,266)

Closing net book amount ERIREFE 101,413 215,042 6,346 283 52,734 375,818
At 31 December 2008 R=BENE

t=-A=t+-H

Cost KA 113,033 260,769 9,787 3,415 52,734 439,738

Accumulated depreciation 25thE (11,620) (45,727) (3,441) (3,132) - (63,920)

Net book amount REFE 101,413 215,042 6,346 283 52,734 375,818
The Group’s buildings including buildings under construction, rEB s EFEREEREFTE &
totalling RMB 112,038,000 (2007: RMB95,246,000) are built on 112,038,000 AR (=TT L5 :
pieces of land in Mainland China with lease terms of 50 years up 95,246,000 T AR ) » R P B AH
to December 2047, December 2048 and April 2054 respectively. Zig i - BFHES0F - DRIR=F

mtF+=—A —EPNF+_AKk=
ZRIUFEMAER °
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B BEHRR M T

Property, plant and equipment — Group (continued) 7. ¥¥ - BWERRZRE-E£8 &)

Depreciation expense of RMB18,099,000 (2007: RMB9,535,000) PEERHEF 18,099,000t ARKE(ZF
has been charged in “cost of goods sold”, RMB2,000 (2007: ZT L4 9,535,000t ARE)EICDEE
RMB2,000) in “selling and marketing costs” and RMB3,165,000 MR R EEE - 2,000tARKE(ZEE
(2007: RMB2,111,000) in “administrative expenses”. + 4 12,000t ARE)FAIHE K%

HERERAS | » 3,165,000 AR (==
T+ 1 2,111,0007c AR BIGFATTT

WER]H -
Analysis of construction-in-progress is: EREIETWAT
2008 2007
—EENF —EEAF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTR AREFT
Construction costs of buildings BFREXAR 10,625 46,833
Cost of leasehold improvements THE Y2 NS B RS A
and plant and machinery 42,109 121,677
52,734 168,510
Property, plant and equipment with a net book amount of MRS {E70,090,0007T A RE(ZEZT £
RMB70,090,000 (2007: RMB94,540,000) were pledged as % : 94,540,000C AR ) 2 M3% - KB
collateral for the Group'’s borrowings. RECERAEBEE AR -

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
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8. Intangible assets - Group 8. EFEE-£E
Patents and Product
technical development
know-how costs
ERER Em Total
5 A BB R AR st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AR¥T AR¥T
At 1 January 2007 R-ZBE+E—H—H
Cost [B#N 9,930 39,451 49,381
Accumulated amortisation BT (1,297) (18,823) (20,120)
Net book amount MR EFE 8,633 20,628 29,261
Year ended BE_ZTZT+F+_-H
31 December 2007 = EIEEE
Opening net book amount ERFIR T FHE 8,633 20,628 29,261
Additions INE 131 14,951 15,082
Amortisation (Note 24) o8 (fIEE24) (1,393) (939) (2,332)
Impairment (Note 24) A (H5E24) - (1,664) (1,664)
Closing net book amount HA A IR TR B 7,371 32,976 40,347
At 31 December 2007 R=BELF
+=—A=t+—8H
Cost AR 10,061 54,402 64,463
Accumulated amortisation RETHEE S SR E
and impairment (2,690) (21,426) (24,116)
Net book amount IR EEE 7,371 32,976 40,347
Year ended BE-—ZEZN\E+=A
31 December 2008 =t+—HIEE
Opening net book amount HA W) IR T H(E 7,371 32,976 40,347
Additions NE 2,100 25,523 27,623
Amortisation (Note 24) B (Mi5E24) (1,393) (3,724) (5,117)
Impairment (Note 24) B (MT5E24) (1,400) (4,012) (5,412)
Closing net book amount AR 3B 6,678 50,763 57,441
At 31 December 2008 R-EBENF
+=A=+—8H
Cost (D% 12,161 79,925 92,086
Accumulated amortisation RETEHE RORE
and impairment (5,483) (29,162) (34,645)
Net book amount MR B 6,678 50,763 57,441
Note: Bk -
(a) Amortisation of RMB5,117,000 (2007: RMB2,332,000) is included in (a) 5,117,000 T AR Z#E (T F :
administrative expenses in the income statement. 2,332,000t ARY ) Bt Al RITHE
AR -
(b) Impairment of RMB5,412,000 (2007: RMB1,664,000) is included in (b) 5,412,000 T AR ZRE(ZZZTLF :

1,664,0007T AR ) Bat A RITHE
AR -

administrative expenses in the income statement.
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RIBRRAZREREWHE2
BAIHIE - DA

9. Investments in and amounts due from 9.
subsidiaries - Company

2008 2007

—EENF —ETLF

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR¥T ARETIT

Unlisted investments, at cost JEETHIEE @ KA E 91,572 91,041
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NGB 509,671 243,808
601,243 334,849

FEMHBARREEERARE - I
EEEERS -

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured and non-interest
bearing, and have no fixed repayment terms.

Percentage of
equity interest

Place of attributable to
incorporation/ Issued and fully  the Group (a)
operation paid up capital REE
Name B3 A Principal activities BRTR PE{L R fE
A8 Fd-$ick TEXK BERAE AAt(a)
EcoGreen Fine Chemicals Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding US$95,000 100%
RERIES REEK 95,0003 7T
EcoGreen Fine Chemicals British Virgin Islands Investment holding US$1 100%
Manufacturing Limited KBRS REER (E0H
EcoGreen Fine Chemicals B.V. The Netherlands Sale of fine chemicals EUR18,000 100%
Gl HERM SR 18,0001 %
EcoGreen Holding B.V. The Netherlands Investment holding EUR18,000 100%
Gl | REZK 18,0001 2
EcoGreen Investments Limited Hong Kong Inactive HK$2 100%
RERAL TEEABR AR 35 UEE QBT
Sino Bright International Trading Hong Kong Inactive HK$10,000 100%
Limited & YLEXH 10,000/ 7T
KEERESBRAF
Doingcom International Limited Hong Kong Trading of HK$10,000 100%
R AR AT B8 fine chemicals 10,0007 7T
BEERBLEM
Xiamen Doingcom Biotechnology Mainland China Manufacturing of RMB50,000,000 100%
Co., Ltd. (b) el vNpau) fine chemicals 50,000,0007T,
EFF AR AR 28 (D) EERAEm ARE

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
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9. Investments in and amounts due from 9. RHBARZREREWKELQ
subsidiaries - Company (continued) RFIE - AR (#8)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are: MEBARZFBIT

Percentage of
equity interest

Place of attributable to
incorporation/ Issued and fully  the Group (a)
operation paid up capital REH
Name MR, Principal activities BRITR FEfE BR #E
Eg R B TEEK HERA H2t(a)
EEEIULEFR LR (b)) Mainland China Research and US$2,000,000 100%
(Shanghai Fine Chemicals B A i development of 2,000,000% 7T,
Company Limited) (b)(c) fine chemicals
KA ERA(LEn
Xiamen Doingcom Chemical Mainland China Manufacturing and RMB66,000,000 100%
Co., Ltd. (b) el vNpau) sale of fine chemicals 66,000,0007T
EFH L EFRAF(0) HEEMHEERBER AR
RERISHEES SBB2F)(0)0) Mainland China Sale of forestry products ~ RMB10,000,000 70%
(Chuxiong Zhongyi Forestry Trading R A HEMEER 10,000,0007T
Co. Ltd.) (b)(c) AR
Xiamen Doingcom Enterprise Mainland China Sale of fine chemicals RMB20,000,000 100%
Limited (b) B A HERAL 2R 20,000,0007T
EFHHE SERAR)(0) AR
Xiamen Hoozyn Life Chemistry Mainland China Research and US$1,400,000 100%
Technology Limited (b) R A development of 1,400,000% ¢
EFIAMRE(CEHE AR 2 F)(D) fine chemicals
MEKFEBALER
Xiamen Sinoloon Import and Mainland China Investment holding RMB7,000,000 100%
Export Co., Ltd. (b) AR B A and trading of 7,000,0007T
EFFREHDERAR fine chemicals AR
BRAFE(D) HERBEREE
Bt Em
Xiamen Sinotek Enterprise Mainland China Manufacturing and RMB20,000,000 100%
Development Co., Ltd. (b) el lvNpau) sale of fine chemicals 20,000,00071
EFREEEZEEERAF(D) HERHEREER AR
Zhangzhou Zhongyi Fine Mainland China Inactive US$1,509,330 100%
Chemicals Co., Ltd. (b) o B At EmEK 1,509,330% 1

BN ERAC TERARD)
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9. Investments in and amounts due from 9. MHMEBARZREREWMKEA
subsidiaries - Company (continued) AIRIE - RDF) (&)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are: (continued) WEAR ZBMT « (&)
Notes: Bt st
(a) The shares of EcoGreen Fine Chemicals Limited are held directly by the (a) EcoGreen Fine Chemicals Limited &0 B2
Company. The shares of other subsidiaries are held indirectly. NREERE @ BB AR KRG RIME
A o
(b) Xiamen Doingcom Chemical Co., Ltd. and Xiamen Doingcom Biotechnology (b) BRI BER AR REPTHHREDT
Co., Ltd. are sino-foreign owned enterprises established in Xiamen, Fujian BRBER AT EESR EEE BT
Province, Mainland China for a term of 20 years up to October 2017 and MZHPIEEBRE  REHA—TF - 5
July 2024 respectively. Shanghai Fine Chemicals Company Limited is a =T —+E+ARE_ZT_MFE+LH
wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Shanghai, Mainland China IFe EBBIEEERARARTERA
for a term of 35 years up to March 2040. Xiamen Doingcom Enterprise EEBTRIIZENERE  KEHA
Limited is a limited liability enterprise established in Xiamen, Fujian Province, =t+RE - -E-ENZTE=A It - BEfE
Mainland China for a term of 20 years up to June 2024. Xiamen Hoozyn Life BB SERATNARDBERNIEREEM
Chemistry Technology Limited, Xiamen Sinoloon Import and Export Co., Ltd. MK 2 EBRAR @ KEHAE=—+&F &
and Xiamen Sinotek Enterprise Development Co., Ltd. are wholly foreign “ENENAL - EFAMRELRERSE
owned enterprises established in Xiamen, Fujian Province, Mainland China [RAGE - BEFIFREHOGR AR REM
for a term of 10 years, 17 years and 20 years up to June 2012, April 2012 R ELRESRATNEARINELE
and July 2016, respectively. Chuxiong Zhongyi Forestry Trading Co., Ltd. ERBEAEEE BT - EEHS
is a limited liability enterprise established in Chuxiong, Yunnan Province, BATE  +HEER-_THF  HRE-Z
Mainland China for a term of 30 years up to March 2037. Zhangzhou ——HFRNA B —FOAR_ZT—X
Zhongyi Fine Chemicals Co., Ltd. is wholly foreign owned enterprise FLAL - BEFREAREZESETR 2N
established in Zhangzhou, Fujian Province, Mainland China for a term of 50 PEANEEEBETRILZERAT -
years up to April 2057. MR A=+ FE T+ F=AIt - &
MASBALTIERABAR—HE2INED
¥ - EREAMEREEMTKY - 8E
HAR+FE_TRA+FMAL -
(c) The English names of Shanghai Fine Chemcials Co., Ltd. and Chaxiong (©) LEEILEERATEBHEAMNEEZ S
Zhongyi Forestry Trading Co., Ltd. are for identification purpose only. BRATREX ZIBEMER o
10. Investment in an associate — Group 10. BEQAFRRE-KH
2008
= L%
RMB’000
AR®F T
At 1 January R—H—H -
Investment in an associate BtE N AR E 1,750
At 31 December nt+—_BA=+—8H 1,750
The associate is an unlisted company and has not commenced REBKREZBE AT A—BIELH
business. Particulars of the associate are as follows: nal - BARBHRBEMER  BE QA
ZEBWT
Place of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ Issued and fully interest attributable
Name operation Principal activities paid up capital to the Group
=1 AEMAR LR i B TEXEB ERTRAZRE FAEEREREESL
Jianyang Zhongtian Mainland China Manufacturing of RMB5,000,000 35%
Forestry Chemical AR A forestry chemicals 5,000,000
Co., Ltd. EEMEEm AR

ZE R RMEBERATF
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11. Available-for-sale financial assets — Group 1. IHEESREE-£E
2008 2007
—EENE ZEE+F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARETIT
At 1 January W—H—H 400 500
Disposals He - (100)
At 31 December WN+—B=+—H 400 400
Less: Non-current portion B IERBNEL (400) (400)

mENER D

Current portion

Available-for-sale financial assets are those unlisted equity
securities.

AHHESREE QI LHARAE

12. Inventories — Group 12. FE-KH

2008 2007
—EBENE T LF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
Raw materials B 36,036 28,184
Work-in-progress TFEE 1,976 996
Finished goods R B 45,953 17,475
83,965 46,655

Less: Provision for impairment W FERERE
of inventories (7,827) (1,166)
76,138 45,489

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included
in cost of goods sold amounted to RMB425,685,000 (2007:
RMB337,114,000).

BRERI M AELERKAZES
X 7K 5425,685,000C ARE( 22+
£ : 337,114,000t AR ©

The Group made a provision for impairment of inventories of AEBCEEHEERER 6,661,000

RMB6,661,000 (2007: RMB168,000). The amount has been TARE(ZZZF : 168,000t AR

included in cost of goods sold in the income statement. B o BB ARGEKRE L EmKA
A o
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13. Trade receivables - Group 13. EBUXZRAR-—KE
2008 2007
—EENF ZEE+F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARETIT
Trade receivables U Z SRR 194,112 167,737
Less: Provision for impairment W B SRR E R
of trade receivables (2,106) (2,084)
192,006 165,653

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair

values.

The credit period granted by the Group to its customers is
generally 60 to 90 days. The aging analysis of trade receivables is as

FEU 3 5 5 2R N SR A FAEAEE

REER %ﬁ%ffZFEHﬁJ fR60ZE90
R o BRZ ZIRFZ R DITEAT

follows:
2008 2007
—EENE T LF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TF T ARETIT
0 to 30 days 0% 30K 77,103 60,902
31 to 60 days 31E 60K 53,003 54,627
61 to 90 days 61% 90K 46,593 35,451
91 to 180 days 91% 180K 16,904 15,853
181 to 365 days 1812365K 343 150
Over 365 days 365AKLA E 166 754
194,112 167,737
Less: Provision for impairment A B SRR E R
of trade receivables (2,106) (2,084)
192,006 165,653

The credit quality of trade receivables that are neither past due nor
impaired can be assessed by reference to the historical information
about counter party default rates. The existing counterparties do
not have significant default in the past. There is no concentration
of credit risk with respect to trade receivables, as the Group has a

large number of customers.

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED

RIS TEEAR AR

RBBMIRMETE 2 BKZH RN

HEEEREHAEHUGR

M ER
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13.

14.

B MR T

Trade receivables — Group (continued) 13. BURXZERM KB (%)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are REENE ZRUKOEEENATIE
denominated in the following currencies: WA BT
2008 2007
—EENF —TT+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TF T AREBTT
Renminbi AREE 157,663 122,458
UsS dollar ETT 34,343 43,195
192,006 165,653
Movements on the provision for impairment of trade receivables B o RN ERENEE T
are as follows:
2008 2007
—EENF —TT+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TF T ARETT
At 1 January —A—H 2,084 1,436
Provision for receivable impairment FEWROR B 22 648
At 31 December +=—A=+—8H 2,106 2,084
The creation and release of provisions for impaired receivables HWE B EERREBEENRINERE®
have been included in administrative expenses in the income BEEWRBZEZRNTHRERN - EEEBE
statement. Amounts are charged to the allowance account when PR eEE — e i il m
there is no expectation of recovering additional cash. ZHANE S B o
Prepayments and other receivables — Group and 14. ANRERHEMERNRE-KE
Company ) SN
Group Company
£8 YN
2008 2007 2008 2007
“BENE —ZTtLE ZBEN\F C"TTLHF
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETRE ARETT AR¥ETR ARBTT
Prepayment for purchases BB RREM A
of raw materials 58,274 44,150 - -
Input value-added tax recoverable ] i o] TEIS(E 1,833 1,079 - -
Advances to employees [F{E 8 B 99 161 - -
Others Hh 21,287 826 82 100
81,493 46,216 82 100
The carrying amounts of other receivables approximate their fair Hith prYCRIEREEE A AT EEE R
values and are mainly denominated in RMB. FEUARETIE -
The Group made a provision for impairment of other receivables NE BB E D E M E WK E S
of RMB3,000,000 (2007: Nil). The amount has been included in 3,000,00075)\&’#}(;2 B ) o

administrative expenses in the income statement.

ZHREF ARBRITERERA -
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15. Pledged bank deposits, cash and cash 15. EHEAZBITER  RERER
equivalents — Group and Company HeER -S£8KRAT
Group Company
£ NG
2008 2007 2008 2007

—REN\F  TTLF ZBE\F TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETE AR®TR ARBTT

Pledged bank deposits B2 RITIER 37,364 32,158 - -
Cash and cash equivalents RekEFRHALEHR

Cash at bank and on hand BTN FHEIES 386,619 275,226 1,778 364
423,983 307,384 1,778 364
The carrying amounts of pledged bank deposits, cash and cash REERZRTER  BekFRRE

equivalents are denominated in the following currencies: BEMIREEGAEEENESEHOT ¢

Group Company
£ NG|

2008 2007 2008 2007

—BEN\NF _TTLF ZBE\F _TTLF
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARBTLT ARMTR ARETE

Renminbi ARE 377,490 287,105 - -
Hong Kong dollar BT 17,146 10,550 1,183 364
US dollar ETT 27,506 7,981 595 —
Euro [ 78 1,841 1,748 - =

423,983 307,384 1,778 364
As at 31 December 2008, the Group has cash and cash equivalents R=ZEENF+=-_A=+—H  ~&H
of approximately RMB348,969,000 (2007: RMB264,461,000) HBIR ¢ HERIF©HEE 348,969,000
denominated in RMB, which is not a freely convertible currency in TARE(ZZEZ L : 264,461,0007T
the international market and its exchange rate is determined by ARKE) - HUARKSIE - BATERN
the People’s Bank of China. BT EmEnEE  HEXHFEH

ARRITEE °

At 31 December 2008, bank balance of RMB37,364,000 (2007: R_EENF+_A=+—8 ' #

RMB32,158,000) have been pledged to banks to secure credit 37364000 TARBE (ZZEZT L F

facilities granted to subsidiaries. 32,158,0007T A R#E) Z RITFERE TIA
HIREAM B AR RRITIEEREE
AR

The cash and cash equivalents are not exposed to material credit RERZERBESBEWLBEEANEE

risk. [E\ Bz

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
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16. Share capital, premium and share options - 16. RE - sERBRE-SBR
Group and Company NG|
(@) Share capital - Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each @) RBEA—SREHEOIBITZIZLE
L

Nominal value

Number of of ordinary
shares shares
Authorised: EE A8 E EEREE
(thousands) RMB’000
(FR) ARET T
At 1 January 2007, RZZEZ+F—H—1
31 December 2007 B+ EFEF+—A=+—H8BxK
and 31 December 2008 —ZEENFF+_A=1+—H 2,000,000 212,000
Number of Nominal
fully paid value of
shares ordinary Share
AR shares Premium Total
Issued: 8T BH#E HEREE REE a&t
(thousands) RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(F/’R) AR®Tr AR%¥®Tr AR%Tx
At 1 January 2007 R=ZZET+F—H—H 461,000 48,778 177,698 226,476
Employee share option scheme & 8 Bkt £
— proceeds from shares issues —BIRMHAER 8,890 875 11,190 12,065
At 31 December 2007 R-TTtLHF
+=-A=+—H 469,890 49,653 188,888 238,541
At 1 January 2008 RZZET\F—H—H 469,890 49,653 188,888 238,541
Repurchase of shares (Note i) BB AR 1) (BT Ei) (4,680) (421) (7,047) (7,468)
At 31 December 2008 R-ZBNE
+=BA=+—H 465,210 49,232 181,841 231,073
Note()): The Company repurchased 4,680,000 of its own shares through MizE() : BE=_TTN\F+=-A=+—AH
purchases on the Stock Exchange during the year ended 31 WEFE - AAR R FTEE B E
December 2008. Such shares were cancelled following the 4,680,000 %5 ° ZEFRMHER
repurchases and accordingly the issued share capital of the Bl & HARAR AR B BT
Company was reduced by the nominal value of these shares. The AMEREEERERD - EO
total amount paid to repurchase the shares, including relevant BROFAEfMz2E45E - BiEE
direct costs of RMB68,000, was RMB7,047,000 and has been BEEEF6800TARE A
deducted from share premium. 7,047,0007C A R ¥ 30 A B 17 V4 (B

RINER
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16. Share capital, premium and share options - 16. BRAE - aBERBRE-SBR
Group and Company (continued) YNGIIG )
(b)  Share options (b) EBRE
Pursuant to a resolution of the shareholders of the REARFDRER -_ZSZTNF —
Company passed on 16 February 2004, a share option A+ NBBB2RER - BRE

scheme (“the Share Option Scheme”) was approved and
adopted. Under the Share Option Scheme, the Company’s
directors may, at their sole discretion, grant options to
any employee, non-executive director, supplier, customer,
person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support to the Group, shareholder and
adviser or consultant of the Group to subscribe for shares
in the Company at a price per share of not less than the
highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date
of the offer of grant; or (ii) the average closing price of the
shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of the offer of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of
a share. A nominal consideration of RMB1.04 (equivalent
of HK$1) is payable on acceptance of the grant of options.
The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme adopted by the Group from time
to time must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the share
capital of the Company in issue from time to time. The
Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years up to February 2014. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options
in cash.

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
s TEEER AR
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16. Share capital, premium and share options - 16. BRE - nEBERERE-KEK
Group and Company (continued) YNCIIE-))
(b) Share options (continued) (b) EERRRE(Z)
Movements of the number of share options outstanding MARITE RSB R E BN
during the year and their related weighted average exercise BIEHATEERERNZEFHN
prices are as follows: T
2008 2007
—EENF —EE+F
Average Average
exercise exercise
price price
in HK$ Options in HK$ Options
per share (thousands) per share (thousands)

BRET BRE SBEET R AR
FIITREE (F42) FHITEE (1)

At 1 January R—A—H 1.38 32,210 1.38 43,100
Exercised during the year FRITHE - - 1.38 (8,890)
Cancelled during the year F N 1.39 (1,200) 1.37 (2,000)
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 1.38 31,010 1.38 32,210
Out of the 31,010,000 outstanding options (2007: f£31,010,000 K175 A BB AR A
32,210,000 options), 26,138,000 options (2007: (ZZEZ 4 : 32,210,000 B A%
19,730,000 options) were exercisable. M) 26,138,000 E(— ==
+4F : 19,730,000/ A% 4 ) A] F17
fE o
Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the 10 F R RTTE A BB AR AE Y 2 2R
following expiry dates and exercise prices: BATTEEENT -

Share options

B AE
2008 2007
Exercise price —EENF T LF
HK dollar per share (thousands) (thousands)
Expiry date Z|8 A BRBTITEE (F12) (F1)
May 2011 —ET——%FHA 1.39 16,240 17,440
Jun 2014 —F—UFERA 1.37 14,770 14,770
31,010 32,210
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17. Other reserves — Group and Company 17. Hitt#EE-SKER AT
(@) Group @) &£H
Share
Capital  options
Statutory redemption equity Currency

Capital Contributed reserves (iii) reserve (iv)  reserve  Hedging translation
reserve (i) ~surplus (ii) e RAER BRE  reserve  reserve Total
RARGG) BHBRG) NBSGH) B  BARE WHRE  EXRRE &t
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEETR ARETn ARMTn ARETR ARETn ARKTn ARETR ARETR

Balance at 1 January RZBZtE-f-H
2007 &R 685 9,500 16,168 - 5938 - (19) 3221
Employee share option scheme: BB ERTRIE: 2 :
- Value of share options granted ~ —RiHEERRIEZ BE = = = - 1,920 - - 1,920
- Cancellation of share options — e - - - = (348) = - (348)
~ Exercise of share options ~fiiFERE - - - = (641) - - (641)
Transfer from retained eamings ~~ RARFEE - - 18581 - - = - 18581
Currency translation differences B3 =% - - - = - = (21) (21)

Balance at 31 December R-EEtE+R

2007 St-RAzéR 685 9500 34749 - 6869 - (40) 51763
At 1 January 2008 WZZENE-A-H 685 9,500 34,749 - 6,809 - (40) 51,763
Employee share option scheme: BB RkIEFE] :

- Value of share options granted ~ —RiHEEREZ BE - - - - 913 - - 913

- Cancellation of share aptions — B RE - - - - (17) - - (1m)
Transfer from retained eamings ~~ (REBFIEE - - 8,098 - - - = 8,098
Repurchase of shares EER{ - - - an - - - a1
Cash flow hedges REmEtn

- Fair value losses in year -EENTEER - - - - - (4.m7) - (4.417)

~ Transfers to finance costs —BEAREHA - - - - - (597) - (597)
Currency translation differences  [EX£% = = = = = = 47 47
Balance at 31 December RZEENE+2R

2008 =t-Aeks 685 9,500 42 847 1 7611 (5,014) 7 56,057

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
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Other reserves — Group and Company (continued)

17. Hitt#EE-KER2F(#)

(b) Company (b) NET|
Capital  Share options
redemption equity
Capital reserve (iv) reserve Hedging
reserve (i) RAER BRE reserve Total
TG () i (iv) N i @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB’000
AR¥TR  ARMTR  AR%TR  ARETR  ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2007 R-EELF-A-HzEH 90,941 - 5,938 = 96,879
Employee share option scheme: EEREME:TE :
- Value of share options granted — R HEREER - - 1,920 - 1,920
— Cancellation of share options — R E = = (348) = (348)
— Exercise of share options —TEERE - = (641) = (641)
Balance at 31 December R=BZtF+=R
2007 Zt-RAzE&H 90,941 - 6,869 - 97,810
Balance at 1 January 2008 RZBENE-A—-Bz&H 90941 - 6,869 - 97,810
Employee share option scheme: EEERETE :
- Value of share options granted -REEREGE - - 913 - 913
- Cancellation of share options —TihEERRE - - (171) - (171)
Repurchase of shares BERH - 421 - - 421
Cash flow hedges Rengds
— Fair value losses in year - FEATEER = = = 447) (4.417)
— Transfers to finance costs —EBEARERA - = - (597) (597)
Balance at 31 December 2008 RZZENF+ZA
St-Rz&g 90,941 421 7,611 (5.014) 93,959

Notes: M -

(i) Capital reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal (i) REBEAFEBERE_ZZTNE_A
value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the share exchange +ANBEAFAKENBEATROOEER
on 16 February 2004 over the nominal value of the share capital of the BN A)EELT AR ER it fR {n 2 IR AN E (B
Company issued in exchange therefor. B ERE o
Capital reserve of the Company represents the difference between the costs RARBARFEEBEBE_STNFE_ A
of investments in subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the share exchange on 16 175 B E A TR T B A R AV IR B A A
February 2004 over the nominal value of the share capital of the Company BN T EITAME i & 7 IRANEE
issued in exchange therefor. HE=ZE o

(i) Contributed surplus represents the capital contribution from an executive (ii) BHRHBREART —BHTESFEEE
director and an indirect substantial shareholder of the Company, as part of a EREREREAEL 2 HERE -
group reorganisation exercise.

(iii)  According to the articles of association of the relevant subsidiaries established (iii) HBEAFEAK I EEHE AR 24
in Mainland China and the Mainland China rules and regulations, Mainland 2 25 52 40 Bl [ AE R b B o Hb 38 BI R 4B 451 -
China subsidiaries are required to transfer not less than 10% of their net profit B A B B A BB S 1T S AR 1R R B A
as stated in their annual financial statements prepared under Mainland China S EARR Y FEM SRR 4L E
accounting regulations to statutory reserves before the corresponding Mainland RRD0% » BAEERTES E—J/)E
China subsidiaries can distribute any dividend. Such a transfer is not required RS« BET A2 EINEBHBA
when the amount of statutory reserves reaches 50% of the corresponding S EAR50% K - B /EH /Ee i o /im
subsidiaries’ registered capital. The statutory reserves shall only be used to NESETARKEEBEB AR ESE
make up losses of the corresponding subsidiaries, to expand the corresponding ERAEME A ) A ERRSEinA RE M
subsidiaries’ production operations, or to increase the capital of the BRAAIKAK - SESEMHEARZRE
corresponding subsidiaries. Upon approval by resolutions of the corresponding Eﬂxﬁﬁ BBREEIE  MAEHE
subsidiaries’ shareholders in general meetings, the corresponding subsidiaries NEREEE A AELE AEMER - WA
may convert their statutory reserves into registered capital and issue bonus ?;Iiﬁ%{%z&ﬁ%ﬁﬁg ERE L I BS 1T AT
capital to existing owners in proportion to their existing ownership structure. B&%

(iv)  The capital redemption reserve relates to the cancellation of the Company's (iv) AR 78 Ol % S B s S AR R R 2 IRV B A ©
own shares. The increase in the year represents the nominal value of the IREEFE 2 3NN A 8 A B8 2 4,680,000
4,680,000 shares cancelled during the year as shown in Note 16. AR AD (P 5E16) M EE A= o

(vy The Company's other reserves totalled RMB275,800,000 (2007: (v) WERHSHERNTE(EEIAN) » AATT

RMB286,698,000) which, under the Company Law (revised) of the Cayman
Islands subject to certain conditions, are available for distribution to
shareholders.

IR {F &4 A275,800, OOOTEAE%%(:
TT L4 286,698,00070 ARH) ©
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Borrowings — Group and Company 18. EE-KERATH
Group Company
£8 NG|
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE T tF ZBENE _"TTLHF
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARETR AREBTR
Non-current JEENHR
Government loans, unsecured ERABFE R 4,550 5,000 - =
Bank borrowings, secured BIEBRTEE - 3,121 - =
Bank borrowings, unsecured EERARITEE 219,906 50,000 169,907 -
224,456 58,121 169,907 -
Current BNER
Government loans, unsecured ERABTE R 28,870 28,870 - =
Bank borrowings, secured BEMRTEE 32,245 62,402 - =
Bank borrowings, unsecured ERRRTEE 59,904 7,000 53,903 =
121,019 98,272 53,903 -
Total borrowings BEEHME 345,475 156,393 223,810 =

Government loans represent unsecured loans from the State
Development and Reform Commission, Xiamen Development
Planning Commission and other Mainland China government
bureaus to finance the Group’s product development activities
and expansion of production facilities.

Government loans of RMB4,550,000 (2007: RMB5,000,000)
are repayable in 2018, and bear interest at 2.6%. Government
loans of RMB8,000,000 (2007: RMB8,000,000) are repayable
on demand, and bear interest at 7.6% per annum. Government
loans of RMB20,870,000 (2007: RMB20,870,000) are non-interest
bearing, and shall be repayable on terms and conditions to be
determined between the government bureaus and the Group
upon completion of the relevant project.
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18.

B MR T

Borrowings — Group and Company (continued) 18. BE-KERQR(#E)
The maturity of borrowings is as follows: EEZERBMT
Group Company
£H NG|
2008 2007 2008 2007
—BENE _—TTLE ZBENF _"TTLF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ETRT ARBTT AR¥ETR ARBTT
Amounts repayable within a period: E’\L/{THEWEEE
— not exceeding one year — R —F 121,019 98,272 53,903 =
- more than one year but not ——FE B
exceeding two years BB F 122,815 3,121 112,815 -
— more than two years but not —MEALE B
exceeding five years THBAF 97,091 50,000 57,092 -
— more than five years —HFENE 4,550 5,000 - -
345,475 156,393 223,810 -
The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date were as RER B 2 BEMEQMT
follows:
2008 2007
—EENF —TTLF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTR AREBTT
Government loans BFE R 2.19% 2.16%
Bank borrowings RITEE 5.3% 8.5%
The carrying amounts of borrowings approximate their fair values. EROBREEEE QAR -
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18.

B BEHRR M T

Borrowings — Group and Company (continued) 18.
The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the

following currencies:

BE-KBERAF#E)

ERMBERSEATIIER REL

Group Company
£ AHE

2008 2007 2008 2007
ZEENE C—TTtHE CZEENF _—TTLF
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETT AR®BTR ARETRT
Renminbi ARE 114,420 133,870 - -
Hong Kong dollar BT 2,940 6,243 - -
US dollar e 228,115 16,280 223,810 -
345,475 156,393 223,810 =

The Group has the following undrawn borrowing facilities: REEETIARRERER®E !
2008 2007
—EENF T LF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTR AREFTT

Floating rate EIEN

— expiring within one year ——FREIH 11,968 29,956
— expiring beyond one year ——F LA _EFIH 4,000 2,367
15,968 32,323
Total borrowings include secured bank borrowings of BEFBEREIRIRTTE 32,245,000

EAE’#}(_EftE © 65,523,0007C A
REE) - SRITERUAREENYE - K&
%1%(%%17)%%&#&%%?%&@%

RMB32,245,000 (2007: RMB65,523,000). Bank borrowings are
secured by the property, plant and equipment of the Group (Note 7)
and director’s and corporate guarantees.
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18.

19.

B MR T

Borrowings — Group and Company (continued) 18.
The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest-rate changes
and the contractual repricing dates at the balance sheet dates are as

BE-KER AR @)
REHB  AEENBERENELPR
AR EHEEBBEHMAEORBAT :

follows:
Group Company
&= AT

2008 2007 2008 2007
—RBNF -TTLE CBBNF -ITTLE
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR%®TR AREBTT AR%®Tn ARBTR
6 months or less 61E A AT 290,925 55,393 223,810 =
6-12 months 6—121E A - 46,000 - =
1-5 years 1—5%F 50,000 50,000 - -
Over 5 years S5&LAE 4,550 5,000 - =
345,475 156,393 223,810 -

Trade payables and bills payable — Group 19. BNARXZRRRESRE-&£E
2008 2007
—sENE S
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AREFT
Trade payables FERIRZ SRR 12,722 8,202
Bills payable AN 57,042 46,688
69,764 54,890
As at 31 December 2008, the aging analysis of trade payables and RZBZENF+A=+—H ERIX

bills payable is as follows:

HIRS

AR EIR 2RO ¢

2008 2007

—EENF —TTLF

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR AREFT

0 to 30 days 0E30K 25,025 11,194
31 to 60 days 31260k 4,628 31,071
61 to 90 days 61290k 14,587 4,150
91 to 180 days 912180k 24,710 7,676
181 to 365 days 181E365K 109 28
Over 365 days FEHA365K 705 771
69,764 54,890

The carrying amounts of trade payables and bills payable
approximate their fair values and are all denominated in RMB.

BN SRR RENERBERAERLR

FERE
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20. Accruals and other payables — Group and Company 20. ExtERARHMENFE-£H

SN
Group Company
£H DNF
2008 2007 2008 2007

“EEN\F —TTLF  -FENF  —TILF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMTE ARETRZ AR%TL ARMTR

Payable for construction and ENRERBEY -
purchase of property, 5 & % e &
plant and equipment 3,124 6,922 - -
Output value-added tax payable JETSHIRIE BT 11,302 8,891 - -
Accruals for fEzt & A
— Administrative expenses —THEHR 13,959 16,446 2,600 2,113
— Government loan interest —BRITERF A 3,475 2,445 - -
31,860 34,704 2,600 2,113
The carrying amounts of other payables approximate their fair HEfEMREREERE QA FERE R
values and are mainly denominated in RMB. FEZUARESIE -
21. Derivative financial instruments — Group and 2. FTAEEMITE-SERAT
Company
Group Company
%8 NG|
2008 2007 2008 2007
“EEN\FE CZETLH CZBENFE CZTLHF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ETRT ARBTT AR¥TR AREBTT
Interest rate swaps-cash flow hedges MEFI RS
(Note a) mE I (ffsta) 5,014 - 5,014 -
Structured interest rate swaps (Note b) MR B (D) - 37,837 - =
Total &t 5,014 37,837 5,014 -
Less non-current portion: RIETEEB 7
Interest rate swaps-cash flow hedges FEHH R[S
MEE 5,014 - 5,014 -
Current potion TEE D - 37,837 - =
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T A

21.

B MR T

Derivative financial instruments — Group and
Company (continued)

Trading and structured derivatives for non-hedging purpose are
classified as a current liability. The full fair value of a hedging
derivative is classified as a non-current liability if the remaining
maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 months, and as a
current liability if the maturity of the hedge item is less than 12
months.

Notes:

(a)

The notional principal amounts of the outstanding interest rate swap
contracts at 31 December 2008 were USD33,000,000.

At 31 December 2008, the fixed interest rate was 3.3%, and the main
floating rate is LIBOR. Gains and losses recognised in the hedging reserve in
equity (Note 17) on interest rate swap contracts as of 31 December 2008
will be continuously released to the income statement until the repayment
of the bank borrowings (Note 18).

In 2007, the Group entered into a structured interest rate swaps (the “Swap”)
with maturity in 2012 with a commercial bank (the “Bank”), an upfront
payment of USD5 million, approximately to RMB38,588,000 was received
by the Group at the inception of the Swap and were initially recognised as a
derivative financial liability in balance sheet. The Swap is remeasured at fair
value as estimated by the Bank based on certain assumption at each balance
sheet date. Key terms of the interest rate swap are summarised as follows:

Notional amounts:
Upfront payment:

UsD50,000,000
UsD5,000,000

Effective date: 16 April 2007
Maturity date: 16 April 2012
Group pays: 5% (annually)
Bank pays: 3% + 8%

(The Deutsche Bank Municipal
Forward Rate Bias Index published
on Bloomberg YoY Return — 1%)
Coupon capped at 10% and
floored at 0% (annually)

Note (i)

On 18 March 2008, the Swap between the Group and the Bank had
been terminated. The Group paid USD4.2 million, approximately to
RMB29,615,000 on 20 March 2008 with respect to this termination. There
should be no further cashflows from either party with respect to this Swap
after the termination. The gain on this Swap has been recognised as other
gains in the year ended 31 December 2008.

Note(i) Index means the Deutsche Bank Municipal Forward Rate Bias Index

(the “Index”) as published on Bloomberg.

21.

PTEEMIA-

SBEQE#)

R BB REBETETIAS R
AREBEE - B HIE B M F M

BiE12MEA
FESEREREDEE
BHFIREE DR 12EA « Bl

RISHRITAE T AN 2HA
& %A
BRR

BafE-

B

(a)

RZBENF+_A=+—H  HRE
BENNERHANNEETLEAXS
33,000,0007T °

R-ZEZNF+_H=+—8 " EEMX
A33E  MEBRFEFERHMBRTRE
ERE -R_BENF+_RA=+—8"
VﬂTﬁ%AmE%mmmﬂﬁ sk
ROBE (MF17)  BEBERERREE
EKEEEHE ﬁt@uﬂs

—ETLFR - ASEE M ERT
([RIT)ETZEBMUER R (=1 ])
REZT——F3H SRR AEE
U B — 25 /i B W 5K 35 715,000,000 7T 49 A
38,588,0007T A R#5 + 12 HA B 44 5 1L AT
HIKANREEABRPIRERRITES
MEE EHRETREELEEBELS
FREMBETZAFEBIEEHEE - FIR
R H 2 SEEFAMNT

LESE 50,000,00037C
BEXHMNER : 5,000,0003 7
ERE - —ZETEFMA+AH
Z|EAR - T —ZFMA+H
EEXfT 5% (&4E)
$R1T 3% + 8*

(TREA LB HZEER
SRAT AT R AR 2R
{RIAE B F L ER-1% )
Z8 FRA10% FRAE0%
(BF ) M=)

REZZFZNF=ZA+N\H ' XEERRFT
ZHEMEHERILE  AEBR_ZTTN\F
= A=+HBf%74,200,0007T * XI5&
29,615,000t A R IEB R E - A&
EHRPTERRTEE AL IEHE EMA
BEMRK MR ERESAEENBTIE
EBE-_TZEN\F+A=+—H1IzZF
EAERAE MK

BBEENZEAM LBHZEE
EERIT T BT IR A R A [7) 46 2K
(T5#0])

FI=EC)
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T A

22.

23.

B BEHRR M T

Deferred tax liabilities — Group 22.
Deferred tax liabilities have been recognised for the withholding
tax payable on the profits of the PRC subsidiaries of the Group
derived since 1 January 2008 using a tax rate of 10% (2007: Nil).
The following amount is shown in the consolidated balance sheet:

Deferred tax liabilities to be settled after more than 12 months

ELEFES - &H
AEBEEREFEMBARE —FTN
F—A—REENRR D IREBHH
ZIEHBRBI10%NRE(—TTLF :
B)ERELHAEHAE - THRABER
BREZHNWAT :

128 AR B RLER AR &

Withholding tax

FEMB
2008
—EEN\F
RMB’000
AR¥ T
At 1 January —H—H -
Charged to the consolidated income Tefr e Wam R MR (P EE27)
statement (Note 27) 13,500
At 31 December +=—A=+—-H 13,500
Other losses — net 23. HtSE - F8
2008 2007
—EENE T LF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
Amortisation of deferred income B BUS B RE A
on government grants - 19
Realised gain/unrealised (loss) on F i HY 2 B30 e R AR B
interest rate swaps — net (E18) — 58 6,956 (1,430)
Net foreign exchange gains from F 245 B 2 B 5 W an 3 28 (P 5E28) 1,046 2,181
interest rate swap (Note 28)
Net exchange losses (Note 28) & e 18 (FI5E28) (8,800) (5,135)
Others EHAftb 545 202
(253) (4,163)
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24.

B MR T

Expenses by nature 24, EMEEZHX
2008 2007
—EENF —ETLF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARETT
Amortisation of prepaid operating TR & 1H & FRIBHE 51
lease payments (Note 6) (FfsE6) 110 110
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEH
(Note 8) (Ht5E8) 5,117 2,332
Depreciation (Note 7) e (MI5E7) 21,266 11,648
Impairment of intangible assets (Note 8) & 2 mi{E (KizE8) 5,412 1,664
Impairment of inventories (Note 12) FEREFTEEI2) 6,661 168
Impairment of trade receivables FEW AT B IR FORE
(Note 13) (MtEE13) 22 648
Impairment of other receivables E At FEUIR FORE
(Note 14) (MtsE14) 3,000
Employee benefit expense (Note 25) BERF A (HE25) 26,708 27,682
Changes in inventories of finished BN o AR
goods and work-in-progress FE# 48,293 39,190
Raw materials and consumables used B ARE MHFE SR 377,392 297,924
Transportation By 17,549 15,577
Advertising ZEEH 255 123
Operating lease payments HEHEHS 3,643 2,864
Auditor’s remuneration =R & 1,521 1,479
Other expenses HEtmEMA 82,026 66,468
Total cost of goods sold, selling and EEEMAAE - HER
marketing costs and IS EK AR RITHE A
administrative expenses 598,975 467,877
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25.

Employee benefit expense EEEAFEX
2008 2007
—EENF —ERLF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT AREFIT
Wages, salaries, other allowances T4 - %Ha - Hih2ey
and benefits in kind K EYH == 23,804 22,129
Bonus TEAT - 2,248
Share options granted to directors RTYEEREEZ
and employees (Note 16) BEAHE (f95E16) 913 1,920
Pension costs — defined contribution  EREAA — TR
plans (Note a) =T &8l (Ffif3ta) 1,991 1,385
26,708 27,682
(a) Pensions - defined contribution plans (a) EBHRESHEK - EEERETE

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China,
the Group contributes to a state-sponsored retirement plan
for its employees in Mainland China, which is a defined
contribution plan. The Group and its employees contribute
approximately 6% to 14% and 0% to 4%, respectively, of
the employees’ salary as specified by the local government,
and the Group has no further obligations for the actual
payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond
the annual contributions. The state-sponsored retirement
plan is responsible for the entire pension obligations
payable to retired employees.

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees
to join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”), a defined contribution scheme managed by
an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, each of
the Group and its Hong Kong employees makes monthly
contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’
earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident
Fund legislation. Both the Group’s and the employees’
contributions are subject to a cap of HK$1,000 per month.

During the year, the aggregate amounts of the Group’s
contributions to the aforementioned retirement schemes
were approximately RMB 1,991,000 (2007: RMB1,385,000).
As at 31 December 2008, the Group was not entitled to
any forfeited contributions to reduce the Group’s future
contributions.

ECOGREEN FINE CHEMICALS GROUP LIMITED
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Are TSR M At

25. Employee benefit expense (continued) 25. EEEAMX®)
(b) Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments (b) ESREREEAEHME
The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 HE-_EEN\F+-_HA=+—H
December 2008 is set out below: LtFE SEFz2HMaHI W
T
Salaries,
other  Retirement
allowances benefit-
and benefits defined Share options
inkind contribution  granted to
4 plans directors
Name of Director Fees Higg  BRER- B¥E=E Total
EEpg e REVEN EEMFGEE ZBRE @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR  AR®TR ARMTR AR®TR  ARETx

Executive directors HITES
Mr. Yang Yirong HREEE - 1,516 10 19 1,545
Mr. Gong Xionghui EEEE - 768 8 - 776
Ms. Lu Jiahua EXERL - 764 8 - m
Mr. Lin Like HhREE - 763 4 140 907
Mr. Han Huan Guang BEAEA - 1,174 1 140 1,325
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Feng Tao Jiy-Sines - - - 140 140
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Yau Fook Chuen ERE%E 168 13 - 19 200
Mr. Wong Yik Chung, John HEREE 168 10 - 19 197
Mr. Zheng Lansun BREEE 42 - - 19 61

378 5,008 4 496 5923
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25. Employee benefit expense (continued) 25. EEEABEXZ &)
(b) Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments (b) EENSHREEAEME(E)
(continued)
The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 HE—_ZEZEZt+E+-_HB=+—H
December 2007 is set out below: IEFE  SES 2 &5 0@
T
Salaries,
other Retirement
allowances benefit-
and benefits defined  Share options
inkind  contribution granted to
e plans directors
Name of Director Fees H e, FREH - BRYE= Total
i e  REDEN TEESEE pd -1 @5t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETR  ARRTRT ARETR ARETR

Executive directors HITES
Mr. Yang Yirong BRBLE - 1,625 9 38 1,672
Mr. Gong Xionghui EIEBEA - 885 8 = 893
Ms. Lu Jiahua BXERL - 830 8 = 838
Mr. Lin Like MRk - 822 - 283 1,105
Mr. Han Huan Guang BESTE - 1,321 12 283 1,616
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Feng Tao BEEE - - - 283 283
Independent non-executive BIFHTES
directors
Mr. Yau Fook Chuen ERERAE 139 9 = 38 186
Mr. Wong Yik Chung, John HEBEAE 139 7 - 38 184
Mr. Zheng Lansun BEELE 64 4 - 38 106
342 5,503 37 1,001 6,883
Note: BiaE -
None of the directors waived any emoluments during the year ended 31 BE-_ZZTN\F+-A=1+—HILEFE "
December 2008 (2007: Nil). VTEEEHNEEAHS (T LF :

&) -
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25.

26.

B MR T

Employee benefit expense (continued) 25. EEEANMX®)
(c) Five highest paid individuals (0) EEBREEHEAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in AREFBHZ2_ZEZTN\F+=-HA
the Group for the years ended 31 December 2008 and 31 =—t+—HRER-_ZZEtLtF+ A4
December 2007 exclusively comprise the five highest paid =t+t—HIEFEZREAESFA
directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis TrMEEREBER EXSN
presented above. NZABRmHES o
During the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007, HE_ZTZNFR_ZEZLHF
no emoluments were paid to the directors or the five +-A=1+—HItFE ' WEMR
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or as ARREEIZ A G R T AL
compensation for loss of office. SAEABE - EARSI %N E
Z BB 2 fE -
Finance income and costs 26. AMEWRAREA
2008 2007
—EENE T LF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETT
Interest expense on: FEFL :
- Bank borrowings wholly repayable ~ —ZBRAEEANZHEER
within five years ZIBITEE (18,083) (5,623)
— Government loans wholly repayable —ZBRAEFAZHEE
within five years ZBFER (605) (605)
— Government loans not wholly —EERAFTRNEZEHEE
repayable within five years ZHFER (127) (127)
Net foreign exchange gains on & B89 50 WS (f95E28)
financing activities (Note 28) 8,267 815
Fair value gain on derivative financial T8 T A Z A AF
instruments
— Interest rate swaps: cash flow — MR E : MEREEHR -
hedges, transfer from equity ERE e 597 =
Finance costs & AR (9,951) (5,540)
Finance income BE WA
— Interest income on short term — R AR TIF A FIL B
bank deposits 3,175 3,469
Net finance costs FRLE R (6,776) (2,071)
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27. Income tax expense 27. FiSHiEX
2008 2007
—gENE —EEiE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT
Current tax WRAENIE
— Mainland China enterprise — B A FE TS
income tax 6,173 7,514
— Qver provision in previous years —ARIEE Z 5t 2 FEH (160) =
Deferred tax (Note 22) RIEFRIE(M15E22)
— Withholding tax on profits of — BB R F 2 FE
the PRC subsidiaries BT T2 B 13,500 =
19,513 7,514
Notes: B &E
(a) Hong Kong profits tax () BBRNESH \ : o
No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as the Group had no assessable B 7 AN 2R (B 35 S 1 B S 1S ol TR U AR TR
profit arising in or derived from Hong Kong. A - B £ 5 B RSB VB B4 -
(b) Mainland China enterprise income tax (b) HEIAREERED .
The subsidiaries established in Xiamen, Fujian Province, Mainland China are AR B A AR 2 A B PR S 2 Y R R B R
subject to Mainland China enterprise income tax at a rate of 18% (2007: 18% (ZFTH4F : 15%) ZHEFMHEA
15%). In August 2003, Xiamen Doingcom Chemical Co., Ltd. was accredited MR EFEH - —FT=4F/\H - HFIFH
as a New High Technology Enterprise and accordingly is exempted from LBRARER S RMEE - FipE
payment of enterprise income tax for two years starting from year 2003. In BE-TT-BREHMEEMERME - =
November 2006, Xiamen Doingcom transformed from a domestic enterprise TEANFET—H EFPREEFRAFH
to a wholly foreign owned enterprise. It has obtained approval from NECFHEREHAME - W AEGHER
Mainland China Tax Bureau to be exempted from enterprise income tax W% R E B B EENEE RN
for two years starting from the first year of profitable operations, followed SHME - RE=F 2 CXREHRARF °
by a 50% reduction in enterprise income tax for the following three years. BT EEBRAAE-FTLFRAZ
Xiamen Doingcom has commenced to enjoy its tax holiday in year 2007. ERUES -
On 16 March 2007, the Fifth Plenary Session of the Tenth National People’s RZZFZLEE=A4KH  FTEZEAR
Congress passed the Corporate Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic REABEAREABBR_TT\F—H
of China (“the New Tax Law") which will take effect on 1 January 2008. — B TH(hEARAMBEXMEHE)
From 1 January 2008, the income tax rate for the operating subsidiaries ([FBOE]) - —_FBNE—F—HE - £
mentioned above will be gradually changed to the standard rate of 25% 2 E BB A R T B B R A
over a five-year transition period. According to the Circular 39 passed by the RIFERISY -  REBEBRN_FFLF
State Council on 26 December 2007, the tax exemption and reduction will TZA=-t+/B@EB Al - HIE
be terminated latest by 2012. BERBEFEZN S o
(0) Overseas income taxes () BIFBHR B
The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted ARERIBFAS B S R BAER S 5 5 i
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman B R e AR AT - HUL RS ARH
Islands and, accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax. SHEMEH - AR AEREE SN
The Company’s subsidiaries established in the British Virgin Islands are ZMBRRDIRIERBE LR S BREEA
incorporated under the International Business Companies Acts of the British BUAREMARSL + [ L T & S0 280 A 21 /R R 2 B
Virgin Islands and, accordingly, are exempted from British Virgin Islands SREH
income tax.
(d) Mainland China value-added tax (d) PERZER _
The subsidiaries established in Mainland China are subject to Mainland AP B AR 2 B A B R B AR
China value-added tax ("VAT") at 17% (2007: 17%) of revenue from sale EOMNEEBMZIMABDRIZ17%(—ZFF
of goods in Mainland China and entitled to a VAT export refund at 9% & 1 17%)  Bh B AR ER ([ EE
(2007: 5%) from sale of goods outside Mainland China. Input VAT paid on B) - BEH O HE R Z RIBE I ORE
purchases can be used to offset output VAT levied on sales to determine the HYFFI8 GRTEE B39% (2007 1 5%)) ° =& A
net VAT recoverable/payable. Yo e, FEASSE A RS R0 - SRERRT S (9 .2 3
;E;i@fﬁﬂﬁﬁwﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁj%ﬁ%%{%ZiﬁlﬁiTE
B4 o
(e) Withholding tax () TEMBL
Pursuant to the New Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends REFHL  B=FTTN\F—H—HiE ' §
declared to foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises B B An ) P FEHZ10% By Bt
established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January ERMBPAEB =T N\F—
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding A—HRBEX - +=A
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between China and the =t+—-BZi&HA R E
jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate N IR A E AT E Al
is 10%. The Group is therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends RN 0wtk B
distributed by those subsidiaries and an associate established in Mainland AR ER10% ° £ NE—
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. A—RE AEERREVEFENHERQ
E&Hﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%i*‘]ﬂiﬁﬁa’uﬁﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁ
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T A

27.

B MR T

Income tax expense (continued)

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the relevant enterprise
income tax rate in Mainland China, where substantially all of the

27.

FrieBipx< (&)

AR ERR TS B AT S FIEt & 2 BA -
B 327 AR K £= (B T 15 48 K B0 0 0 U R 3
EPI*EF&@ZWimt%ﬁﬁ SHRERAELZ

Group's profit was earned, and the reconciliation is as follows: BRE A AR - SR ¢
2008 2007
—EENF T LF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Profit before income tax B P 15758 A gt A 133,969 138,048
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates ZHBARRK R FER 2
applicable to profits in A R H 2 BIE
the respective countries 13,343 12,334
Income not subject to tax A RFUA (10,605) (6,971)
Over provision in previous year AR R 25t 2 P (160) =
Withholding tax on profits of AR BB B A | 2 F B
the PRC subsidiaries BT 2B 13,500 =
Tax losses for which no deferred W EERIEEFT ST EE
income tax asset was recognised FrEE AT IH IS8 3,435 2,151
Income tax expense FrSHiTEM X 19,513 7,514

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 14.6% (2007:
5.4%).

As at 31 December 2008, the Group has unrecognised tax losses
of approximately RMB114,940,000 (2007: RMB91,824,000),
which can be carried forward to offset future taxable income.
Included in the tax loss as at 31 December 2008 was a loss of
RMB22,459,000 (2007: RMB8,294,000) that will expire during
the period from 2009 to 2013 (2007: 2008 to 2012), while other
losses can be carried forward indefinitely. The deferred tax benefit
of such tax losses has not been recognised as it is not probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which the
unutilised tax losses can be utilised.

HAMEFARER146%(ZEZT £
fF:54%) o

R=ZFBZENF+=—A=+—0 "  ~5H
Eﬁiﬁﬁ? %)fé?ﬁ%lééﬂé #9114,940,000 7T A
RE(=ZZTZTLF : 91,824,000t AR
B o AIAEEER SRR EER AU o R
EENF+_A=+—HZBBEER
FEE 822,459,000t ARB(ZEE
& 1 8,294,0007T A RE) - AEEEERE R
—ETNFE_T—=F(ZTZTLF:
“ET) N\FE_ZT—_F)BEER ' Ef
E BRI ER AL E - ARW B ER
R FERRFLE A T Al AR B 2 B A5 s
B - Bt El RS E e 2 IEE R IE
FES A MEFERDAMR ©
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T A

28.

29.

30.

B BEHRR M T

Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) 28. EHW= (EE)FE
The exchange differences credited/(charged) in the income EWEERFEZAS (B )NER =56
statement are included as follows: FEE T 5B B K
2008 2007
—Z2EN\F T LF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
Net foreign exchange gains from F 2= 45 HY 7 (8 o W as 558 (FP5E23)
interest rate swap (Note 23) 1,046 2,181
Net exchange losses (Note 23) FIE B 1A (i EE23) (8,800) (5,135)
Net foreign exchange gains from RUE S BN A FIE H W
financing activities (Note 26) (M3zE26) 8,267 815
513 (2,139)
Profit attributable to equity holders of the 29. AR REREEABLGET
company
The profit attributable to equity holders of the Company is dealt RAR BT B MKREIE Z AN D A=
with in the financial statements of the Company to the extent of BAFEREF 531,316,000 A REE (=
RMB31,316,000 (2007: RMB31,844,000). T4 : 31,844,000 ARHE) -
Earnings per share 30. BRER
Basic E-WiN

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit attributable

BEREABMNIREARREZFAA

to equity holders of the Company by the weighted average F’éfﬁmﬁﬂ?iﬁqﬁgﬁéﬁ AR hnAE 15
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. EEtE
2008 2007
—EENF T LF
Profit attributable to equity holders PAYNGIL: £S e S DN il
of the Company (RMB’000) (AREF7T) 114,237 130,465
Weighted average number of ordinary B 317 @M% INHEFI9EL
shares in issue (thousands) (FB%) 467,533 466,407
Basic earnings per share EREAREFN(GRARE)

(RMB per share)

24.4 Centsfil 28.0 Centsflll
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AR E

30.

B MR T

Earnings per share (continued)

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The dilutive
potential ordinary shares of the Company mainly comprise
the share options. A calculation is made in order to determine
the number of shares that could have been acquired at fair
value (determined as the average monthly market share price
of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to outstanding share options. The
number of shares calculated as above is compared with the
number of shares that would have been issued assuming the
exercise of the share options.

30.

BREN =)

s
BREERMNBRAAAIEENEEY
BRI EFE%H%@&%M
RYPABRBGEE - AAT R EEREE
ﬁ@kE%@%%h% RIBRI1TERE
BEMMORBENSBEE  BER
RNHE(EE/ARBIRMDEFH A ED
B)ABANKRNDEE - WA LETAFE
M E - BERBERETEMED
BITHRRD BB fE LR

2008 2007
—EENE —ETF
Profit attributable to equity holders RATERFFEA
of the Company (RMB’000) EaARF(ARBFT) 114,237 130,465
Weighted average number of ordinary B 277 & 3@ AY
shares in issue (thousands) IIEF E(F5T) 467,533 466,407
Adjustments assuming the exercise BRI T
of share options (thousands) MR (F&H) 9,501 20,626
Weighted average number of ordinary &1 & &% # 52 FIHY
shares for diluted earnings per share 3@ HY IN4E
(thousands) FHE(TED) 477,034 487,033
Diluted earnings per share BRESEAT
(RMB per share) (BRRARE) 23.9 Centsfl 26.8 Centsfll
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AR E

31.

B BEHRR M T

Dividends

During the year ended 31 December 2008, a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2007 of RMB14,760,000 (HK3.5 cents/
share) (2007: 2006 final dividend of RMB 10,493,000 (HK2.3 cents/
share)) and an interim dividend for the year ended 31 December
2008 of RMB4,930,000 (HK1.2 cents/share) (2007: 2007 interim
dividend of RMB4,537,000 (HK1 cents/share)), were paid by the
Company, totalling RMB19,690,000 (2007: RMB15,030,000).

A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2008 of
HK2.9 cents per share, totalling approximately of RMB11,888,000,
is to be proposed at the annual general meeting on 25 May 2009.
These financial statements do not reflect this dividend payable.

31.

H"E

EFW ZK /\3214119,690,00075
/\E%(_?Tti © 15,030,000 7T A
Ri&) 2B - 55815 14,760,000 7T

ARE(ZBRISBEW Z_EZLFRK
HEBE(ZZZ 4 : 10,493,0007T A
RE(FR2.381) 2z —EZ NF K H
fi% 8) F14,930,0007T A R#E (Zi%1.278
i) 22008 FHEAR B (ZEELF ¢
4,537,000 AR (BR1ABIW) 2 =F
SLFHRHKRS) -

R_ZEENFRA-TREABRTZRE
ﬂﬁj(Ai fEHEE—_TTN\F+=
=+ —BUIEFEHRRAREREFK2.9
1IJJ 4 H£4911,888,0007T A R ¥ - BF
i‘%#&%lﬁﬁﬂ%lﬁtﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬁ °

2008 2007
—EENF ZETEF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTR AREFTT
Interim dividend paid of HK1.2 cents ~ BJ&A B S &A% L3 %
(2007: HK1.0 cents) 128 MW=L :
per ordinary share 1.0741l) 4,930 4,537
Proposed final dividend of HK2.9 B AR EARR SRR B Ak
cents (2007: HK3.5 cents) 298 M(ZEEF ¢
per ordinary share 3.57%841) 11,888 14,760
16,818 19,297
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AR E

32.

B MR T

Cash generated from operations 32. REXBEEZRSE
2008 2007
—EENF —TTHE
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®ET T AREFTT
Profit for the year F R F 114,456 130,534
Adjustments for: BTV EIEARE
— Income tax expense (Note 27) — TSR (f45E27) 19,513 7,514
— Depreciation (Note 7) —E(HE7) 21,266 11,648
— Amortisation of; —EHATRIR ¢
— Land use rights (Note 6) — T {F A (I 5E6) 110 110
— Intangible assets (Note 8) *ﬁﬁ/EF(WE‘IS) 5,117 2,332
— Deferred income on government — BB BRI A
grants - (19)
— Impairment of intangible assets — B EERE(HES)
(Note 8) 5,412 1,664
— (Gain)/loss on disposal of property, —HEYE  BMEAREZ
plant and equipment (see below) (Wzk)/ EBE(RTX) (7) 334
— Gain on disposal of —HENHEESmEE KR
available-for-sale financial assets - (140)
— Employee share option costs (Note 25) —1& 8 B AER A (Fff5£25) 913 1,920
— Realised (gain) and unrealised loss —PTE SR T A2 #08as (6,956) 1,430
on derivative financial instruments K AREIREE (Hi5£23)
(Note 23)
- Net exchange gains on derivative —TESHMITAY
financial instruments (Note 23) PE 5 Wz F 28 (M9 5E23) (1,046) (2,181)
— Interest income (Note 26) — B U A (FI7E26) (3.175) (3,469)
— Interest expense on bank borrowings —R{TEENMBFERZ
and government loans (Note 26) ﬂ S (MizE26) 18,815 6,355
Changes in working capital: EEESHE
— Inventories fT =1 (30,649) (6,557)
— Trade receivables — R Z RN (26,353) (50,749)
— Prepayments and other receivables — FE{5 Rk I8 & H A e W 0E (35,277) (20,397)
— Pledged bank deposits — B IEFIRITFER (5,206) 15,468
— Trade payables and bills payable — AR ZIRALIENEE 14,874 (36,918)
— Accruals and other payables *EEﬁ'%ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂﬂEH?ﬁE (2,844) 6,473
— Amount due to a related company —JE R A R RIE - (3,880)
Cash generated from operations BEEBEF RS 88,963 61,472
In the cash flow statement, proceeds from disposal of property, RIEERERX  LEYE  MENZE
plant and equipment comprise: FTEZEAENTEE :
2008 2007
—EEN\E —BRLF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®ET T AREFTT
Net book amount (Note 7) REFEEE7) 68 336
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, HEME - BEMLEZ
plant and equipment Wz, (EE) 7 (334)
Proceeds from disposal of property, LEME - WE R&ETSHKIE
plant and equipment 75 2
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33. Commitments 33. &iE
(a) Capital commitments (a) BEREE
2008 2007
—EEN\F —EEEF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTR AREFT
Authorised and contracted BB RET VB REE
but not provided for
— Construction-in-progress —EREIRURYE -
and property, plant B E ]
and equipment 18,747 9,861
— Product development projects — & A BAZE A2l 16,280 6,450
— Land use rights — T b A 3,244 3,244
38,271 19,555
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) REHIEE
The Group leases certain premises under non-cancellable REERBEZMH A BEKEETH
operating lease agreements in respect of property, plant HpEAESTYE - ZSHY
and equipment. The lease have varying terms, escalation ZIER - e ARG B A RE
clauses and renewal rights. The lease expenditure expensed ME— o FARKRKRZH A
in the income statement during the year is disclosed in ERTEMN 24 E -
Note 24.
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non- AEERBETATREEEHO 2
cancellable operating leases are as follows: RRFIERSBREAT -
2008 2007
—EEN\F —ETEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AREFTT
Not later than 1 year B —F 2,314 2,809
Later than 1 year and not BB —FETBBRSE
later than 5 years 1,033 3,118
Later than 5 years il hF 1,333 -
4,680 5,927
34. Contingent Liabilities 34. ZR%EFE
As at 31 December 2008, the Group had no significant contingent RZZFEZENF+ZA=+—8 " ~5H
liabilities. HEEMERZHIABE -
As at 31 December 2008, the Company has corporate guarantee RZBZENF+ZA=+—H &R
in respect of banking facilities granted to subsidiaries amounting HETHEA 759,891,000/\E¢?§(_7
to RMB59,891,000 (2007: RMB50,000,000). T+ : 50,000,000 AR ) BV IRTTREL

BREEHARER -
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AR E

35.

B MR T

Related party transactions

The Company is 42.0% owned by Marietta Limited (incorporated
in British Virgin Islands) which is owned by Mr. Yang Yirong. The
remaining 58.0% of the shares are widely held.

The following transactions were carried out with related parties:

(a)

(b)

Key management compensation

35.

BREALRS

KRAF42.0%Em A — HGRE T AR
EZRBREIZBESEMALIZ AR —
Marietta Limited# A& ° £ T58.0% & fH

HMALHE -

TIREBREALTETZIRS

(a) ZEEEBAEME

2008 2007
—EENE —EELF
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR®ET T AREETIT
Salaries and other short-term e hHMC RS R

employee benefits 6,051 6,507
Share-based payments VARRAD At By S 15 496 1,001
6,547 7,508

Details of the amounts due to directors were: (b) EFESHEHBOT:
2008 2007
—EENF —TELF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARET T
Mr. Yang Yirong R E 1,005 1,167
Ms. Lu Jiahua BERELZT - 300
1,005 1,467

Balances with directors were unsecured and non-interest
bearing, and are repayable within one year.

No advances were made to Mr. Yang Yirong or Ms. Lu
Jiahua durng the year ended 31 December 2008 and 31
December 2007.

ESZRBRBEARARERA

R—FREE -

HE-_ZZN\F+=-_A=+—H
rZEZE+F+_A=+—HIL

FE  ASKEWERGRABLE

RERELLIANFA -
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Financial Summary

VKT E [Ea5]
E?f 17 g, 22
Results ¥EE
Year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=+—-HLEE
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
—ETPNLE —ETRF “EERE “ETF —EENE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETF T ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT ARETR
Turnover SHE 276,491 384,417 532,975 612,159 739,973
Operating profit R A 72,570 82,869 105,592 140,119 140,745
Finance costs BhE AN (5,987) (4,896) (1,175) (2,071) (6,776)
Profit before income tax B P15 8% A i A1) 66,583 77,973 104,417 138,048 133,969
Income tax expense FEHi (5,230) (6,923) (8,982) (7,514) (19,513)
Profit for the year E RN F 61,353 71,050 95,435 130,534 114,456
Dividends Prds, 9,650 9,605 14,226 19,297 16,818
Attributable to: fE(h :
Equity holders of ARAERFFRA
the Company 61,354 71,120 95,440 130,465 114,237
Minority interest DHRR R (1) (70) (5) 69 219
61,353 71,050 95,435 130,534 114,456
Financial Positions BT AS AR R
As at 31 December
BEt-A=+—HLEE
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
—ETPULE —EERF “EERE “ETLF —EE)N\fF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARET T ARET T ARET T
Non-current assets ERBEE 141,773 212,204 254,524 386,327 444,040
Current assets MENEE 344,070 436,965 540,371 564,742 773,620
Total assets BERE 485,843 649,169 794,895 951,069 1,217,660
Shareholder’ equity P 320,790 445,014 533,060 663,807 748,972
Non-current liabilities ERBALE 5,134 5,020 11,698 58,121 242,970
Current liabilities MEAE 159,919 199,135 250,137 229,141 225,718
Total liabilities BfE8E 165,053 204,155 261,835 287,262 468,688
Total liabilities and equity masrER 485,843 649,169 794,895 951,069 1,217,660
Net current assets MEEEFE 184,151 237,830 290,234 335,601 547,902
Total assets less BB,
current liabilities MEAE 325,924 450,034 544,758 721,928 991,942
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